
Meeting papers

Pension Committee

Thursday 2 March 2023 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Pension Committee

Thursday 2 March 2023 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite, Shire Hall, GloucesterCabinet Suite - 
Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES Andrea Griffiths

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

Andrea Griffiths

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

To answer any written questions about matters that are within the powers 
and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 23rd February 2023.

Andrea Griffiths

4  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on 23rd February 2023.

Andrea Griffiths

5  PENSION COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on the 8th 
December 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

6  PENSION BOARD MINUTES (Pages 7 - 10)

The committee is asked to note the Pension Board minutes of the meeting 
held on the 18th January 2023.

Andrea Griffiths

7  GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 
1 (Pages 11 - 116)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

8  RISK REGISTER (Pages 117 - 128)

That the Committee notes the Risk Register and the current elevated 
risks and the removal of Operational - Risk 1.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

9  BUSINESS PLAN 2023/24 (Pages 129 - 154)

The Committee is asked to approve the Business Plan for 2023/24 and 
note the current outturn position of the 2022/23 business plan.

Matthew 
Trebilcock



10  2022 VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT 
(Pages 155 - 250)

The Committee is asked to accept the report on the actuarial valuation of 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund at 31 March 2022.

Matthew 
Trebilcock

11  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
agenda items, because it is likely that if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public.

Cllr Lynden 
Stowe

12  EXEMPT PENSION COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 251 - 260)

To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the meetings held 
on the 8th December 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

13  EXEMPT PENSION BOARD MINUTES (Pages 261 - 266)

The committee is asked to note the Pension Board exempt minutes of the 
meeting held on the 18th January 2023

Andrea Griffiths

14  GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 
2 (Pages 267 - 286)

The Committee is asked to note the report and advise on the preferred 
option.  

Matthew 
Trebilcock

Membership –  Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, 
Cllr Wendy Thomas, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr David Brown

Co-Opted Member - Julia Atkinson, Peter Clark and Cllr David Gray

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob 
Ayliffe 01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of 
the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
:01452 324206/e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk




This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Thursday 8 December 
2022 commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-
Charrington
Cllr Wendy Thomas

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr David Brown
Cllr David Gray

Apologies: Julia Atkinson and Peter Clark

In Attendance: Matthew Trebilcock (Head of Pensions), John Arthur (Independent 
Advisor), Paul Blacker (Director of Finance), Dave Vickers (CIO 
Brunel) and Andrea Griffiths (Democratic Services)

89. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

No declarations of interest were made.  

90. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

No public questions were received.

91. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No member questions were received.

92. PENSION COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the minutes of the meeting held on the 23rd 
September 2022.  

93. DRAFT MINUTES OF THE PENSION BOARD 

Resolved 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

That Committee noted the draft Pension Board minutes of the meeting held 
on the 20th October 2022.

94. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 1 

The Head of Pensions presented the report which summarised the Fund’s funding 
position, market value, asset allocation, investment performance for the quarter 
ending 30 September 2022.

Members noted that by the end of the quarter to 30 September 2022, the Fund’s 
total market value had decreased by £36.7m to £2,887.5m and over the quarter, 
total Fund assets produced a negative return of -1.3%, compared to a target of -
2.0%, underperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.7%. It was reported that 
performance over the 3 years to 30 September 2022 was 3.6% annualised which 
was on benchmark.  The fund was still regarded to be in a healthy position.  

In term of the Government consultation on Governance and Reporting of climate 
risks, which followed the Taskforce for Climate-related Financial Disclosures 
(TCFD) framework, which would require administering authorities to consider and 
report against the four key areas of governance, strategy, risk management and 
targets. Members were referred to the consultation response and it was explained 
that further guidance would be issued from Government in due course.  It was 
noted that a training workshop had taken place and the focus was on the 
importance of Responsible Investment (RI) and the outcomes of the workshop 
would help in defining the investment and RI beliefs of the Committee.  

The Head of Pensions informed Committee that there was some improvement in 
the Administration Key Performance Indicator's (KPI's) and the team were actively 
working to resolved the issues.  It was noted that as part of the governance review 
officers were commencing the review of the administration strategy to establish 
what were the relevant indicators that should be reported. Further progress will be 
brought back to Committee at future meetings.  

The Head of Pensions explained that newly appointed Pension Administration 
Manager would commence in March 2023.  It was noted that the recruitment 
process was ongoing in terms of the remaining Pension Officer posts but there had 
been an increase in the level of interest.  Nigel Gabb, Pension Investment and 
Accounting Manager has also started his new role on the 14th November.  The 
Committee were informed that recruiting across the entire LGPS sector remained a 
challenge as the volume of membership increased as did the complexities of 
peoples circumstances.  Hymans were also assisting in the training plan for new 
recruits as well as support staff, in order to address the long term issues.  

Member were advised that the LGPS National Knowledge assessment for 2022 had 
now closed at that the outcome of the assessment would be brought back to a 
future meeting.  

The Pension Fund Audit had concluded and members were advised that 
unqualified opinion was expected to be given in January 2023 by Grant Thornton.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The Head of Pensions wished to thank the Pension Team for all their efforts and 
hard work during the course the audit process.  The Pension Fund Annual Report, 
including the draft accounts, was published on or before the 1st December 2022. , 

During the discussion, members reiterated their request for the Funds performance 
reporting to include the traditional spreadsheet on investments.  The Committee 
noted that the actuary and officers had communicated with all employers in the fund 
and the scheme advisory board released regular news bulletins.  

The Pension Dashboard would allow the service greater opportunity to engage with 
members of the fund and would be supported within the business plan.  In response 
to a question, the committee were informed that officers were working closely with 
AON to review the administration service delivery, that may include a member self-
service platform as it was expected this would provide greater efficiencies in 
administration in the longer term, an update report would be provided to the March 
meeting. 

The Committee wondered if the other Funds who were paying AON for a review 
had a bespoke solution or was it a once size fits all approach, that perhaps the 
Funds could share in order to reduce costs.  The Head of Pensions advised that he 
had communicated with other Funds and it appeared they were all at different 
points and there were fundamental differences.  He reassured the Committee that 
he had explored the option of a collaboration of Funds in order to drive efficiencies, 
however at this moment in time, it was not a feasible option.  The Fund were 
receiving a bespoke learning process from AON.  The Chairman asked if it was 
possible to have a Forward Plan to work with Brunel to see if future cooperation 
was possible.  

Members referred to page 121 of the Audit Findings Report and questioned the 
term 'multiple errors'. The Pension Investment and Accounting Manager explained 
that the majority were disclosure errors and this did not affect the accounts, it meant 
that some modification was required to the categories and these processes were 
being improved.   

The Committee referred to the External Auditor's report and noted the control 
issues relating to SAP.  The Director of Finance explained that the new SAP system 
would be introduced in December 2023 and would mitigate the concerns raised.  
The Committee recognised this was slightly out of the Pension Fund's remit as it 
relied on the Council's infrastructure.  The Audit & Governance Committee were 
also aware of the issues and would continue to monitor the areas.  

The Audit fees were agreed subject to the PSAA and the final fees would be 
present to the Audit & Governance Committee at its January meeting.  It was noted 
that the inclusion of the previous year's fees had been requested for transparency.  
Members were advised that Grant Thornton had been re-appointed as the 
Authority's Auditor but the fees could be significantly higher.  

Resolved 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

That the Committee noted the funding and investment position and 
governance activities as at 30 September 2022.   

That the Committee acknowledged the Audit Findings Report provided by 
Grant Thornton

That the Committee noted the Annual Report for 2021/22, which had been 
published on or before the 1st December 2022.  
 

95. RISK REGISTER 

The Head of Pensions explained that in accordance with the Risk Management 
policy agreed by Committee on 3 December 2021, progress and activity in 
managing risks would be monitored and recorded on a risk register and key 
information would be provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee and 
the Pension Board, as part of the regular update reports on governance, 
investments and funding, and administration and communications.  

The Committee were advised that there were no major changes since the previous 
review and a number of risks remained elevated at this time.  

During the discussion, it was noted that the Corporate Risk Register was being 
revised to make it more clear and concise.  The Head of Pensions added the 
Pension Fund did not follow the Corporate Risk Register but he would look at it to 
see if any elements could be utilised.  
 

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the risk register and the current elevated risks and 
the new risks as outlined in the report.  

96. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

97. EXEMPT MINUTES 

Resolved 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

That the Committee approved the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 23rd 
September 2022.  

98. DRAFT EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PENSION BOARD 

Resolved 

That Committee noted the draft Pension Board exempt minutes of the 
meeting held on the 20th October 2022.

99. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 2 

The Head of Pensions presented the report and explained that the report was 
designed to be read in conjunction with the Part 1 report, which provided more 
detailed analysis and commentary on the Fund’s future activities, participating 
employer activities and a summary of the operational aspects of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership, for the quarter ending 30 September 2022.

 Resolved 

That the Committee noted the detailed performance reports for the quarter 
ending 30 September 2022 and the employer, Brunel and future investment 
activities of the Fund.

That the Committee supported the proposed revisions to Brunel’s Climate 
Change Policy 

That the Committee requested officers and the Independent Advisor continue 
to monitor the position and report any concerns periodically.  

100. INVESTMENT ADVISORS QUARTERLY REPORT AND STRATEGY ASSET 
ALLOCATION 

The Independent Advisor presented the report in detail and advised members 
of the Fund Asset Allocation and investment performance for the quarter ending 30 
September 2022.   

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the revised Investment Strategy Statement.

That the Committee noted the quarterly performance report and the draft 
portfolio specification for the asset allocation. 

101. PRESENTATION AND INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

The Committee received a detailed presentation from Dave Vickers, Chief 
Investment Officer, Brunel Pension Partnership and discussed the Performance 
Review in detail.  

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.52 pm

Page 6



- 1 -

PENSION BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Board held on Wednesday 18 January 2023 
commencing at 10.00 am at the Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

John Abbott
Annette Benson
Sean Collins

Michael Hunt
Jon Topping

Apologies: Cllr Stephen Hirst and Colin Williams

1. PENSION BOARD MINUTES 

Resolved

The Board approved the minutes of the meeting held on the 20th October 
2022.

2. PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT MINUTES 

Resolved 

The Board noted the draft Pension Committee minutes of the meeting held on 
the 8th December 2022.

3. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 1 

The Head of Pensions presented the report which summarised the Fund’s funding 
position, market value, asset allocation, investment performance for the quarter 
ending 30 September 2022.

The Board noted that by the end of the quarter to 30 September 2022, the Fund’s 
total market value had decreased by £36.7m to £2,887.5m and over the quarter, 
total Fund assets produced a negative return of -1.3%, compared to a target of -
2.0%, underperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.7%. It was reported that 
performance over the 3 years to 30 September 2022 was 3.6% annualised which 
was on benchmark.  The fund was still regarded to be in a healthy position.  

In term of the Government consultation on Governance and Reporting of climate 
risks, which followed the Taskforce for Climate-related Financial Disclosures 
(TCFD) framework, which would require administering authorities to consider and 
report against the four key areas of governance, strategy, risk management and 
targets. The Board were referred to the consultation response and it was explained 
that further guidance would be issued from Government in due course.  It was 
noted that a training workshop had taken place and the focus was on the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

importance of Responsible Investment (RI) and the outcomes of the workshop 
would help in defining the investment and RI beliefs of the Committee.  The Board 
were advised that the output activities would be incorporated into the future 
Business Plan of the Fund, which would be subject to the Committee's approval.  

The Head of Pensions informed the Board there was some improvement in the 
Administration Key Performance Indicator's (KPI's) and the team were actively 
working to resolved the issues.  It was noted that as part of the governance review 
officers were commencing the review of the administration strategy to establish 
what were the relevant indicators that should be reported. 

The Board were informed that the Pension Team had now fully implemented agile 
working, which would see greater flexibility across the team and the working 
behaviours.  It was reiterated that the main objective of the Fund was to pay the 
right benefits to the right person at the right time.  

During the discussion, it was asked if there GDPR risks associated with staff agile 
working.  The Head of Pension explained that all paper based activities were 
undertaken in the office and staff now had the flexibility to work as required within 
the office.

The Head of Pensions explained that newly appointed Pension Administration 
Manager would commence in March 2023.  It was noted that the recruitment 
process was ongoing in terms of the remaining Pension Officer posts but there had 
been an increase in the level of interest.  Nigel Gabb, Pension Investment and 
Accounting Manager was present at the Board meeting and had started his new 
role on the 14th November.  The Board were informed that recruiting across the 
entire LGPS sector remained a challenge as the volume of membership increased 
as did the complexities of peoples circumstances.  Hymans were also assisting in 
the training plan for new recruits as well as supporting staff in technical matters, in 
order to address the long term issues.  

Member were advised that the LGPS National Knowledge assessment for 2022 had 
now closed at that the outcome of the assessment would be brought back to a 
future meeting.  In response to a question, the Board were advised that 5 
Committee & 5 Board Members had completed the assessment.  The Board raised 
concerns as only 50% of the committee had undertaken the assessment.   

The Board questioned the KPI figure in relation to retirement/deaths grants, the 
Head of Pensions explained that the performance was due to the redeployment of 
limited resources as the issue primarily was with the case processing, as it was 
currently a paper based activity which needed to become more agile in line with 
working practices.  It was accepted that KPI's were not always reflective of the 
team's overall activity as it measures only certain cases that involve the payment of 
a death grant or retirement lump sum.  

Members wished to know if complaints were monitored, it was explained that no 
formal complaints had been received through the IDPR received and in terms of 
corporate complaints, there were potentially more compliments received than 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

complaints.  The Head of Pensions intended to try and monitor and capture these 
measures going forward.  The Board requested that the report should contain more 
context around complaints.  

The Pension Fund Audit had concluded and members were advised that an 
unqualified opinion was expected to be given in January 2023 by Grant Thornton.  
The Board noted the Pension Fund Annual Report, including the draft accounts, 
was published on or before the 1st December 2022.  

The Board discussed the Statement of Accounts and the Pension Investment and 
Accounting Manager explained that the issue with journals related to the narrative 
field, and this did not affect the accounts, it meant that some modification was 
required to the categories and these processes were being improved.   These 
issues would be overcome when the new SAP system had been implemented.  
 
Resolved 

That the Board noted the position of the Fund as at 30 September 2022 and 
the governance undertaken and subsequent recommendations agreed by the 
Pension Committee at their meeting on the 8th December 2022.     
 

4. RISK REGISTER 

The Head of Pensions explained that in accordance with the Risk Management 
policy agreed by Committee on 3 December 2021, progress and activity in 
managing risks would be monitored and recorded on a risk register and key 
information would be provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee and 
the Pension Board, as part of the regular update reports on governance, 
investments and funding, and administration and communications.  

The Board were advised that there were no major changes since the previous 
review and a number of risks remained elevated at this time.  

Resolved 

That the Board noted the risk register and the current elevated risks as 
outlined in the report.  

5. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS & PUBLIC 

Resolved 

That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

6. PENSION BOARD EXEMPT MINUTES 

Resolved

The Board approved the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 20th 
October 2022.

7. PENSION COMMITTEE DRAFT EXEMPT MINUTES 

Resolved 

The Board noted the draft Pension Committee exempt minutes of the meeting 
held on the 8th December 2022.

8. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 2 

The Head of Pensions presented the report and explained that the report was 
designed to be read in conjunction with the Part 1 report, which provided more 
detailed analysis and commentary on the Fund’s future activities, participating 
employer activities and a summary of the operational aspects of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership, for the quarter ending 30 September 2022.

 Resolved 

That the Board noted the position of the Fund as at 30 September 2022 and 
the governance undertaken and subsequent recommendations agreed by the 
Pension Committee at their meeting on the 8th December 2022.  

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

The Board were advised that Jon Topping would be retiring in March 2023 and 
would be resigning from the Board.  The Chair wished to thank Jon for his service 
and efforts to the Pension Board  and wished him well for his retirement.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.34 am

Page 10



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

Pension Committee 
2 March 2023 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund update – Part 1 
Quarter ending 31 December 2022 

 
Report of the Head of Pensions 

 

Introduction  
 
This report provides information in relation to the following areas of Fund for the quarter 
ending 31 December 2022: 
 

• Funding 

• Investment 

• Governance and Operations 
  

This report fulfils the requirements under the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016. 

 

Funding 
 
The below information is to provide an update on the funding position at 31 December 
2022.  
 

 
*likelihood of the Fund’s portfolio achieving these returns over the next 20 years 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

 
 
The funding position is being reported with the following notes: 
 
o The assumptions underlying this funding assessment have been set based on the 

proposed Funding Strategy Statement, updated for market conditions as at 31 
December 2022.  

 
o Caution should be exercised when relying on the above information to inform real world 

decision making for the following reasons: 
 

o Future inflation expectations are uncertain, and the effect of Government and 
Bank of England policy decisions may lead to significant changes in short term 
inflation expectations between now and the date of any future cessation 
calculation.  
 

o The value of the liabilities as at 31 December 2022 recognise the expected 2023 
Pension Increase Order of 10.1% that is likely to apply in 2023.  

 
o This also represents a whole of fund position however the funding positions of 

individual employers will vary. 
 

 

Investment 
 

• Performance 
 
Over the quarter to 31 December 2022, the Fund’s total market value increased by £60.4m, 
to £2,947.9m.  
 
Over the quarter, total Fund assets produced a positive return of 2.1%, compared to a 
target of 2.0%, outperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.1%. 
 
Performance over the 3 years to 31 December 2022 was 3.7% annualised which is 0.1% 
behind benchmark.  
 
The strategic benchmark of the Fund has been recalculated with effect from this quarter to 
ensure it produces a benchmarking outcome more closely aligned to the agreed strategy. 
 
The summary of investment performance is attached as appendix 1 to this report. Attached 
at appendix 3 is the more comprehensive performance report produced by Brunel, which 
contains detailed information and commentary on the individual portfolios as well as 
stewardship and climate metrics. 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

 
 

• Investment Activities and Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) 
 
During the Quarter the following investment activity took place: 

• During the quarter there has been a number of calls into the alternative asset classes of: 
 

o Infrastructure  - c£14.9m 
o Private Equity  - c£2.6m 
o Private Debt  - c£14.8m 

Total   - c£32.3m 
 

• £25m was redeemed from the DRF in the quarter to fund the above calls. 
 

The current SAA is as follows: 
 

Asset Class 
 

Target 
Allocation 

% 

Range 
+/- % 

Allocation as 
at 31 

December 
2022 

% 

Variation from 
Target 

% 

Equities 53.0 3.0 57.1 +4.1 

Fixed Interest 17.0 2.0 17.2 +0.2 

Alternatives* 30.0 2.0 25.7 -4.3 

 
Detailed SAA analysis for each portfolio is attached as Appendix 2 to this report. 
 

The above target allocations are now based on the SAA agreed by Committee in December 
2022. Further information in respect of addressing the variations from the target allocations 
is contained in the Fund Update - Part II report, later on the agenda.  
 
 

• Market Commentary 
 
The final quarter of 2022 brought some relief to investors as equities partially recovered the 
year’s losses and global bonds generally improved on a shift in central bank messaging and 
signs that inflation may have peaked. The quarter was not without volatility as central banks 
indicated a slowing in the pace of rate hikes but also flagged rates may peak at a, higher than 
previously expected, level.  
 
Positive inflation surprises in the US bolstered sentiment, while lower energy prices in Europe, 
a weaker dollar, and China’s reversal of COVID restrictions also provided tailwinds. Although 
stock markets retreated in December, healthy gains in October and November underpinned 
a total return for the MSCI AC World Index of 2.0% in GBP. For the full year, the index returned 
-7.6% in GBP. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index rose 1.9% in GBP over the quarter. 
 
The UK stock market, as measured by the FTSE All Share (excl Investment Trusts) Index, 
returned 9.2% in Q4 to take the full-year return into positive territory (+1.6%). Because the 

Page 13



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

index is heavily weighted in strong-performing global consumer staples and commodity 
related stocks that also benefited from a weaker sterling, the performance does not 
particularly reflect the UK economy’s recent challenges. 
 
European markets had a robust end to 2022 despite the continuing war in Ukraine, soft 
economic data, and hawkish signals from the ECB. An overall mild start to winter eased 
concerns about energy supplies and costs, while the reopening of China’s economy and 
slowing pace of US rate hikes also aided sentiment. 
 
The US equity index gained 7.5% in local terms in Q4, the only quarter of positive returns in a 
year when it fell -18.1%. Sentiment was buoyed by inflation slowing to 7.1%, its lowest level 
in a year, and by the Fed slowing the pace of rate hikes. 
 
Japan’s stock market rose a modest 0.7% in local terms in Q4 as the Japanese yen rallied 
versus the weakening US dollar. The Bank of Japan’s move to increase the yield cap in its yield 
curve control policy to 0.50% from 0.25% also boosted the currency, which is a headwind for 
the export-oriented nature of many Japanese stocks. In the wider region, the ex Japan Index 
returned 7.4% in GBP terms. 
 
UK Gilts rebounded as previously announced government spending plans were reversed and 
as hopes mounted for a more dovish Bank of England approach in 2023. The iBoxx Sterling 
Non-Gilts returned 5.7% over the quarter. 
 
The global economy limped to the end of 2022. The purchasing managers’ indices (PMI) of 
leading countries were soft, such that the latest readings are indicative of contracting activity 
as businesses feel the impact of fiscal and monetary tightening. The International Monetary 
Fund reduced its 2023 global GDP growth forecast to 2.7%, which would be the lowest 
outcome since 2001; it projects Europe, in particular, as struggling in the coming year on the 
effects of rate hikes, inflation and ongoing war in Ukraine. Among commodities, oil prices 
steadied after steep losses in Q3 on economic concerns, while precious and industrial metals 
attracted support in the quarter.  
 
On cash markets the SONIA returned 0.7% in the three months. 
 
The AREF/IPD UK All Property Fund Index returned -13.4% over the quarter and -10.0% for 
the full year. 
 

• Independent Advisors Fund report and analysis 
 
John Arthur has prepared a report, attached as appendix 4, in his role as independent advisor 
to the Fund. 
 
The report provides further detailed analysis on the overall performance of the Fund, the 
underlying managers and investment mandates held by the Fund and the Long-term Capital 
Market Assumptions used in establishing the SAA. 
 
 

Page 14



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

  

Governance & Operations 
 

 

• Consultations update 
 
As previously advised, on 1 September, the UK Government launched their consultation on 
Governance and Reporting of climate risks. The consultation closed on 24 November 2022, 
 
A formal response was submitted by the Fund. The relevant regulations are expected to be in 
force by April 2023 with our first report due by December 2024 covering the 2023/24 scheme 
year, but at the time of preparing this report, we have not seen any further response or 
progress from Government on this matter.  
 
We are still waiting for the consultations/regulations on McCloud, pooling guidance, exit 
payments (£95k cap), but The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) is consulting on changes to the LGPS Regulations 2013 to give effect to the change 
in the annual revaluation date from 1 April to 6 April. This consultation is seeking views on 
changing the Local Government Pension Scheme for England and Wales (LGPS) annual 
revaluation date from 1 April to 6 April. This is to mitigate against the impact of high inflation 
on LGPS revaluation this year and consequent tax liabilities arising as a result. These tax 
liabilities would arise because the timing of LGPS revaluation on 1 April is not aligned with 
HMRC’s process for assessing the annual allowance tax charge. The proposed change would 
bring it into alignment. DHLUC are also seeking views on draft regulations to effect this 
change. 
 
The consultation was launched on 10 February 2023 and will lasted for 2 weeks to 24 February 
2023. A verbal update will be provided at the meeting. 

 
 
• Fund Administration 

 
The current reportable performance indicators, which are attached as appendix 5 to this 
report have continued to improve in the majority of the key deliverable areas, which reflects 
that the activity of year end, annual benefit statement and the majority of the triennial 
valuation processes has been completed. 
 
The volume of casework continues in increase. We have had to continue to embed new 
Transfer Out requirements, which require more due diligence checks to be undertaken by the 
team before payment can be made.  
 
The focus remains for the team to provide an equal service to all members of the Fund, which 
is demonstrated by the average days taken in all cases v the average day taken in cases that 
exceed the target, and I can advise that all payments are being made within statutory 
timeframes in accordance with the regulations. 
 
 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-england-and-wales-governance-and-reporting-of-climate-change-risks/local-government-pension-scheme-england-and-wales-governance-and-reporting-of-climate-change-risks
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/annual-revaluation-date-change-in-the-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps/annual-revaluation-date-change-in-the-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps


 

Agenda Item 7 

 

 
As reported to Committee at its previous meeting, Aon have been commissioned to 
undertake a review, as part of the governance workplan, in relation to the administration 
strategy. 
 
The scope of the work will cover the following areas: 

• Processes 

• Performance standards 

• KPIs 

• Resources and structure 
 
Current progress on this against the indicative timetable is shown below: 
 

Funds to provide information and data 
required by the review 

December 2022 ✓ 

Project initiation meetings / discussions December 2022 / January 
2023 

✓ 

Virtual/physical meetings with team 
officers/senior managers 

December 2022 / January 
2023 

✓ - 
completed 

in 
February 

2023 

Aon analyse information and start drafting 
report on findings 

February 2023 Expected 
March 
2023 

Onboarding of new Pensions Administration 
Manager (PAM) 

March 2023 ✓ 

Progress update provided to Pensions 
Committee 

March 2023 Verbal 

Discuss report / findings with Fund’s 
management (including new PAM) 

March/April 2023 On 
schedule 

Aon provide final report May 2023 On 
schedule 

Report provided to Pensions Committee June 2023 On 
schedule 

 
The outcome is still scheduled to be brought to Committee at the June 2023 meeting.  
 

• Staffing update 
 
Andy Cunningham has commenced in the role of Pensions Administration Manager with 
effect from 1 March 2023. 
 
The remaining 3 x Pension Officer posts have now successfully been recruited to and the posts 
will be taken up during March 2023.  
 
Overall, we now have 50% of the administration team who are new in their posts (this 

Page 16



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

includes existing team members successful in obtaining new roles).  
 
We continue to manage the onboarding and upskilling of the whole team, using various 
resources to ensure a balance between service delivery and long term improvements such as:  
 

1. Hymans have been retained to provide a help desk facility for senior members of the 
team to seek technical guidance on complex case work, thereby alleviating the 
continual burden on internal knowledgeable persons and creating more resilience. 

2. Hymans have commenced delivery of a programme of high-level administrator 
training sessions to new and existing team member, via multiple streams (such as in 
person and online) on the key elements that go into administering the scheme.  

 
Stage 2 of the recruitment plan will commence later in 2023. The remaining vacant posts are: 

o Lead Employer Liaison Officer 
o Pensions Technical Officer 
o Finance Officer 

 
 

• Business Plan 2022/23 
 

The following is a summary, together with commentary of the amber key tasks from the 

work plan agreed as part of the business plan for 2022/23.  

A detailed report against all items is attached as Appendix 6 to this report 

Governance 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Annual review against The 

Pensions Regulators Code of 

Practise 

✓ - on the 

2022/23 

business 

plan 

   x – Awaiting 

the single 

code of 

practise 

Approval of audited Fund 

accounts 

  ✓ - draft 

accounts 

provided. 

Audit 

ongoing 

✓ - Draft 

audit 

opinion 

provided.   

x – Awaiting 

formal audit 

opinion 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

 

 

Core projects tracking from 2022/23 business plan 

Below is a brief tracking of the core projects identified in the 2022/23 business case. Further updates 

are provided in Appendix 6 to this report 

1) 2022 Actuarial valuation 

and associated tasks 

On track and operating to schedule  

2) Review pensions 

administration system 

contract  

On schedule – project planning in phase  

3) Pensions Dashboard 

(including a Data 

Improvement Strategy) 

Commenced and on track with initial data check  

4) McCloud  Awaiting guidance  

 

 

• Governance Review 
 

A detailed report on the tasks from the work plan agreed by Committee in September 2021 

is attached as Appendix 7 to this report. 

The following activities were scheduled to commence in the previous quarter, but have 

been held due to dependency/impact on other projects. All other activities are operating to 

schedule 

Action  Reason  
 

Timescale
s  

 

Current 
action/comment 

Develop a Fund Cyber Strategy  Expected to be included in 
TPR New Code.   

We understand that the 
Fund currently relies on 
the Council's approach to 
Cyber Security.  

Q4 2022 – 
Q1 2023  

Strategy will be developed in 
conjunction with the 
procurement exercise 
surrounding the Pensions 
Administration Software. 

Carrying out a review of Fund's 

practices against TPR's New  
Code of Practice    

As part of best practice, we 
would expect the 
Administering Authority to 
carry out a regular review 
of their practices against 
the New Code.  

Awaiting 
code of 
practice from 
TPR  

On hold 

 

 

Page 18



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

 

• LGPS National Knowledge Assessment results 

In accordance with the Funds approved training strategy and training plan we partook in the 

the 2022 National Knowledge Assessment (NKA).  

16 LGPS funds and over 200 members have participated in this National Knowledge 

Assessment of Pension Committee (‘Committee’) and Pension Board (‘Board’) members. 

The findings from this assessment, attached as appendix 8 to this report, provide a 

quantitative report of the current knowledge levels of the individuals responsible for 

running the Fund, aiding the development of more appropriately targeted and tailored 

training plans for both groups. 

This report is also a key document in evidencing our commitment to training – a key 

cornerstone to the good governance of the Fund. 

The assessment consisted of 48 multiple choice questions across 8 key areas 

a) Committee Role and Pension Legislation 

b) Pensions Governance 

c) Pensions Administration 

d) Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards 

e) Procurement and Relationship Management 

f) Investment Performance and Risk Management 

g) Financial Markets and Product Knowledge 

h) Actuarial Methods, Standards and Practices  

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund ranked 5 with a score of 58.54 from a total of 16 funds which 

completed the assessment. The Fund had an overall engagement score of 60.50, with 50% 

of Committee and 71% of Board members completing the assessment.  

The performance of the Board (average overall score of 63 %) was stronger than that of 

the Committee (average overall score of 54 %).  This may reflect the fact that the Boards 

Independent Chair is the Head of Pensions at the Oxfordshire Pension Fund, who also 

completed the assessment. 

The performance for the Committee and Board diverged the most in the Pensions 

Accounting and Audit Standards section, when Board results were 23 % higher than 

the Committee. 

The Committee performed most strongly in the area of Pensions Governance and Financial 

Markets and Product Knowledge. 

The board's areas of strongest Knowledge were Pensions Governance and Procurement and 

Relationship Management. 

Page 19



 

Agenda Item 7 

 

Overall, for both groups, the area with least knowledge was Pensions Accounting and Audit 

Standards. 

Based on the results of this assessment and with individual Committee and Board results, a 

training plan has been developed which has been included in the Fund 2023/24 business 

plan. 

 
 

Recommendations 

1. That the Committee notes in accordance with the regulations, the Fund’s position and 
governance activities as at the 31 December 2022 and requests such clarifications and 
further information from officers as may be required. 
 

2. That the Committee notes the performance of the investments as detailed in appendix 
1. 

 

Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 20



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update ‐ Part 1

Performance vs Benchmark @ 31 December 2022
Market Value 

30.09.22
Market Value 

31.12.22

Asset Class Manager
Inception 
Date

£000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark 

%

Actual 
Performance 

%

Benchmark 
%

Actual 
Performance %

Benchmark 
%

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel Nov‐18 369,875            405,226            9.6 9.2 ‐3.6  1.6 0.5 2.1 4.0 5.1

Emerging Market Equities Brunel Oct‐19 162,094            165,930            2.4 1.9 ‐14.0  ‐9.6  ‐1.6  0.9 ‐0.3  2.0

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel Nov‐19 373,547            383,570            2.7 2.0 ‐13.7  ‐7.4  10.5 8.9 10.6 9.0

Sustainable Equities Brunel Sep‐20 331,605            339,715            2.4 2.0 ‐15.5  ‐7.6  0.0 0.0 4.7 8.6

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel ‐ LGIM Jul‐18 93,297               99,970               7.2 7.2 ‐16.6  ‐16.4  5.0 5.1 6.0 6.1

Passive Developed Eq Paris Aligned  Brunel ‐ LGIM Jan‐22 284,684            290,238            2.0 2.0 ‐5.7  ‐5.7  0.0 0.0 ‐2.8  ‐2.7 

Total Asset Class 1,615,102         1,684,649        

Fixed Interest

Multi‐Asset Credit Brunel Jun‐21 181,857            188,614            3.7 1.7 ‐8.5  5.4 0.0 0.0 ‐4.7  5.0

Sterling Corporate Bonds Brunel Jul‐21 299,365            317,832            6.2 5.7 ‐18.2  ‐17.7  0.0 0.0 ‐12.7  ‐12.6 

Total Asset Class 481,222            506,446           

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel Jul‐20 224,534            201,738            1.0 1.4 ‐2.6  4.4 0.0 0.0 1.7 3.6

UK Property Brunel Apr‐20 243,475            210,395            ‐13.8  ‐13.4  ‐7.5  ‐10.0  0.0 0.0 2.7 1.6

International Property Brunel Apr‐20 54,933               51,509               ‐6.0  9.0 25.0 38.7 0.0 0.0 9.5 16.8

Infrastructure ‐ Cycle 1 Brunel Apr‐18 32,375               34,312               2.9 2.7 17.1 10.5 11.0 5.4 6.3 4.4

Infrastructure ‐ Cycle 2 Brunel Apr‐20 52,961               69,950               7.0 2.7 12.1 10.5 0.0 0.0 5.1 7.2

Infrastructure ‐ Cycle 3 Brunel Apr‐22 ‐                     994                    0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 ‐2.7 

Private Equity ‐ Cycle 1 Brunel Apr‐18 33,132               32,054               ‐4.0  2.0 24.3 ‐7.6  20.3 7.9 24.0 10.1

Private Equity ‐ Cycle 2 Brunel Apr‐20 19,769               20,730               ‐7.0  2.0 10.3 ‐7.6  0.0 0.0 39.4 5.3

Private Equity ‐ Cycle 3 Brunel Apr‐22 ‐                     17‐                      0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 ‐2.0 

Private Debt ‐ Cycle 2 Brunel Apr‐20 46,784               58,325               ‐1.5  1.7 13.6 5.4 0.0 0.0 10.9 5.2

Private Debt ‐ Cycle 3 Brunel Apr‐22 ‐                     2,488                 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 ‐0.9  0.2

Private Debt Golub Capital Partners Jul‐17 38,782               36,370               ‐5.6  1.9 21.5 6.5 12.2 5.7 10.3 5.7

Private Debt Arcmont Asset Management Aug‐17 19,751               20,041               2.2 1.9 0.0 6.5 5.1 5.7 6.1 5.7

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Oct‐17 3,842                 3,333                 ‐13.2  0.0 ‐16.6  0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

In‐house Cash In‐house Cash 10,717               7,512                 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Fund Manager Cash Fund Manager Cash 10,107               7,042                 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total Asset Class 791,162            756,776           

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,887,486      2,947,871      2.1 2.0 ‐8.7 ‐6.9 3.7 3.8 7.0 7.5

3 Years 
Annualised Return

1 Year 
Total Return

3 Months 
Total Return

Since Inception
 Annualised Return

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update ‐ Part 1 .

Fund Asset Allocation vs Strategic Asset Allocation @ 31 December 2022
Market Value 
31.12.22

Target Allocation*  Range
Fund Asset 

Allocation 31.12.22
Variation from 

Target
Variation from 
previous quarter

Asset Class Manager(s) £000's % +/‐ % % %

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel 405,226                    10.0 2.0 13.7 3.7 New target allocation

Emerging Market Equities Brunel 165,930                    6.5 1.5 5.6 ‐0.9  

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel 383,570                    13.5 2.0 13.0 ‐0.5  

Sustainable Equities Brunel 339,715                    13.0 2.0 11.5 ‐1.5  

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel ‐ LGIM 99,970                      0.0 0.0 3.4 3.4 

Passive Developed Eq Paris Aligned  Brunel ‐ LGIM 290,238                    10.0 2.0 9.8 ‐0.2  

Total Asset Class 1,684,649                53.0 3.0 57.1 4.1

Fixed Interest

Multi‐Asset Credit Brunel 188,614                    7.0 1.0 6.4 ‐0.6  New target allocation

Sterling Corporate Bonds Brunel 317,832                    10.0 1.5 10.8 0.8 New target allocation

Total Asset Class 506,446                    17.0 2.0 17.2 0.2

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel 201,738                    0.0 10.0 6.8 6.8 

UK Property Brunel 210,395                    7.5 2.0 7.1 ‐0.4  

International Property Brunel 51,509                      2.5 2.0 1.7 ‐0.8  

Infrastructure Brunel 105,256                    7.0 2.0 3.6 ‐3.4  New target allocation

Private Equity Brunel 52,767                      3.0 2.0 1.8 ‐1.2  

Private Debt Golub/Arcmont/Brunel 117,224                    5.0 2.0 4.0 ‐1.0  

Social/Affordable Housing TBC ‐                             5.0 2.0 ‐ ‐ New target allocation

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP 3,333                        0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 

Cash In‐house Cash/Fund Manager Cash 14,554                      0.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 

Total Asset Class 756,776                    30.0 2.0 25.7 ‐4.3

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,947,871                100.0 0.0 100.0

 Moving further away from target
 Moving closer to target
 Stable against target

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire County Council

Performance Report
Quarter ending 31 December 2022

P
age 25



Contents

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Summary 3

Pension Fund performance 3

Asset summary 4

Overview of assets 5

Strategic asset allocation 6

Performance attribution 7

Responsible investment 9

Risk and return summary 10

Brunel portfolio performance - 3 year 10

Legacy manager performance - 3 year 11

Portfolio overview 12

CIO commentary 15

Portfolios 18

Listed markets 18

Private markets 33

Property 42

Glossary 44

Bookmarks

Summary|3|1

Pension Fund performance|3|2

|0|3

|0|2

|0|3

Asset summary|4|2

|0|3

Overview of assets|5|1

|0|2

|0|3

Strategic asset allocation|6|1

|0|2

|0|3

Performance attribution|7|1

|0|2

|0|3

Responsible investment|9|1

|0|2

|0|3

Risk and return summary|10|1

|0|2

|0|3

Brunel portfolio performance - 3 year|10|2

|0|3

|0|2

|0|3

Legacy manager performance - 3 year|11|2

|0|3

Portfolio overview|12|1

Legacy assets|14|2

|0|3

CIO commentary|17|1

|0|2

|0|3

Portfolios|18|1

Listed markets|18|2

Global High Alpha Equities|18|3

Global Sustainable Equities|20|3

UK Active Equities|22|3

Emerging Markets Equities|24|3

Diversifying Returns Fund|26|3

Multi-Asset Credit|27|3

Sterling Corporate Bonds|28|3

PAB Passive Global Equities|29|3

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)|31|3

Private markets|33|2

Private Equity Cycle 1|33|3

Private Equity Cycle 2|34|3

Private Equity Cycle 3|35|3

Private Debt Cycle 2|36|3

Private Debt Cycle 3|37|3

Infrastructure Cycle 1|38|3

Infrastructure (General) Cycle 2|39|3

Infrastructure (Renewables) Cycle 2|40|3

Infrastructure Cycle 3|41|3

Property|42|2

UK Property|42|3

International Property|43|3

Glossary|44|1

|0|2

|0|3

P
age 26



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

S

Pension Fund performance

Performance (annualised) Quarterly performance

2.1

-5.2

-8.7

3.7 4.2

7.9
7.0

2.0

-5.4
-6.9

3.8
4.7

7.9 7.5

-12.0

-6.0

0.0

6.0

12.0

R
e

tu
rn

 %

3 month Fiscal YTD 1 year 3 years 

(p.a.)*

5 years 

(p.a.)*

10 years 

(p.a.)*

Since 

inception  
(p.a.)*

Total portfolio Total fund benchmark

-10.0

-5.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

To
ta

l f
u

n
d

 %

Q1 2021 Q2 2021 Q3 2021 Q4 2021 Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2022

Fund Benchmark Total portfolio Total fund benchmark

This quarter brought some welcome relief to markets. Equities and bonds both rallied, with the

UK and Europe leading. Meanwhile, the US dollar started to weaken against major currencies.

The main driver was the belief that inflation was starting to cool and benchmark rates would

increase less than previously feared.

The total fund rose by 2.1% over the quarter, outperforming the benchmark by 0.1%. Across the

year, the fund was behind-benchmark by 1.8%.

All of the active equity funds held enjoyed a positive quarter in both actual and relative terms.

Global High Alpha was the leader, beating its index by 0.7% .

Source: State Street Global Services

*per annum

Source: State Street Global Services

Key events

3

P
age 27



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Asset summary

Key:

Equities 57.26%

Fixed Income 17.18%

Private markets 9.57%

Property 8.88%

Other 6.84%

Cash 0.26%

Source: State Street Global Services

Source: State Street Global Services

Data includes legacy assets

Asset allocation breakdown

Transitioned 97.48%

Legacy assets 2.52%

Q4 2022

GBP2,947.9m

Transitioned 97.12%

Legacy assets 2.88%

Q3 2022

GBP2,887.5m

Assets transitioned to Brunel

4

P
age 28



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

BCA

Overview of assets

Detailed asset allocation

Equities 57.26%£1,687.98m

UK Active Equities 13.75%£405.23m

Global High Alpha Equities 13.01%£383.57m

Global Sustainable Equities 11.52%£339.72m

PAB Passive Global Equities 9.85%£290.24m

Emerging Markets Equities 5.63%£165.93m

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 3.39%£99.97m

Legacy Assets 0.11%£3.33m

Fixed income 17.18%£506.45m

Sterling Corporate Bonds 10.78%£317.83m

Multi-Asset Credit 6.40%£188.61m

Private markets (incl. property) 18.46%£544.07m

UK Property 7.14%£210.40m

Private Debt Cycle 2 1.98%£58.32m

International Property 1.75%£51.51m

Infrastructure (General) Cycle 2 1.46%£43.16m

Infrastructure Cycle 1 1.16%£34.31m

Private Equity Cycle 1 1.09%£32.05m

Infrastructure (Renewables) Cycle 2 0.91%£26.79m

Private Equity Cycle 2 0.70%£20.73m

Private Debt Cycle 3 0.08%£2.49m

Infrastructure Cycle 3 0.03%£0.99m

Private Equity Cycle 3 -0.00%-£0.02m

Legacy Assets 2.15%£63.34m

Other 6.84%£201.74m

Diversifying Returns Fund 6.84%£201.74m

Cash not included

5

P
age 29



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public
SAA

-4.0% -2.0% 0.0% 2.0% 4.0%

Cash

International Property

UK Property

Infrastructure Cycle 3

Infrastructure (Renewables) Cycle 2

Infrastructure (General) Cycle 2

Infrastructure Cycle 1

Private Debt Cycle 3

Private Debt Cycle 2

Private Equity Cycle 3

Private Equity Cycle 2

Private Equity Cycle 1

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

PAB Passive Global Equities

Sterling Corporate Bonds

Multi-Asset Credit

Diversifying Returns Fund

Emerging Markets Equities

UK Active Equities

Global Sustainable Equities

Global High Alpha Equities

Yorkshire Fund Managers

Golub

Brunel PM Cash

Bluebay

Strategic asset allocation

6

P
age 30



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Performance attribution
Pension fund performance attribution - to quarter end

PA

End market value

£'000

Actual % allocation

at end of quarter

Strategic asset

allocation (%)
Difference (%) Fund return (%) Contribution to return

Bluebay 20,041 0.7% 2.00% -1.3% 0.0%2.2%

Brunel PM Cash 6,924 0.2% - 0.2% 0.0%1.8%

Golub 36,370 1.2% 2.00% -0.8% -0.1%-5.6%

Yorkshire Fund Managers 3,333 0.1% - 0.1% -0.0%-13.2%

Global High Alpha Equities 383,570 13.0% 13.50% -0.5% 0.4%2.7%

Global Sustainable Equities 339,715 11.5% 13.00% -1.5% 0.3%2.4%

UK Active Equities 405,226 13.7% 10.00% 3.7% 1.2%9.6%

Emerging Markets Equities 165,930 5.6% 6.50% -0.9% 0.1%2.4%

Diversifying Returns Fund 201,738 6.8% 10.00% -3.2% 0.1%1.0%

Multi-Asset Credit 188,614 6.4% 7.00% -0.6% 0.2%3.7%

Sterling Corporate Bonds 317,832 10.8% 10.00% 0.8% 0.6%6.2%

PAB Passive Global Equities 290,238 9.8% 10.00% -0.2% 0.2%2.0%

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 99,971 3.4% - 3.4% 0.2%7.2%

Private Equity Cycle 1 32,054 1.1% 2.00% -0.9% -0.0%-4.0%

Private Equity Cycle 2 20,730 0.7% - 0.7% -0.0%-7.0%

Private Equity Cycle 3 -17 -0.0% - -0.0% -0.0%-

7

P
age 31



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Performance attribution
Pension fund performance attribution - to quarter end

End market value

£'000

Actual % allocation

at end of quarter

Strategic asset

allocation (%)
Difference (%) Fund return (%) Contribution to return

Private Debt Cycle 2 58,325 2.0% - 2.0% -0.0%-1.5%

Private Debt Cycle 3 2,488 0.1% - 0.1% -0.0%-

Infrastructure Cycle 1 34,312 1.2% 1.00% 0.2% 0.0%2.9%

Infrastructure (General) Cycle 2 43,160 1.5% 1.00% 0.5% 0.1%5.1%

Infrastructure (Renewables) Cycle 2 26,791 0.9% 1.00% -0.1% 0.1%10.1%

Infrastructure Cycle 3 994 0.0% 1.00% -1.0% -0.0%-

UK Property 210,395 7.1% 7.50% -0.4% -1.1%-13.8%

International Property 51,509 1.7% 2.50% -0.8% -0.1%-6.0%

Cash 7,512 0.3% - 0.3% -0.0%-0.0%

8

P
age 32



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

-60%

-40%

-20%

0%

2022 Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4

Global High Alpha
Equities

Global Sustainable
Equities

UK Active Equities

Emerging Markets
Equities

PAB Passive Global
Equities

Stewardship and climate metrics

RIS

2022 Q3 2022 Q4

Portfolio
WACI

86 89Global High Alpha Equities

180 193MSCI World*

148 152Global Sustainable Equities

207 222MSCI ACWI*

92 93UK Active Equities

165 160FTSE All Share ex Inv Tr*

176 196Emerging Markets Equities

416 453MSCI Emerging Markets*

103 102PAB Passive Global Equities

180 194FTSE Dev World TR UKPD*

256 193
Passive Developed Equities

(Hedged)

2022 Q3 2022 Q4

Extractives revenues¹

0.9 1.3

2.6 2.8

2.5 2.6

2.6 2.8

3.3 3.5

4.2 4.9

0.8 0.8

3.2 3.3

1.0 0.9

2.5 2.7

2.6 2.6

2022 Q3 2022 Q4

Extractives reserves²

3.1 3.3

7.1 7.8

3.0 3.1

7.2 7.8

16.5 15.9

21.7 21.7

5.2 5.0

7.7 7.3

1.6 1.7

7.0 7.7

6.6 7.6

*Benchmark. ¹ Extractive revenue exposure as share (%) of total revenue. ² Value of holdings (VOH)

- companies who derive revenues from extractives. Source: Trucost

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity

relative to benchmark

Stewardship reporting links

Engagement records

www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/stewardship/engagement-records/

Holdings records

www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/stewardship/holdings-records/

Voting records

www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/stewardship/voting-records/

9

P
age 33



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Risk and return summary

Brunel portfolio performance - 3 year

RRS

Annualised

return

Risk

(standard

deviation)

Benchmark

return

Benchmark

standard

deviation

Global High Alpha Equities 10.5% 16.2% 8.9% 15.7%

UK Active Equities 0.5% 17.6% 2.1% 16.7%

Emerging Markets Equities -1.6% 16.9% 0.9% 16.0%

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged) 5.0% 19.4% 5.1% 19.4%

Private Equity Cycle 1 20.3% 13.8% 7.9% 15.0%

Infrastructure Cycle 1 11.0% 6.0% 5.4% 2.0%

Since portfolio inception

10

P
age 34



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Risk and return summary

Legacy manager performance - 3 year

RRS

Annualised

return

Risk

(standard

deviation)

Benchmark

return

Bluebay 5.1% 4.2% 5.7% -

Brunel PM Cash 4.5% - - -

Cash 0.1% - 0.0% -

Golub 12.2% 11.3% 5.7% -

Yorkshire Fund Managers -0.4% - - -

Gloucestershire County Council 3.7% 19.7% 3.8% -

11

P
age 35



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Portfolio overview

PO

Portfolio Benchmark
Outperformance

target

AUM

(GBPm)

Perf.

3 month

Excess

3 month

Perf.

1 year

Excess

1 year

Perf.

3 year

Excess

3 year

Perf.

SII*

Excess

SII*

Initial

investment

Equities  (57.15%) 1,684.65

Global High Alpha Equities MSCI World 15 Nov 2019383.57 2.7% 0.7% -13.7% -6.3% 10.5% 1.6% 10.6% 1.6%+2-3%

Global Sustainable Equities MSCI ACWI 30 Sep 2020339.71 2.4% 0.5% -15.5% -7.9% - - 4.7% -3.9%+2%

UK Active Equities FTSE All Share ex Inv Tr 21 Nov 2018405.23 9.6% 0.3% -3.6% -5.3% 0.5% -1.6% 4.0% -1.1%+2%

Emerging Markets Equities
MSCI Emerging

Markets
09 Oct 2019165.93 2.4% 0.5% -14.0% -4.3% -1.6% -2.4% -0.3% -2.3%+2-3%

PAB Passive Global Equities FTSE Dev World PAB 25 Jan 2022290.24 2.0% - - - - - -2.8% -0.1%Match

Passive Developed Equities

(Hedged)
FTSE Developed 18 Jul 201899.97 7.2% - -16.6% -0.1% 5.0% -0.1% 6.0% -0.1%Match

Fixed income  (17.18%) 506.45

Multi-Asset Credit SONIA +4% 01 Jun 2021188.61 3.7% 2.0% -8.5% -14.0% - - -4.7% -9.7%0% to +1.0%

Sterling Corporate Bonds iBoxx Sterling Non Gilt x 02 Jul 2021317.83 6.2% 0.4% -18.2% -0.5% - - -12.7% -0.1%+1%

Private markets  (incl. property)  (16.31%) 480.74

Private Equity Cycle 1 MSCI ACWI 26 Mar 201932.05 -4.0% -6.0% 24.3% 31.9% 20.3% 12.4% 24.0% 13.9%+3%

Private Equity Cycle 2 MSCI ACWI 05 Jan 202120.73 -7.0% -9.0% 10.3% 18.0% - - 39.4% 34.1%+3%

Private Equity Cycle 3 MSCI ACWI 30 Nov 2022-0.02 - - - - - - 0.9% 2.9%+3%

Private Debt Cycle 2 SONIA 17 Sep 202158.32 -1.5% -3.2% 13.6% 8.2% - - 10.9% 5.7%+4%

12

P
age 36



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Portfolio overview

Portfolio Benchmark
Outperformance

target

AUM

(GBPm)

Perf.

3 month

Excess

3 month

Perf.

1 year

Excess

1 year

Perf.

3 year

Excess

3 year

Perf.

SII*

Excess

SII*

Initial

investment

Private markets  (incl. property)  (16.31%) 480.74

Private Debt Cycle 3 SONIA 20 Dec 20222.49 - - - - - - -0.9% -1.1%+4%

Infrastructure Cycle 1 CPI 02 Jan 201934.31 2.9% 0.1% 17.1% 6.5% 11.0% 5.6% 6.3% 1.9%+4%

Infrastructure (General) Cycle 2 CPI 19 Oct 202043.16 5.1% 2.4% 4.8% -5.7% - - -3.1% -10.4%+4%

Infrastructure (Renewables) Cycle 2 CPI 12 Oct 202026.79 10.1% 7.4% 21.5% 11.0% - - 10.7% 3.5%+4%

Infrastructure Cycle 3
n/a - absolute return

target
13 Oct 20220.99 - -2.7% - - - - - -2.7%net 8% IRR

UK Property MSCI/AREF UK 01 Apr 2020210.39 -13.8% -0.4% -7.5% 2.5% - - 2.7% 1.2%+0.5%

International Property** GREFI 01 Apr 202051.51 9.2% 9.1% 34.5% 19.8% - - 13.2% -+0.5%

Other  (6.84%) 201.74

Diversifying Returns Fund SONIA +3% 27 Jul 2020201.74 1.0% -0.4% -2.6% -7.0% - - 1.7% -2.0%0% to +2.0%

2,873.57Total Brunel assets (excl. cash)  (97.48%)

*Since initial investment

**Data shown up to 30 September 2022

13

P
age 37



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Portfolio overview

*Since initial investment

Legacy assets

Portfolio Benchmark
Outperformance

target

AUM

(GBPm)

Perf.

3 month

Excess

3 month

Perf.

1 year

Excess

1 year

Perf.

3 year

Excess

3 year

Perf.

SII*

Excess

SII*

Initial

investment

Equities  (0.11%) 3.33

Yorkshire Fund Managers 01 Oct 20173.33 -13.2% -13.2% -16.6% -16.6% -0.4% -0.4% - -

Private markets  (incl. property)  (2.15%) 63.34

Golub 01 Jul 201736.37 -5.6% -7.6% 21.5% 15.1% 12.2% 6.5% 10.3% 4.5%

Bluebay 01 Aug 201720.04 2.2% 0.3% - -6.5% 5.1% -0.6% 6.1% 0.4%

Cash 31 Mar 2022- - - - - - - - -

Brunel PM Cash 14 Dec 20186.92 1.8% 1.8% 5.7% 5.7% 4.5% 4.5% 2.4% -

Other  (0.25%) 7.51

Cash 01 Oct 20177.51 - - 0.2% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% - -

74.18Total legacy assets (excl. cash)  (2.52%)

14

P
age 38



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Chief Investment Officer commentary

CIO

“Santa rally” or not, Q4 provided a welcome relief for liquid market investors. Led by equities, risk assets rallied strongly, and defensive assets – in the form of government bonds – followed suit. As

you can see from Figure 1, equity markets hedged to GBP rose approximately 6.5% and, within that complex, the UK and Europe were the relative winners, with the US and Japan the laggards.

This capped a weak year in which the US finished down 18%, while the UK market, driven by the combination of weak sterling and global revenues, finished marginally up. Likewise, despite the

late rally in UK bonds – up over 1.5% in Q4 – they still finished down an eye-watering 23% for the year.

Figure 1: Q4 2022 Total Return by Index as at 31/12/2022. Source: FactSet

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

Q
4

 2
0

2
2

 T
o

ta
l 

R
e

tu
rn

Index Performance Q4 2022
FTSE Actuaries UK Conventional Gilts

All Stocks GBP

Bloomberg Global Corporate - United Kingdom GBP

Bloomberg Global High Yield Hedged to GBP

MSCI AC World Hedged to GBP

MSCI AC World GBP

MSCI Emerging markets GBP

FTSE All share GBP

Bloomberg Commodities index GBP

15

P
age 39



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Chief Investment Officer commentary

Figure 2: 2022 Total Return by Index as at 31/12/2022. Source: FactSet

Given the lag in pricing private markets, however, we began to see the beginnings of the falls being reflected in net asset values (NAVs) in Q4. The “cheque in the post”, which we referred to in

last quarter’s update, has begun to filter through. Property funds – the quickest of the illiquid assets to price – moved lower first. This was particularly the case for those, such as Industrials, with

tighter net initial yields, where valuations are more sensitive to changes in interest rates. As gilt yields rose dramatically, so yields of 2.5-3.0% on the most sought-after logistics assets became

untenable, and we saw declines of 20%+ in some Industrial asset valuations. Declines were also exacerbated by investors seeking to tap property funds for liquidity. Ultimately, supply and demand
will dictate the resilience and potential growth of income streams from property; income growth is the driver of long-term performance and the bedrock upon which the Brunel model portfolios

have been built.

Elsewhere in private markets, the major themes played out in the secondary market across private equity (PE), infrastructure and private debt (PD). PE funds traded at discounts to NAV in the

secondary market, whereas infra & PD funds traded at NAV or at premia. Despite several years of warnings about too much capital being raised in the secondary market, the events of Q4 showed

that there are huge opportunities in secondaries, as traditional institutional investors have been forced to retrench.

-30.0%

-20.0%

-10.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

2
0

2
2

 T
o

ta
l 

R
e

tu
rn

Index Performance 2022
FTSE Actuaries UK Conventional Gilts

All Stocks GBP

Bloomberg Global Corporate - United Kingdom GBP

Bloomberg Global High Yield Hedged to GBP

MSCI AC World Hedged to GBP

MSCI AC World GBP

MSCI Emerging markets GBP

FTSE All share GBP

Bloomberg Commodities index GBP

16

P
age 40



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Chief Investment Officer commentary
Within currency markets, it is worthy of mention that the USD began to look vulnerable and ran out of steam, falling approximately 9% against sterling. As mentioned, it may well turn out that the

gilt crisis was the bottom of the sterling/dollar exchange rate decline. The other main event for investors in Q4 was the decision by the Bank of Japan to widen the band within which it has been

maintaining 10-year bond yields. Although such a change was not a surprise, the timing of it was – and the yen rallied aggressively.

The market was driven higher by rumours of Chinese plans to relax policies on Covid but, more significantly and perhaps prematurely, by the view that inflation was cooling. According to this

logic, it followed that central banks would have headroom to slow rate rises, and thus soften the recessionary narrative that had been building. Several data points gave the market reason to

coalesce around this view: in the US, the November CPI data point was lower month-on-month (by 0.1%!) Also, whilst US unemployment remained at 3.7%, only 263,000 jobs were added – the

lowest number since April 2021. A similar inflation picture was seen in Europe and both the ECB and Fed thus decided to raise interest rates by only 50 basis points (bps) in December, smaller than

the November hike of 75 bps.

Within equites, broadly speaking Value was again a powerful driver of returns, and Growth a relative underperformer versus the MSCI All Country World Index. Also, despite the spot prices of oil

and gas falling, commodity producers generally outperformed. Many commentators noted the conundrum. As if to prove further that markets cannot be reduced to the simplest of terms, however,

stocks with a strong Responsible Investment bias also outperformed. The net effect of these trends in Q4 was therefore that many Brunel portfolios outperformed their respective benchmarks.

In November COP 27, the so-called ‘implementation COP’ came and went without quite the intensity of COP 26 in Glasgow last year. However, there were some notable successes; the biggest

among them was the pledge to set up a loss and damage fund to provide money needed to rescue and rebuild the physical and social infrastructure of countries devastated by extreme weather.

The COP 27 presidency also launched the Adaptation Agenda to build climate resilience for 4 billion by 2030, to align with IIGCC investor-led work on resilience, a core focus for Brunel's Climate

Change Policy. In this regard, the UK government committed to triple funding for climate adaptation as part of that budget, from £500 million in 2019 to £1.5 billion in 2025.

Despite the rally in Q4, 2022 was a difficult year for investors and the issues that beset the market and drove it lower are still with us. The conflict in Ukraine shows no sign of ending; global interest

rate rises are still likely to come through; and inflation is not yet under control, nor have its effects fully filtered through into the economy. On a more positive front, China signalled that it will drop

its zero tolerance COVID policy and it seems the worst effects of a winter energy crisis may not be realised. The cold snap did not appear, and Germany and others built up their gas storage. The

other very big difference, of course, is that the markets priced to some extent the change in paradigm – and that the era of cheap money is arguably over.

Looking forward, global inflation will still dominate. It is very likely that the world economy will deteriorate this year. Indeed, leading economic indicators have already slowed and are showing

that economies around the world are in contraction. This is not news - a recession is remarkably consensual. However, it is a moderate recession that is priced in. A more severe episode could be

induced if the central banks feel that inflation isn’t under control, and they have to continue to tighten more aggressively. Such action could result in a further market dip.

The more bullish commentators argue that supply chains have normalised, aided by Chinese reopening; house prices and rents are falling; unlike in previous years, the employment squeeze has

led to increased job openings, not necessarily excessive employment – and thus they are easier to unwind in a downturn. This all eases the pressure on central banks to push up rates and destroy

demand to deflate the economy.

There are of course arguments on the other side that talk of more entrenched inflation. This is where battle lines are drawn, and we should be prepared for continued volatility as conviction and
evidence waxes and wanes. The economist Ken Galbraith once said that the only function of economic forecasting is to make astrology look respectable – and I have a lot of sympathy with that

view! What one can say with increasing conviction, however, is that, given the falls in prices in 2022, asset markets have begun to adjust to the new world of higher inflation. All else being equal,

that improves the forward-looking returns from your portfolio.

17

P
age 41



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP384m

Global High Alpha Equities

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

High conviction, unconstrained global equity portfolio

Liquidity

Managed

Benchmark

MSCI World

Outperformance target

+2-3%

Total fund value

£3,742m

Risk profile

High

Performance commentary

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 2.7 -13.7 11.3

Benchmark 2.0 -7.4 9.7

Excess 0.7 -6.3 1.6

*per annum

Global developed equities (as proxied by the MSCI World

index) rallied over the quarter, returning 2.0% in GBP terms. UK

and Europe outperformed, whilst the US lagged the

benchmark. Positive sentiment strengthened on expectations

for cooling inflation and potential China re-opening. Style

characteristics were again evident in the quarter, with Value

outperforming Growth significantly.

The portfolio returned 2.7% during the period, outperforming

the benchmark by 0.7%, as stock selection overcame the

headwinds arising from the negative Value tilt and

underexposure to Energy, the best-performing sector.

Sector attribution analysis showed sector allocation was

negative as both of the largest active sector positions

detracted (an underweight to Energy, the best-performing

sector, and an overweight to Consumer Discretionary, the

worst-performing sector). This was more than offset by

positive stock selection; the strongest selection was in the

Consumer Discretionary and IT sectors. Within both sectors,

overweights in more traditionally quality names (such as TJX,

Nike, Mastercard and Oracle) and underweights in larger
tech/growth names (such as Tesla and Apple) both

benefited the portfolio.

Four of the five managers outperformed. RLAM’s consistency

continues to be in evidence, and they have outperformed in

10 out of 12 full quarters since inception in very volatile and

differentiated market environments. The outlier this quarter

was Baillie Gifford, who underperformed following significant

outperformance last quarter. Their focus on high future

growth companies was not well rewarded as Growth

underperformed other styles significantly during the quarter.

This was particularly apparent in Consumer Discretionary,

automotive-related stocks held overweight in the Baillie

Gifford portfolio: Tesla, NIO and Carvana returned -57%, -43%

and -78% respectively.

Meta exited the portfolio during the quarter as the three

managers that held it all sold their positions towards end of

October. This consolidated a poor year for the owners of

Facebook, as it struggled with the challenges to its

advertising-based business model whilst continuing to pursue

what some see as an uncertain bet on the metaverse.

18

P
age 42



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Global High Alpha Equities
Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

Benchmark

weight %

MICROSOFT CORP 4.69 3.41

AMAZON.COM INC 3.02 1.54

ALPHABET INC 2.56 2.05

MASTERCARD INC 2.44 0.60

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 2.05 0.99

Companies with lowest ESG ratings
Adjusted ESG score*

Q3 2022 Q4 2022

TJX COS INC/THE 30.1032.47

MICROSOFT CORP 47.8147.15

ALPHABET INC 46.3046.00

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 38.7837.53

PROGRESSIVE CORP/THE 40.5540.16

*Source: TrueValueLabs. Scores can range from a high score of 100 to a low

of 0. The table is ordered by negative overall ESG impact on the portfolio,

with the most impactful at the top.

Carbon metrics

Portfolio

WACI

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

Global High Alpha 86 89

MSCI World* 180 193

Extractives

revenues¹

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

0.92 1.29

2.61 2.81

Extractives

reserves²

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

3.15 3.32

7.12 7.83

*Benchmark. ¹ Extractive revenue exposure as share (%) of total revenue. ²

Value of holdings (VOH) - companies who derive revenues from extractives.

Source: Trucost

Regional exposure

0.1%

4.5%

7.5%

8.8%

20.0%

59.1%

0.2%

9.8%

0.0%

4.7%

15.5%

69.8%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Other

Pacific

Emerging Market

UK

Europe & Middle East

Americas

Fund Benchmark

Sector exposure

1.5%

30.0%

13.3%

15.9%

17.7%

21.4%

0.0%

41.0%

14.3%

14.5%

10.0%

20.2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Cash

Other

Financials

Health Care

Consumer Discretionary

Information Technology

Fund Benchmark

*Estimated Client value.

Top 5 active overweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

MASTERCARD INC 0.602.44

HDFC BANK LTD -1.64

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR -1.49

AMAZON.COM INC 1.543.02

TJX COS INC/THE 0.191.62

Top 5 active underweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

APPLE INC 4.180.50

EXXON MOBIL CORP 0.92-

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 0.79-

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 0.72-

CHEVRON CORP 0.67-

Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

B'mark

weight %

Client value

(GBP)*

MICROSOFT CORP 4.69 3.41 17,979,144

AMAZON.COM INC 3.02 1.54 11,578,975

ALPHABET INC 2.56 2.05 9,804,658

MASTERCARD INC 2.44 0.60 9,352,007

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 2.05 0.99 7,856,890

19

P
age 43



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP340m

Global Sustainable Equities

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Global equity exposure concentrating on ESG factors

Liquidity

Managed

Benchmark

MSCI ACWI

Outperformance target

+2%

Total fund value

£3,185m

Risk profile

High

Performance commentary

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 2.4 -15.5 3.9

Benchmark 2.0 -7.6 7.9

Excess 0.5 -7.9 -4.0

*per annum

Global equities (as proxied by the MSCI All Countries World

Index) returned 2.0% over the reporting period. The

Sustainable Equities portfolio returned 2.4%, outperforming

the benchmark by 0.5%.

The quarter provided a welcome respite to what had been a

difficult year for all investors. However, Sustainable Equity
strategies perhaps felt this challenge more than most in 2022,

as the strategy has a natural underweight to Value parts of

the market and has significantly less exposure to sectors such

as Energy, which returned 62% over the year. The second-best

performing sector was Utilities, with a return of 8.5%, which

highlights the severe market dispersion.

The fund returned -15.5% over the year against an MSCI ACWI

return of -7.6%. 90% of the underperformance occurred in the

first quarter - key Q1 events have been discussed in previous

commentaries.

Through Oct-Nov of Q4, the market rallied to return 7.1%. The

rally was largely driven by Value, notably the metals & mining

sub sector, energy equipment companies, and Industrial

conglomerates. Despite our underweight allocation to these
sectors, the portfolio only narrowly underperformed the

benchmark, gaining through our exposure to semiconductors

and favourable stock selection in the automobile sector - the

zero exposure to Tesla was a notable contributor.

In December, the market returned -4.85%. The main

contributors were large cap tech companies. The three

largest contributors on this front were Apple (-13%), Tesla

(-37%) and Microsoft (-7%); the three hold a combined

weight of 7.7% in a 3,000-stock index, and so they contributed

-1.1% to index return. The portfolio is underweight Microsoft

and has no exposure to Tesla or Apple. This outperformance

in the downward market meant the portfolio exhibited a net

outperformance of 0.5% over the quarter as a whole.

Three out of the five managers outperformed; Jupiter and
Mirova by 3.1% and 4.6% respectively. Mirova's holdings in

Mastercard, Adobe and Visa were the biggest contributors,

whilst RBC underperformed by 2.1%. RBC's performance was

driven in part by Roche, which fell on the news its Alzheimer's

drug failed to slow the disease. The managers continued to

provide complementary but differing approach within the

portfolio.

20

P
age 44



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Global Sustainable Equities
Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

Benchmark

weight %

MASTERCARD INC 2.63 0.53

MICROSOFT CORP 2.27 3.02

ADYEN NV 1.99 0.05

ANSYS INC 1.93 0.04

DANAHER CORP 1.77 0.33

Companies with lowest ESG ratings
Adjusted ESG score*

Q3 2022 Q4 2022

MICROSOFT CORP 47.8147.15

T-MOBILE US INC 44.0644.95

ALPHABET INC 46.3046.00

MUENCHENER 46.57-

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 51.8952.44

*Source: TrueValueLabs. Scores can range from a high score of 100 to a low

of 0. The table is ordered by negative overall ESG impact on the portfolio,

with the most impactful at the top.

Carbon metrics

Portfolio

WACI

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

Global Sustainable 148 152

MSCI ACWI* 207 222

Extractives

revenues¹

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

2.53 2.65

2.62 2.82

Extractives

reserves²

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

2.96 3.13

7.18 7.76

*Benchmark. ¹ Extractive revenue exposure as share (%) of total revenue. ²

Value of holdings (VOH) - companies who derive revenues from extractives.

Source: Trucost

Regional exposure

0.1%

2.1%

5.5%

7.2%

20.0%

65.2%

0.4%

10.7%

4.2%

9.0%

13.7%

62.0%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Other

Emerging Market

UK

Pacific

Europe & Middle East

Americas

Fund Benchmark

Sector exposure

2.5%

26.9%

11.7%

14.1%

17.7%

27.1%

0.0%

41.3%

15.2%

10.2%

13.4%

20.0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Cash

Other

Financials

Industrials

Health Care

Information Technology

Fund Benchmark

*Estimated Client value.

Top 5 active overweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

MASTERCARD INC 0.532.63

ADYEN NV 0.051.99

ANSYS INC 0.041.93

MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC 0.021.73

DANAHER CORP 0.331.77

Top 5 active underweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

APPLE INC 3.71-

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 0.83-

ALPHABET INC 1.820.99

EXXON MOBIL CORP 0.82-

MICROSOFT CORP 3.022.27

Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

B'mark

weight %

Client value

(GBP)*

MASTERCARD INC 2.63 0.53 8,950,162

MICROSOFT CORP 2.27 3.02 7,703,782

ADYEN NV 1.99 0.05 6,748,741

ANSYS INC 1.93 0.04 6,551,231

DANAHER CORP 1.77 0.33 6,015,943

21

P
age 45



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP405m

UK Active Equities

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Active stock and sector exposure to UK equity markets

Liquidity

Managed

Benchmark

FTSE All Share ex Inv Tr

Outperformance target

+2%

Total fund value

£1,382m

Risk profile

High

Performance commentary

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 9.6 -3.7 3.9

Benchmark 9.2 1.6 5.1

Excess 0.3 -5.3 -1.2

*per annum

The FTSE All-Share Index excluding Investment Trusts returned

9.2% over the quarter, outperforming the developed market

index, which returned 2% in GBP terms (MSCI World). The

difference lies partly in the UK’s under-exposure to Growth

names in Technology. These names make up a large part of

the developed market index that performed so poorly (and
the knock-on effect of the depreciation in the USD vs GBP).

In contrast, the UK Energy sector (returning 5.9%) was unable

to match its developed market peers (returning 11.2%), as BP

and Shell both underperformed the FTSE All-Share.

The portfolio returned 9.6% during the period, outperforming

the benchmark by 0.3%. Sector attribution shows positive

effects from both allocation and selection.

The overweight allocation to Financials and underweight

allocation to Energy were both positive and offset the drag

of holding a small cash allocation in a rising market. Strong

selection in Financials was the largest contributor to selection,

with overweights in four insurance related names (Legal and

General, Lancashire Holdings Group, Aviva and Just Group)

in the top ten contributors to relative return.

Baillie Gifford outperformed by 1% which (taken alongside

the previous quarter’s small outperformance) steadied their

relative performance after two very poor quarters in the first

half of 2022. Allocation was positive with underweights to

Energy, and not holding Telecoms proving to be the largest

positive impacts. Mirroring portfolio performance, positive

selection was driven by the overweight positions in insurance-

related holdings in the Financials sector. Baillie Gifford also

benefited from its overweight position in smaller companies

that outperformed their larger peers.

Invesco performed in line with the index following two strong

relative performances in the preceding two quarters. Of the

factors targeted by Invesco, the positive contribution from
the Value factor was offset by negative contributions from

Momentum and Quality factors.

From inception to quarter-end, the portfolio underperformed

the benchmark by 1.2% per annum.

22

P
age 46



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

UK Active Equities
Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

Benchmark

weight %

ASTRAZENECA PLC 6.11 7.63

UNILEVER PLC 4.50 4.89

DIAGEO PLC 3.90 3.79

SHELL PLC 3.70 7.84

BP PLC 3.33 4.06

Companies with lowest ESG ratings
Adjusted ESG score*

Q3 2022 Q4 2022

GLENCORE PLC 46.3348.44

LANCASHIRE HOLDINGS LTD 15.9710.98

ASTRAZENECA PLC 55.5853.19

INCHCAPE PLC 44.8247.84

HISCOX LTD 29.7529.13

*Source: TrueValueLabs. Scores can range from a high score of 100 to a low

of 0. The table is ordered by negative overall ESG impact on the portfolio,

with the most impactful at the top.

Carbon metrics

Portfolio

WACI

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

UK Active Equities 92 93

FTSE All Share ex Inv 165 160

Extractives

revenues¹

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

3.35 3.48

4.18 4.95

Extractives

reserves²

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

16.45 15.89

21.67 21.71

*Benchmark. ¹ Extractive revenue exposure as share (%) of total revenue. ²

Value of holdings (VOH) - companies who derive revenues from extractives.

Source: Trucost

Sector exposure

2.2%

29.5%

12.0%

15.7%

16.7%

23.9%

0.0%

40.8%

11.1%

11.2%

17.5%

19.5%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Cash

Other

Consumer Services

Industrials

Consumer Goods

Financials

Fund Benchmark

*Estimated Client value.

Top 5 active overweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC 0.682.66

BUNZL PLC 0.432.30

BAILLIE GIFFORD UK & BALANCED -1.35

BURBERRY GROUP PLC 0.371.66

INCHCAPE PLC 0.141.41

Top 5 active underweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

SHELL PLC 7.843.70

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 4.782.95

NATIONAL GRID PLC 1.67-

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC 1.890.34

ASTRAZENECA PLC 7.636.11

Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

B'mark

weight %

Client value

(GBP)*

ASTRAZENECA PLC 6.11 7.63 24,773,171

UNILEVER PLC 4.50 4.89 18,239,630

DIAGEO PLC 3.90 3.79 15,786,230

SHELL PLC 3.70 7.84 14,984,206

BP PLC 3.33 4.06 13,485,802

23

P
age 47



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP166m

Emerging Markets Equities

-20.0%

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Equity exposure to emerging markets

Liquidity

Managed

Benchmark

MSCI Emerging Markets

Outperformance target

+2-3%

Total fund value

£1,044m

Risk profile

High

Performance commentary

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 2.3 -14.0 -1.2

Benchmark 1.9 -9.6 1.1

Excess 0.4 -4.3 -2.3

*per annum

Emerging markets ended the year on a more positive note as

markets rebounded swiftly in November and December. The

quarter started in turbulent fashion; a sharp decline in

Chinese equities followed the 20th National Congress of the

Chinese Communist Party in mid-October. The Congress

confirmed that Xi Jinping is likely to be one of the most
influential leaders of the People’s Republic of China in its

history. Investors viewed this as a headwind, given the

apparent lack of moderating influences within the party;

Chinese equities subsequently sold off by approximately 19%

in October. As mentioned in the CIO commentary, markets

turned in early November following rumours of the zero-Covid

policy in China being relaxed; Chinese equities ultimately

ended the quarter in positive territory, appreciating by
approximately +5%. Broader emerging markets – proxied by

the MSCI Emerging Markets – were buoyed by the turn in

Chinese equities and ended the period in positive territory,

appreciating by 1.9%.

The portfolio outperformed over the quarter. Total return was

+2.3%, which was 0.4% ahead of the benchmark. Since-

inception performance remained negative on an absolute
and relative basis. Net annualised performance was -1.2%

since inception, which is -2.3% behind the benchmark.

Genesis and Wellington outperformed by +2.8% and +0.3%

respectively, whereas Ninety One lagged the benchmark by

2.4%. The primary drivers were China’s zero-COVID exit, and

sensitivity to commodities. Genesis was by far the most

geared towards a China reopening scenario, and the least

exposed to commodities; both factors acted as significant

tailwinds for performance. Conversely, Ninety One is least

exposed to China’s reopening and has higher exposure to

commodities than Genesis.

There are several reasons to be optimistic on emerging

markets going forward. Firstly, China’s relaxation of its Covid

policy and pivot towards a more supportive stance on growth
should allow a normalisation of the domestic economy in

2023. Secondly, the economic backdrop for countries outside

of China is improving. For example, EM private sector debt/

GDP is now 86%, half the level of developed markets. Finally,

valuations continue to look cheap against both history and

developed markets, presenting managers with opportunities

to buy high quality companies at attractive prices. The

portfolio is well positioned to capitalise on these themes.

24

P
age 48



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Emerging Markets Equities
Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

Benchmark

weight %

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR 6.60 5.70

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 3.99 4.24

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 3.95 3.83

AIA GROUP LTD 2.80 0.00

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING LTD 2.46 2.60

Companies with lowest ESG ratings
Adjusted ESG score*

Q3 2022 Q4 2022

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 54.2852.86

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING LTD 54.5051.92

ICICI BANK LTD 45.2845.92

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 57.7755.29

KIMBERLY-CLARK DE MEXICO 47.1636.63

*Source: TrueValueLabs. Scores can range from a high score of 100 to a low

of 0. The table is ordered by negative overall ESG impact on the portfolio,

with the most impactful at the top.

Carbon metrics

Portfolio

WACI

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

Emerging Markets 176 196

MSCI Emerging 416 453

Extractives

revenues¹

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

0.85 0.81

3.15 3.29

Extractives

reserves²

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

5.19 5.03

7.65 7.26

*Benchmark. ¹ Extractive revenue exposure as share (%) of total revenue. ²

Value of holdings (VOH) - companies who derive revenues from extractives.

Source: Trucost

Regional exposure

2.7%

3.2%

8.1%

8.4%

11.6%

65.9%

1.9%

0.0%

8.5%

11.2%

2.4%

75.9%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Other

UK

Americas

Europe Middle East & Africa

World

Asia

Fund Benchmark

Sector exposure

2.4%

30.2%

12.7%

15.8%

16.9%

22.0%

0.0%

38.7%

6.4%

18.6%

14.1%

22.1%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Cash

Other

Consumer Staples

Information Technology

Consumer Discretionary

Financials

Fund Benchmark

*Estimated Client value.

Top 5 active overweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

AIA GROUP LTD -2.80

HDFC BANK LTD -1.39

NETEASE INC 0.461.66

INNER MONGOLIA YILI INDUSTRIAL 0.031.10

BID CORP LTD 0.101.16

Top 5 active underweights

Benchmark

weight %

Weight

%

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORP 0.960.25

AL RAJHI BANK 0.62-

BAIDU INC 0.50-

PETROLEO BRASILEIRO SA 0.660.18

VALE SA 1.020.54

Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

B'mark

weight %

Client value

(GBP)*

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR 6.60 5.70 10,946,682

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 3.99 4.24 6,622,617

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 3.95 3.83 6,548,048

AIA GROUP LTD 2.80 0.00 4,637,790

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING LTD 2.46 2.60 4,076,497

25

P
age 49



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP202m

Diversifying Returns Fund

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Strategy utilising currencies, credit, rates and equities

Liquidity

Managed

Benchmark

SONIA +3%

Outperformance target

0% to +2.0%

Total fund value

£1,392m

Risk profile

Moderate

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 1.0 -2.6 2.0

Benchmark 1.4 4.4 3.7

Excess -0.4 -7.0 -1.7

Performance commentary

*per annum

The Diversifying Returns Fund returned 1.0% over the fourth

quarter of 2022. The cash-plus-3% benchmark return was 1.4%.

The portfolio returned -2.6% for 2022. While the benchmark

returned 4.4%, the portfolio avoided the lion's share of the

losses seen across all asset classes. For context, the sterling-

hedged 50/50 equity/bond index we monitor returned 3.9%

over the quarter and -17.2% over one year.

From their intra-quarter addition to the DRF portfolio to end-

2022, Fulcrum lost 1.4%. The directional equities component

of the strategy made a positive contribution to returns but this

was more than offset by negative returns from relative value

strategies. The biggest detractors within the relative value

bucket were the short position in sterling and the ‘Technology

Disruption’ sleeve within Thematic Equities, which provides

exposure to Growth, a factor that performed poorly over the

quarter.

JPM returned 3.3% for the quarter. The largest positive

contributions to returns came from the equity Value and

Quality signals. Credit carry also performed well over the

quarter. However, trend signals struggled. Equity and fixed

income trends and FX momentum all detracted from returns.

Lombard Odier recorded a positive return of 0.6%. Exposure

to commodities and credit made the largest contributions to

returns while sovereign bond exposure continued to weigh on

performance, as it did throughout 2022. Some of Lombard

Odier’s peers experienced a stronger rebound over the

quarter, but this was because Lombard Odier carried a low

level of exposure into the quarter as a result of deleveraging

more aggressively earlier in the year - that deleveraging had

limited the magnitude of losses as equity and bond markets

fell.

UBS returned 0.7%. Their US dollar short position made the

biggest contribution to returns while long positions in the

Norwegian kroner and Japanese yen also made positive
contributions to returns. Long positions in the Columbian peso

and Brazilian real detracted, as did a short position in the New

Zealand dollar.

26

P
age 50



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP189m

Multi-Asset Credit

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Exposure to higher yield bonds with moderate credit risk

Liquidity

Managed

Benchmark

SONIA +4%

Outperformance target

0% to +1.0%

Total fund value

£2,463m

Risk profile

Moderate

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 3.7 -8.5 -5.2

Benchmark 1.7 5.4 5.0

Excess 2.0 -14.0 -10.2

Performance commentary

*per annum

Despite volatility in the fourth quarter, risk assets across sub-

investment grade credit delivered broad-based gains. The

quarter got off to a rocky start due to a failed UK budget

proposal that roiled UK gilt markets, higher-than-expected

September CPI in the US, and an October Communist Party

Congress in China that spooked markets.

The yields of global high yield bonds soared to their year-to-

date high, touching approximately 10.5% in the first half of

October. Risk asset prices then reversed course amid better-

than-expected third quarter earnings, expectation of more

dovish global central bank policy, and a cooling of US

inflation in both October and November. The subsequent

credit rally lasted for most of the quarter, though markets

came under renewed pressure in late December.

The Federal Reserve hiked rates in the US by 125 bps during

the quarter, but ultimately this had little impact on the 2- and

10-year yields, which ended the year at +442bps and +388bps

respectively. Bank capital and EM sovereign debt were the

strongest asset classes over the quarter, with local returns of

approximately +12% and +8% respectively. High yield
corporate bonds returned almost 7% in local terms. Loans

were amongst the lowest-returning asset classes in credit,

returning approximately 3% in local terms. Returns were

primarily driven by spread compression.

The portfolio returned +3.7% over the quarter on a net of fees

basis, which was +2.0% ahead of the primary benchmark of

SONIA +4%. The portfolio lagged the secondary benchmark

by 0.9%. Performance by manager remained range-bound

during the quarter. Neuberger Berman, CQS and Oaktree

returned +360bps, +406bps and +407bps respectively.

Performance since inception is now -5.2% annualised on a

net-of-fees basis, and this remains behind the SONIA +4%

return of +5.0% but close to the composite benchmark return.

The portfolio now offers a yield of approximately +9.3% on a
yield-to-worst basis, with modest duration close to two years,

representing an attractive entry point. However, investors

should express caution as the threat of an impending

recession, potential inflation shocks and quantitative

tightening could put upward pressure on rates and spreads

worldwide. Fundamentals- focused managers should be well-

placed to take advantage of attractive entry points, whilst

navigating some of the potential headwinds in 2023.

27

P
age 51



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP318m

Sterling Corporate Bonds

-30.0%

-25.0%

-20.0%

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Managed credit selection to generate excess sterling yield

returns

Liquidity

Managed

Benchmark

iBoxx Sterling Non Gilt x

Outperformance target

+1%

Total fund value

£1,878m

Risk profile

Moderate

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 6.2 -18.2 -12.7

Benchmark 5.7 -17.7 -12.6

Excess 0.4 -0.5 -0.1

Performance commentary

*per annum

Over the quarter, central banks further tightened monetary

policy in response to the continued strength of inflation.

In this context, the iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt All Maturities

benchmark returned 5.74%. The main driver of the positive

absolute return was the fall in gilt yields and tightening of the

average sterling investment grade (IG) credit spread from

1.99% to 1.61%.

The portfolio returned 6.17%, outperforming the benchmark.

The portfolio’s outperformance over the quarter was primarily

driven by positive credit sector allocation (+58bps), with a

notably strong contribution from the significant underweight

to supranational bonds (+62bps). This was enhanced by

overweight exposure to insurance (+21bps), which performed

strongly as the market recovered over the quarter. This was

partially offset by overweight exposures to secured sectors,

such as real estate (-7bps) and structured bonds (-6bps),

which lagged the general spread tightening. Underweight

exposures to consumer goods (-8bps) and

telecommunications (-6bps) also detracted.

Overall, the impact of duration and yield curve exposure was

neutral, at -11bps and +12bps respectively.

Security selection detracted from relative performance (-

25bps). This mainly reflected security selection in the

structured (-42bps), social housing (-13bps) and real estate (-

8bps) sectors. This drag outweighed positive security

selection from Financials in particular (+26bps) but also from

Utilities and Insurance (+6bps and +4bps, respectively).

The contribution to overall outperformance of the

underweight exposure across the AAA, AA and A rating

bands was negative (-50bps), mainly coming from the A

rating band (-40bps). However, this was offset by more

significant overweight exposure to BB- rated bonds (+49bps)

and allocations to sub-IG and unrated bonds (+24bps).

RLAM expects inflation to peak in the coming months, as

moderating energy prices and weak GDP growth reduce the

tightness of the labour market. However RLAM continues to

anticipate further rate rises in 2023 and therefore a likely

recession in the UK. While yields in sterling investment grade

credit remain attractive, there should also be an expectation

of credit rating downgrades and default rate rises.

28

P
age 52



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP290m

PAB Passive Global Equities

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Passive global equity exposure aligned to Paris Agreement

climate goals

Liquidity

High

Benchmark

FTSE Dev World PAB

Outperformance target

Match

Total fund value

£1,467m

Risk profile

High

Performance commentary

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 1.9 -9.2 -4.9

Benchmark 2.0 -9.2 -4.9

Excess - - -0.1

*per annum

In Q4 2022, the FTSE Developed Paris-Aligned benchmark

(PAB) continued the trend of positive performance seen in

Q3, rising 2% over the three-month period to the end of the

year. The PAB Passive Global Equities portfolio closely

replicated the benchmark's performance over the quarter.

This headline performance hides the performance journey
over the quarter and the varied performance across

underlying sectors within the index. The index performed

positively to the end of November, up over 6% through the

first two months of the quarter, before falling to end the

reporting period up 2%.

In terms of sector, the Industrials sector was the best

performer, driven by capital goods. Honeywell and

Caterpillar were the most significant stock contributors to

return over the period.

The Consumer Discretionary and Communication Services

sectors were a drag upon performance over Q4.

Performance within Consumer Discretionary can be

attributed to the large benchmark positions in Tesla and
Amazon, which both had difficult quarters. Similarly, a

significant position within Alphabet was a material

contributor to the negative performance of the

Communication Services sector over the reporting period.

29

P
age 53



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

PAB Passive Global Equities
Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

APPLE INC 5.29

MICROSOFT CORP 4.82

ALPHABET INC 3.82

AMAZON.COM INC 2.91

HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC 2.72

Companies with lowest ESG ratings
Adjusted ESG score*

Q3 2022 Q4 2022

MICROSOFT CORP 47.8147.15

ALPHABET INC 46.3046.00

APPLE INC 50.5749.17

AMAZON.COM INC 51.9950.72

CHUBB LTD 38.7334.84

*Source: TrueValueLabs. Scores can range from a high score of 100 to a low

of 0. The table is ordered by negative overall ESG impact on the portfolio,

with the most impactful at the top.

Carbon metrics

Portfolio

WACI

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

PAB Passive Global 103 102

FTSE Dev World TR 180 194

Extractives

revenues¹

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

0.99 0.91

2.52 2.69

Extractives

reserves²

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

1.57 1.68

7.00 7.69

*Benchmark. ¹ Extractive revenue exposure as share (%) of total revenue. ²

Value of holdings (VOH) - companies who derive revenues from extractives.

Source: Trucost

Regional exposure

0.2%

1.2%

4.7%

7.3%

22.9%

63.8%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Other

Emerging Market

UK

Pacific

Europe & Middle East

Americas

Fund

Sector exposure

23.7%

11.0%

12.5%

14.2%

15.3%

23.4%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%

Other

Consumer Discretionary

Health Care

Financials

Industrials

Information Technology

Fund

*Estimated Client value.

Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

Client value

(GBP)*

APPLE INC 5.29 15,342,083

MICROSOFT CORP 4.82 14,001,939

ALPHABET INC 3.82 11,077,533

AMAZON.COM INC 2.91 8,452,420

HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC 2.72 7,880,216

30

P
age 54



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public P

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP100m

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

-20.0%

-10.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

Q1
2021

Q2
2021

Q3
2021

Q4
2021

Q1
2022

Q2
2022

Q3
2022

Q4
2022

Fund

Benchmark

Fund cumulative

Benchmark cumulative

Rolling performanceInvestment strategy & key drivers

Passive global equity exposure - hedged

Liquidity

High

Benchmark

FTSE Developed

Outperformance target

Match

Total fund value

£582m

Risk profile

High

Performance commentary

Performance to quarter end

Performance 3 month % 1 year %

Since

inception %

p.a.*

Fund 7.2 -16.6 6.0

Benchmark 7.2 -16.4 6.1

Excess - -0.1 -0.1

*per annum

Passive Developed Equities (GBP Hedged) returned 7.2% in

the fourth quarter of 2022 and -16.6% over the calendar year.

The fund replicated the FTSE Developed World (GBP Hedged)

index in line with expectations.

Over the quarter, the US dollar depreciated against a number

of currencies, including sterling. This accounted for a large
component of the outperformance of the hedged over the

unhedged product.

At a high level, it appears the Consumer Discretionary sector

performed poorly. However, weak performance of the sector

can largely be attributed to Tesla and Amazon. A similar

dichotomy is evident in the Technology sector, where Apple

and Alphabet made large contributions to negative returns.

The Financials sector was the best-performing and insurers

fared particularly well. Industrials also performed well on a

relative basis, with the likes of Boeing and Caterpillar posting

strong returns.

As noted previously in this report, from a regional perspective,

the European market was the strongest performer in the

developed world, closely by the UK, whilst the US market

underperformed.

31

P
age 55



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)
Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

APPLE INC 3.80

MICROSOFT CORP 3.49

ALPHABET INC 1.95

AMAZON.COM INC 1.45

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC 1.09

Companies with lowest ESG ratings
Adjusted ESG score*

Q3 2022 Q4 2022

MICROSOFT CORP 47.8147.15

APPLE INC 50.5749.17

ALPHABET INC 46.3046.00

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 38.7837.53

ABBVIE INC 34.9533.10

*Source: TrueValueLabs. Scores can range from a high score of 100 to a low

of 0. The table is ordered by negative overall ESG impact on the portfolio,

with the most impactful at the top.

Carbon metrics

Portfolio

WACI

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

Passive Developed 180 193

Extractives

revenues¹

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

2.64 2.65

Extractives

reserves²

2022

Q3

2022

Q4

6.60 7.58

*Benchmark. ¹ Extractive revenue exposure as share (%) of total revenue. ²

Value of holdings (VOH) - companies who derive revenues from extractives.

Source: Trucost

Regional exposure

0.2%

1.7%

4.8%

11.0%

15.4%

67.0%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Other

Emerging Market

UK

Pacific

Europe & Middle East

Americas

Fund

Sector exposure

0.7%

35.8%

13.0%

13.1%

18.4%

19.0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Cash

Other

Industrials

Health Care

Financials

Technology

Fund

*Estimated Client value.

Top 5 holdings

Weight

%

Client value

(GBP)*

APPLE INC 3.80 3,801,018

MICROSOFT CORP 3.49 3,492,839

ALPHABET INC 1.95 1,954,313

AMAZON.COM INC 1.45 1,453,181

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC 1.09 1,091,678

32

P
age 56



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Private Equity Cycle 1

P

North America 57.0%

Western Europe 31.3%

Asia Pacific 5.8%

Global 2.2%

South America 1.3%

Other 2.4%

Country
Invested in underlying investments

Financials 44.1%

Information Technology 18.6%

Health Care 16.8%

Consumer Discretionary 8.8%

Consumer Staples 3.4%

Other 8.3%

Sector
GICs level 1

Commitment to Investment

£44.23m

Amount Called

£24.32m

% called to date

54.97

Number of underlying funds

7

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP32.05m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of private equity investments

Benchmark

MSCI ACWI

Outperformance target

+3%

Launch date

1 October 2018

Commitment to portfolio

£43.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

Source: Colmore

Country data is lagged by one quarter

Source: Colmore

Sector data is lagged by one quarter

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

32.1 -4.0% 23.2% 23.6% 1,026,695 778,874 247,821 -1,325,970 -4.0% 24.3% 23.5%

*Money weighted return

As of December 2022, the drawdown of Cycle 1 increased

slightly from the previous quarter, as approximately 55% of the

committed capital had been drawn. Cycle 1 was still in the

investment phase.

Macroeconomic headwinds caused a slowdown in deals,

exits and fundraising during Q4, and this was expected to

continue into 2023. GPs began to pivot away from their focus

on selling in favour of seeking add-on acquisitions at

attractive multiples. We would expect the number of public-

to-private, corporate carveouts and secondary deals to

increase in 2023. Despite the wider challenges in listed
markets, many private valuations are expected to have

broadly held up during Q4 as testimony to the high quality,

diversified and resilient nature of individual Funds.

Growth/Tech funds were an exception to the rule, as Q3 saw

GPs taking a haircut on valuations and the same was

expected for Q4. The decrease in Growth/Tech valuations

was a consequence of the fall on listed valuation multiples

comps, FX fluctuations and increasing discount rates. Overall,

the Cycle 1 Portfolio level performance remained positive.

The Cycle 1 PE portfolio is diversified by strategy, sector and

geography. The GPs in the portfolio have track records

through market Cycles and are expected to be able to lean

on their experience to steer through the current market

environment. All the private equity funds in the portfolio are

now successfully closed and in full deployment mode.

33

P
age 57



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Private Equity Cycle 2

P

North America 53.3%

Western Europe 31.3%

Asia Pacific 7.7%

Global 3.3%

Middle-East/North Africa 3.0%

Other 1.4%

Country
Invested in underlying investments

Information Technology 30.6%

Financials 28.4%

Industrials 17.1%

Health Care 11.5%

Consumer Discretionary 3.8%

Other 8.6%

Sector
GICs level 1

Commitment to Investment

£72.79m

Amount Called

£19.07m

% called to date

26.20

Number of underlying funds

14

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP20.73m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of private equity investments

Benchmark

MSCI ACWI

Outperformance target

+3%

Launch date

1 May 2020

Commitment to portfolio

£70.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

Source: Colmore

Country data is lagged by one quarter

Source: Colmore

Sector data is lagged by one quarter

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

20.7 -6.8% 5.3% 10.2% 2,457,242 69,535 2,387,707 -1,426,920 -4.5% 13.3% 41.0%

*Money weighted return

As of December 2022, the total capital drawn down for Cycle

2 had increased slightly from the previous quarter and

reached 28%. It is worth noting that, while total capital
deployed was higher, funds use credit facilities to initially fund

investments.

Macroeconomic headwinds caused a slowdown in deals,

exits and fundraising during Q4, which is expected to

continue in 2023. GPs have begun to pivot away from their

focus on selling in favour of seeking add-on acquisitions at

attractive multiples. We would expect the number of public-

to-private, corporate carveouts and secondary deals to
increase in 2023. Despite the wider challenges in listed

markets, many private valuations are expected to have

broadly held up during Q4 as testimony to the high quality,

diversified and resilient nature of individual funds.

Growth/Tech funds are an exception to the rule, as Q3 saw

GPs taking a haircut on valuations and the same was

expected for Q4. The decrease in Growth/Tech valuations

was a consequence of the fall on listed valuation multiples
comps, FX fluctuations and increasing discount rates. Overall,

the Cycle 2 Portfolio level performance has remained

positive.

Going forward, we expect deployment to continue gathering

pace as more managers in the portfolio finalise their

fundraisings.

34

P
age 58



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Private Equity Cycle 3

P

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

-0.0 - - - 0 0 0 - - - 0.9%

Commitment to Investment

£1.61m

Amount Called

£-m

% called to date

-

Number of underlying funds

1

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP-0.02m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of private equity investments

Benchmark

MSCI ACWI

Outperformance target

+3%

Launch date

1 April 2022

Commitment to portfolio

£16.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

The negative values can be explained by management fees

and expenses charged by the GP (APAX). As of 31/12/2022

no capital calls were made by APAX and therefore true

valuation should be zero at a client level. The portfolio has

made two underlying investments, funded by a credit facility;

once a capital call is made a more accurate Adjusted Value

will be reflected in future reports.

*Money weighted return

35

P
age 59



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Private Debt Cycle 2

P

North America 67.2%

Europe 29.4%

Asia Pacific 2.9%

Other 0.5%

Country
Invested in underlying investments

Information Technology 27.0%

Health Care 24.0%

Industrials 21.3%

Consumer Discretionary 10.5%

Consumer Staples 6.9%

Other 10.3%

Sector
GICs level 1

Commitment to Investment

£120.00m

Amount Called

£55.91m

% called to date

46.59

Number of underlying funds

1

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP58.32m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of senior direct loans, predominantly to

PE-sponsored companies

Benchmark

SONIA

Outperformance target

+4%

Launch date

1 May 2020

Commitment to portfolio

£120.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

Source: Aksia and underlying managers

Country data is lagged by two quarters

Source: Aksia and underlying managers

Sector data is lagged by two quarters

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

58.3 -1.3% 11.8% 10.9% 12,788,203 542,037 12,246,166 -705,650 -1.5% 13.6% 10.5%

*Money weighted return

As of December 2022, Cycle 2 was fully committed to 7 funds.

The portfolio is in ramp up with deployment increasing to over

~40%. The next capital call (due by February 2023) is

expected to take deployment to ~50% .

Prior focus by managers on traditionally resilient sectors such

as healthcare, professional services and established software

have continued to buoy returns as the portfolio remains in

positive territory and is performing as expected. Such is

reinforced by the portfolio’s majority allocation to senior-most

lending for investee companies. Managers report a broadly

attractive environment for loan pricing despite economic
headwinds. New investments in the portfolio include a

European fertility clinic provider, a US baked-goods firm, a UK

health-and-safety software firm and an Australian healthcare

firm. The portfolio currently has a tilt towards to the US (owing

to faster deployment by US-focussed managers) but is

expected to normalise to a broadly even split between the

US and Europe over the medium term.

Leveraged buy-out activity continued 2022 trends to
increasingly draw on private debt as its principal funding

source, such is a reflection of the sustained slow-down in the

broadly syndicated loan markets which had previously been

traditional sources of funding for private equity sponsors.

Fundraising for private debt managers had fallen in 2022

versus the previous year but the volume of dry-powder

available alongside the retrenchment of traditional funding
sources sees private debt managers remaining able to seize

attractive direct lending opportunities as they arise.

36

P
age 60



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Private Debt Cycle 3

P

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

2.5 - - -2.3% 2,594,604 83,655 2,510,949 - - - -0.9%

Commitment to Investment

£14.98m

Amount Called

£2.59m

% called to date

17.32

Number of underlying funds

1

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP2.49m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of senior direct loans, predominantly to

PE-sponsored companies

Benchmark

SONIA

Outperformance target

+4%

Launch date

1 April 2022

Commitment to portfolio

£38.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

As of December 2022, Cycle 3 had made commitments to

two Europe-focused managers with an initial capital call by

one manager being issued at the end of 2022. With the

settlement completed, overall deployment is expected to be

~7% of total client commitments and ~17% of capital

committed to funds (which is an encouraging start for the

portfolio). Through 2023, Brunel expects to finalise all
commitments to 5-7 managers, constructing a portfolio with

a senior direct lending focus and a broadly even split across

US and European borrowers. There is expected to be an

alignment of investment portfolios across Cycles 2 and 3 with

respect to geographical focus and allocations to

predominantly senior secured debt.

Given the nascency of capital being called on the portfolio,

quarter-end performance measures were unavailable but

should materialise through the first half of 2023.

*Money weighted return

37

P
age 61



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Infrastructure Cycle 1

P

Europe (incl. UK) 77.0%

North America 19.0%

Rest Of World 4.0%

Country
Commitment in underlying investments

Wind & Solar 36.4%

Diversified Renewables 11.0%

Rail 8.4%

Diversified Social 6.7%

Roads 6.7%

Other 30.8%

Sector

Commitment to Investment

£42.90m

Amount Called

£31.51m

% called to date

73.46

Number of underlying funds

6

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP34.31m

Investment objective

Portfolio of predominantly European sustainable

infrastructure assets

Benchmark

CPI

Outperformance target

+4%

Launch date

1 October 2018

Commitment to portfolio

£43.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

Source: Stepstone

Country data is lagged by one quarter

Source: Stepstone

Sector data is lagged by one quarter

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

34.3 2.8% 17.2% 11.2% 1,491,392 490,177 1,001,215 935,552 2.9% 17.1% 6.3%

*Money weighted return

Macroeconomic pressures continued into Q4. A global

energy security crisis, soaring inflation and rising interest rates

were combining to create a perfect storm for recession. The
macroeconomic woes highlight the importance of investing

in a resilient portfolio of high-quality assets. In light of events

in Ukraine, governments have introduced significant

regulation including REPower EU and the Inflation Reduction

Act, both of which reflect their desire to boost investment

beyond renewables generation and across the value chain.

During Q4, deal flow activity remained strong but also

selective. Brunel was busy in Q4 reviewing a number of
opportunities across all cycles. As at the end of Q4 2022,

Cycle 1 Infrastructure was c.99.8% committed and c.75%

deployed. At the end of Q4, the final tactical deal to

complete Cycle 1 was approved by Brunel and closing is

subject to StepStone’s final due diligence.

Brunel is pleased with the deployment of Cycle 1 and the

overall development of the portfolio. Over the next couple of

years, we expect focus to shift from deployment to

performance and monitoring of the portfolio.

38

P
age 62



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Infrastructure (General) Cycle 2

P

Europe (incl. UK) 70.5%

North America 26.5%

Rest Of World 3.0%

Country
Commitment in underlying investments

Heating & Cooling 31.1%

Energy Efficiency 19.9%

Fibre 11.8%

Towers 7.1%

Roads 5.5%

Other 24.6%

Sector

Commitment to Investment

£65.00m

Amount Called

£41.45m

% called to date

63.78

Number of underlying funds

1

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP43.16m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of infrastructure with a focus on non-RE

sectors and sustainable assets

Benchmark

CPI

Outperformance target

+4%

Launch date

1 May 2020

Commitment to portfolio

£65.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

Source: Stepstone.

Country data is lagged by one quarter

Source: Stepstone

Sector data is lagged by one quarter

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

43.2 5.1% 8.9% 7.4% 8,360,116 68,460 8,291,656 1,821,900 5.1% 4.8% -3.1%

*Money weighted return

For Cycle 2 Infrastructure, clients had the opportunity to

invest either in the ‘Combined’ Infrastructure portfolio (which

allocates 50% to renewables & 50% to general infrastructure);
or via the ‘Renewables only’ (100% to renewables). As a

result, Brunel established two funds of funds with StepStone. .

Macroeconomic pressures continued into Q4. A global

energy security crisis, soaring inflation and rising interest rates

were combining to create a perfect storm for recession. The

macroeconomic woes highlight the importance of investing

in a resilient portfolio of high-quality assets. In light of events

in Ukraine, governments introduced significant regulation
including REPower EU and the Inflation Reduction Act, both

of which reflect their desire to boost investment beyond

renewable generation and across the value chain.

During Q4, deal flow activity remained strong but also

selective. Brunel was busy in Q4 reviewing a number of

opportunities across all cycles. The final tactical deal in the

portfolio was made during Q4, a €30m euro commitment to

a Spanish rural Fibre to the Home platform alongside Vauban
Infrastructure Partners. As a result, Cycle 2G is now fully

committed to six primary funds and seven tactical

investments. At the end of Q4, the portfolio is c.64%

deployed.

Brunel is very pleased with how the Cycle 2G portfolio has

developed. The portfolio is diversified and invested in quality

opportunities.

39

P
age 63



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Infrastructure (Renewables) Cycle 2

P

Europe (incl. UK) 67.0%

North America 19.0%

Rest Of World 14.0%

Country
Commitment in underlying investments

Solar 63.3%

Diversified Renewables 26.5%

Energy Storage 9.1%

Other 1.1%

Sector

Commitment to Investment

£65.00m

Amount Called

£25.86m

% called to date

39.79

Number of underlying funds

1

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP26.79m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of renewable energy and associated

infrastructure assets

Benchmark

CPI

Outperformance target

+4%

Launch date

1 May 2020

Commitment to portfolio

£65.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

Source: Stepstone

Country data is lagged by one quarter

Source: Stepstone

Sector data is lagged by one quarter

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

26.8 9.4% 25.6% 17.4% 5,896,597 1,229,262 4,667,335 2,208,120 10.1% 21.5% 10.5%

*Money weighted return

For Cycle 2 Infrastructure, Clients had the opportunity to

invest either in the ‘Combined’ Infrastructure portfolio (which

allocates 50% to renewables & 50% to general infrastructure);
or via the ‘Renewables only’ (100% to renewables). As a

result, Brunel established two fund of funds with StepStone.

Macroeconomic pressures continued into Q4. A global

energy security crisis, soaring inflation and rising interest rates

were combining to create a perfect storm for recession. On

one hand, surging power prices have boosted performance,

but supply chain tensions keep on affecting the capex

required to deliver projects. Rising interest rates are affecting
valuations negatively and the impact of windfall taxes are still

being monitored. Brunel, however, remains confident a

strong pipeline will ensure deployment of this mandate in line

with Scope and Specification.

During Q4, deal flow activity remained strong. Brunel was

busy in Q4 reviewing several opportunities and two tactical

deals were approved: a global decentralised energy

generation / energy efficiency business, and a private cross-
border transmission line in the US. In addition, Next Energy UK

ESG Fund made its first drawdown in Q4. As at the end of Q4

Cycle 2 R is c.40% deployed across five primary funds. Two

more primary funds and a single tactical deal are required to

complete the cycle, subject to closing of the two Brunel

approved tactical deals.

40

P
age 64



Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Infrastructure Cycle 3

P

Portfolio summary

Market value

(GBP millions)

3 Month

MWR*

1 Year

MWR*

Since Inception

MWR*
Inflows Outflows

Net cash flow

latest quarter

Value added

latest quarter

Contribution

to return:

3 months

Contribution

to return:

1 year

Contribution

to return:

since inception

1.0 - - -3.4% 1,028,272 0 1,028,272 - 0.0% - 0.0%

Commitment to Investment

£20.00m

Amount Called

£1.03m

% called to date

5.14

Number of underlying funds

1

Gloucestershire's Holding:

GBP0.99m

Investment objective

Global portfolio of infrastructure assets, mainly focussed on

climate solutions, energy transition and efficiency

Benchmark

n/a - absolute return target

Outperformance target

net 8% IRR

Launch date

1 April 2022

Commitment to portfolio

£20.00m

The fund is denominated in GBP

Performance commentary

Macroeconomic pressures continued into Q4. A global

energy security crisis, soaring inflation and rising interest rates

were combining to create a perfect storm for recession. The

macroeconomic woes highlight the importance of investing

in a resilient portfolio of high-quality assets. In light of events

in Ukraine, governments have introduced significant

regulation including REPower EU and the Inflation Reduction
Act, both of which reflect their desire to boost investment

beyond renewable generation and across the value chain.

Brunel has been working closely with StepStone over the last

12 months to redefine the scope of Cycle 3 Infrastructure and

was pleased to finalise the LPA in Q3 22. Since the portfolio’s

inception, deal flow activity has been strong but also

selective. The team has been able to benefit from the

expertise within StepStone’s real assets team to include

nature-based solutions investments in Cycle 3. Investing in
sustainable forestry and agricultural strategies allows the

portfolio to benefit from increased portfolio diversification

and positive environmental impact whilst retaining a similar

risk and return profile.

As at the end of Q4, Cycle 3 is 13% committed to three
investments including a €40m primary allocation to Vauban

CIF IV and two tactical deals: Project Appellation, US

hardwood timberlands carbon capture and carbon credit

strategy; and Project Sonate 2, a follow-on to the Cycle 1

New Suez co-investment.

*Money weighted return

41

P
age 65



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

UK Property

Property holdings summary

Holding
Cost

(GBP millions)

Market value

(GBP millions)

Perf.

3 month

Perf.

FYTD

Perf.

1 year

Perf.

3 year

Perf.

5 year

Inception

Date

Brunel UK Property Apr 2020143.6 210.4 -13.8% -11.7% -7.5% - -

-7.51641920

-7.5

0.0

-10.0

0.0

-9.5

0.0

-12.0

-10.0

-8.0

-6.0

-4.0

-2.0

0.0

2.0

1 Year 3 Years

Portfolio Benchmark Objective

Commitment to portfolio

£210.0m

Amount Called

£207.6m

Number of portfolios

22

Investment strategy & key drivers

Portfolio of active UK property funds

seeking capital & income returns

Liquidity

Illiquid

Benchmark

MSCI/AREF UK

Outperformance target

+0.5%

Performance commentary

Property valuations responded to the Bank of England’s rate

hikes with significant falls in NAV, as the asset class adjusted
to future borrowing costs and its relative yield positioning. The

outward yield shift was more pronounced in certain sectors,

particularly in Industrial, where, following very strong returns

over recent years, assets were priced at historically low yields.

Low transaction levels persisted into Q4, given the

uncertainty around pricing. There was debate as to when

repricing would decelerate and stabilise, but it is unlikely that

the impacts of rising rates or the UK recession have fully
played out. Significant redemption requests across property

funds, triggered by forced selling from some corporate DB

schemes, resulted in many managers announcing

redemption deferrals, adding to investor caution.

Secondary markets remained illiquid in Q4, despite buyers

being offered discounts to NAV pricing of over 20% to 3Q

NAVs, as sellers sought liquidity. The market remained

uncertain as to whether even such large discounts were

sufficient to compensate for further potential capital falls in

4Q and early 2023.

On the brighter side, occupier markets held firm, despite fears

of an imminent recession. Some sectors, like Industrial and
Residential, are still expected to see rental growth in 2023,

given their occupational supply/demand dynamics.

Though Brunel paused secondary trading in Q4, client funds

were committed to Orchard Street’s new impact fund in
October. This cross-sector fund will look to acquire unloved

assets in good locations and use its management expertise

to improve the environmental and social metrics of each

building through refurbishment and repurposing. The fund

should benefit from the current economic environment, as

potential opportunities reprice to lower levels.

42

P
age 66



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

International Property

Property holdings summary

Holding
Cost

(GBP millions)

Market value

(GBP millions)

Perf.

3 month**

Perf.

FYTD**

Perf.

1 year**

Perf.

3 year**

Perf.

5 year**

Inception

Date

Brunel International Property Apr 20209.6 51.5 9.2% 23.2% 34.5% - -

34.47765041

34.5

0.0

14.7

0.0

15.2

0.0
0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

1 Year 3 Years

Portfolio** Benchmark** Objective**

**Data shown up to 30 September 2022

Commitment to portfolio

£64.2m

Amount Called

£39.3m

Number of portfolios

10

Investment strategy & key drivers

Portfolio of active International property

funds seeking capital & income returns

Liquidity

Illiquid

Benchmark

GREFI

Outperformance target

+0.5%

Performance commentary

In early September global real estate performance turned to

the downside, which continued into Q4, burdened by
outsized losses in Europe as sky-high inflation, an unfolding

energy crisis, and slowing growth prospects weighed heavily.

The Americas fared relatively better, but still sustained

sizeable losses, pressured broadly by the rising interest rate

backdrop as central banks, led by the Fed, focused on

reining in rampant inflation. Australia and Japan followed,

while Asia ex- Japan was the only region to flirt with year-to-

date gains. Property valuations in the region got off to a
rough start following lockdowns in Beijing and as concerns

mounted over the health of China’s real estate sector;

however, a rollback of COVID-19 restrictions provided price

support, catalysing an impressive recovery towards the end

of the year.

The key driver of the repricing in public and private markets

alike is the sharp rise in market interest rates. This raises the

required return for real estate, pushing up yields if not

accompanied by either higher growth expectations or lower

risk perceptions.

Brunel was fully drawn on the Invesco Real Estate Asia Fund

in December, with payment due in early January.

**Data shown up to 30 September 2022

43

P
age 67



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Glossary

G

Term Comment

absolute risk
Overall assessment of the volatility that an investment will

have

ACS
Authorised Contractual Scheme - a collective investment

arrangement that holds and manages assets on behalf of a

number of investors

active risk/weight
A measure of the percentage of a holding that differs from

the benchmark index; can relate to an equity, a sector or a

country/region

amount called
In private investments, this reflects the actual investment

amount that has been drawn down

amount committed
In private investments, this is the amount that a client has

committed to an investment - it will be drawn down (called)

during the investment period

annualised return Returns are quoted on an annualised basis, net of fees

asset allocation
Performance driven by selecting specific country or sector

positions

basis points (BP)
A basis point is 0.01% - so 100bps is 1.0%. Often used for fund

performance and management fees

CTB
Climate Transition Benchmark - targets 30% lower carbon

exposure from 2020 and then a 7% annual reduction

DLUHC
Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities; the

government body with oversight of pooling

DPI
Distributed to Paid In; ratio of money distributed to Limited

Partners by the Fund, relative to contributions. Used for private

markets investments

duration

A measure of bond price sensitivity to changes in interest

rates. A high duration suggests a bond's price will fall by

relatively more if interest rates increase than a bond with a

low duration

Term Comment

ESG

ESG is an umbrella term to capture the various environmental,

social and governance risks investors factor into their

assessment of a company's sustainability profile. Brunel views

assessing ESG factors as a central part of our fiduciary duty

ESG Score

MSCI score based on its assessment of the ESG credentials of

an underlying investment. If the portfolio score is below the

index, the portfolio is assessed by MSCI to be investing in

companies with a better ESG score

extractive exposures VOH
Value of Holdings of invested companies which derive

revenues from extractive industries

general partner (GP)
In Private Equity, the GP is usually the firm that manages the

fund

gross performance Performance before deduction of fees

Growth
Growth stocks typically exhibit faster long term growth

prospects and are often valued at higher price multiples

IRR
Internal Rate of Return - a return that takes account of actual

money invested

legacy assets Client assets not managed via the Brunel Pension Partnership

limited partner (LP)
In private equity, an LP is usually a third party investor in the

fund

Low Volatility
Low Volatility is a strategy that attempts to minimise the return

volatility.

Momentum
An investment strategy that aims to capitalize on the

continuance of existing trends in the market

MWR
Money weighted return - similar to an IRR - it reflects the

actual investment return taking into account cashflows

net performance Performance after deduction of all fees

44

P
age 68



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

Glossary

Term Comment

PAB
Paris-Aligned Benchmark - targets a 50% lower carbon

exposure from 2020 and then a 7% annual reduction

Quality
Quality stocks typically have a high Return on Equity, a very

consistent profit outcome and exhibit higher and stable

margins

relative risk Relative volatility when compared with a benchmark

sector/stock selection
Performance driven by the selection of individual investments

within a country or sector

since inception Period since the portfolio was formed

since initial investment Period since the client made its first investment in the fund

SONIA
Sterling Overnight Index Average - Overnight interbank

interest rate - replacement for LIBOR

source of performance data
Source of performance data is provided net of fees by State

Street Global Services unless otherwise indicated

standard deviation

Standard deviation is a measure of volatility for an investment

using historical data. Volatility is used as a measure of

investment risk. A higher number may indicate a more volatile

(or riskier) investment but should be taken in context with

other measures of risk

time-weighted return
A return measure that takes no account of actual amounts

invested

total extractive exposure
Revenue derived from extractive operations as a % of total

corporate revenue

total return (TR)
Total Return - including price change and accumulated

dividends

tracking error
A measure of relative volatility around a benchmark. A fund

which differs greatly from the benchmark is likely to have a

high tracking error

Term Comment

transitioned assets
Client assets that have been transferred to the Brunel Pension

Partnership

TVPI

Total Value to Paid In; ratio of the current value of remaining

investments within a fund, plus the total value of all

distributions to date, relative to the total amount of capital

paid in

Value
Value stocks typically have a low valuation when measured

on a Price to Book or Price to earnings ratio

WACI

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity; measures the carbon

intensity of businesses rather than total carbon emissions. It is

expressed as tonnes of CO2 equivalent per million GBP of

investment exposure

yield to worst
Lowest possible yield on a bond portfolio assuming no

defaults

45

P
age 69



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public D

Disclaimer
Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

Brunel accepts no liability for loss arising for the use of this material and any opinions expressed are current (at time of publication) only. This report is not meant as

a guide to investing or as a source of specific investment recommendations and does not constitute investment research. Whilst all reasonable steps have been

taken to ensure the accuracy of the information provided, Brunel has no liability to any persons for any errors or omissions contained within this document. There

are risks associated with making investments, including the loss of capital invested. Past performance is not an indicator to future performance.

Brunel provides products and services to professional, institutional investors and its services are not directed at, or open to, retail clients.

Certain information included in this report may have been sourced from third parties. While Brunel believes that such third party information is reliable, Brunel does

not guarantee its accuracy, timeliness or completeness and it is subject to change without notice.

Nothing in this report should be interpreted to state or imply that past performance is an indicator of future performance. References to benchmark or indices are

provided for information only and do not imply that your portfolio will achieve similar results.

Performance data is provided net of fees by State Street Global Services unless otherwise indicated.

The Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS®) was developed by and is the exclusive property of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc.

and Standard & Poor's. GICS is a service mark of MSCI and S&P and has been licensed for use by State Street Bank and Trust Company.

The Industry Classification Benchmark is a joint product of FTSE International Limited and Dow Jones & Company, Inc. and has been licensed for use.'FTSE' is a

trade and service mark of London Stock Exchange and The Financial Times Limited. "Dow Jones" and "DJ" are trade and service marks of Dow Jones & Company

Inc. FTSE and Dow Jones do not accept any liability to any person for any loss or damage arising out of any error or omission in the ICB.

This material is for information only and for the sole use of the recipient, it is not to be reproduced, copied or shared. The report was prepared utilising agreed

scenarios, assumptions and formats.

Performance Report Quarter ending 31 December 2022

Summary

3

Overview of

assets

5

Strategic asset

allocation

6

Performance

attribution

7

Responsible

investment

9

Risk and return

10

Portfolio

overview

12

CIO commentary

15

Portfolios

18

Glossary

44

Disclaimer

46

46

P
age 70



Brunel Pension Partnership

Forging better futures

Classification: Public 47

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts:  

John Arthur      Thanos Papasavvas 

Senior Adviser      Senior Adviser 

+44 20 7079 1000     +44 20 7079 1000 

John.Arthur@mjhudson.com    Thanos.Papasavvas@mjhudson.com 

 

This document is directed only at the person(s) identified on the front cover of this document on 
the basis of our investment advisory agreement. No liability is admitted to any other user of this 
report and if you are not the named recipient you should not seek to rely upon it. 

MJ Hudson's Investment Advisory business comprises the following companies: MJ Hudson 
Investment Advisers Limited (no. 4533331), MJ Hudson Investment Solutions Limited (no. 10796384) 
and MJ Hudson Trustee Services Limited (no. 12799619), which are limited companies registered in 
England & Wales. Registered Office: 1 Frederick’s Place, London, EC2R 8AE. 

MJ Hudson Investment Advisers Limited (FRN 539747) is an Appointed Representatives of MJ Hudson 
Advisers Limited (FRN 692447) which is Authorised and Regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.  

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Quarterly Report 
Q4 2022 
 

 

 

Page 73

mailto:John.Arthur@mjhudson.com
mailto:Thanos.Papasavvas@mjhudson.com


2 
 

Performance Summary 

The fourth quarter showed some rebound from the poor performance of the first 9 months as, although central banks 

continued to raise interest rates, markets began to look forward to a period of falling inflation. The table below shows that 

whilst many asset classes recovered in the fourth quarter, they were still down over 2022 as a whole.  

 

Source: Bloomberg 
All return figures quoted are total return, calculated with gross dividends/income reinvested. 
 

The Fund rose by 2.1% over the quarter which looks poor given the equity market recovery shown in the table above but 

the asset class returns quoted above are in local currency. The recovery in Sterling from the Truss/Kwarteng debacle has 

been reasonably rapid but has actually been driven more by the weakness of the US Dollar than by Sterling strength. US 

Page 74



3 
 

domiciled stocks account for over 60% of the MSCI Global Equity index. A global equity portfolio hedged back to Sterling 

would have returned nearer 7% over the quarter. This Fund return outperformed that of the benchmark by 0.1%. The Fund 

was valued at  £2.947bn at the year end. Over the last year the Fund fell by -8.7%, against a fall in the benchmark of -6.9%.  

As discussed in the previous report, this underperformance was mainly at the manager level and given the market 

movements of last year would seem to be linked to the low carbon approach driven by Brunel in their manager selection 

process as energy stocks were one of the very few positive areas of return last year. Over the longer term the Fund has 

risen by 7.9% per annum which is in line with the benchmark. 

Issues for the Future 

• To decide whether to follow the Government’s Levelling-Up agenda in setting aside 5% of the Fund to invest in UK 

based Infrastructure and Social/Affordable housing. 

Comment 

Interest rates continue to rise and will do so for at least another quarter across the US, UK and EU. The questions are: 

• Has inflation peaked? 

• How quickly it will come down?  

• Will the rise in interest rates cause a recession? 

The answer to these questions will set the tone for markets globally because all asset classes are, to some extent, priced 

off the expected government bond yield (theoretical risk free rate). 

The chart below shows the Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) rate for the major economies. This is a year on year comparison 

and measures how much prices have changed against this time last year. We are now at the stage where the rapid rise in 

energy prices following the Russian invasion of Ukraine will fall out of the year on year comparison and be replaced by 

falling prices for energy as gas and oil prices have fallen back from their peak. This will push inflation lower at quite a pace 

and has the potential to push inflation below 5% quite quickly in some areas.  

Chart 1: CPI – Annual rate of Inflation - Five Years to December 2022 

 
 
Source: Bloomberg 
Notes: UK: UK CPI EU Harmonised YoY NSA (Ticker: UKRPCJYR Index); US: US CPI Urban Consumer YoY NSA (Ticker: CPI YOY Index); Eurozone: Eurostat Eurozone MUICP All 
Items YoY Flash Estimate (Ticker: ECCPEST Index); Japan: Japan CPI Nationwide YOY (Ticker: JNCPIYOY Index) 

 

As can be seen from this chart, US inflation looks to have peaked and this should be followed by the Eurozone and hopefully 

UK inflation.  

In addition to falling energy prices due to a warm winter in the northern hemisphere lowering demand and enabling Europe 

to replace Russian gas with gas from other sources, the common thread on inflation is that the global supply chain 

-2.0%
-1.0%
0.0%
1.0%
2.0%
3.0%
4.0%
5.0%
6.0%
7.0%
8.0%
9.0%

10.0%
11.0%
12.0%

D
ec

-1
7

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

D
ec

-1
8

M
ar

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Se
p-

19

D
ec

-1
9

M
ar

-2
0

Ju
n-

20

Se
p-

20

D
ec

-2
0

M
ar

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Se
p-

21

D
ec

-2
1

M
ar

-2
2

Ju
n-

22

Se
p-

22

D
ec

-2
2

UK US Eurozone Japan Bank of England Target

Page 75



4 
 

disruptions post Covid are being solved as shown by falling shipping rates. The chart below shows the cost of shipping a 

standard container from China to the US west coast.  

Chart 2: Container shipping rates 

 

 

This chart is echoed in second hand car prices which are now falling and further evidenced by the recent cut in the list price 

of Tesla’s model Y by 20% amongst other data points all indicating that supply chains are becoming more efficient again. 

However, in the US, part of the inflationary problem is a very tight labour market which has been pushing up wages. This 

will only change when the economy slows, reducing the demand for labour and raising unemployment. Arguably, this can 

only be achieved by causing a recession. Historically, we have not seen an increase in US interest rates of the current 

magnitude, over a such a short period of time, without it causing a recession.  

Even as inflation slows in the US, it is energy and food inflation which is coming down. Wage inflation and service sector 

inflation will be much harder to squeeze out of the system and I am concerned that the US Federal Reserve (US Fed), which 

sets US interest rates, may hold interest rates higher for longer than the market now expects. 

The chart below shows the US unemployment rate which is still at multi decade lows suggesting little slack in the economy 

and will force a continuation of wage inflation. 

Chart 3: US Unemployment rate 

 

The level of job vacancies continues to run at a multiple of those looking for work and wage pressures are only slowly rolling 

over. 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



5 
 

Chart 4: US Wage Growth 

 

Within Europe, energy prices have had a much more direct effect on inflation due to the reliance of the region on Russian 

gas prior to the invasion of Ukraine. The fact the energy prices are now well below the level hit last year will mean that their 

effect on inflation will fall out of the calculation very rapidly and we will see falling inflation for the region going forward. 

Nonetheless, I would expect the European Central Bank to continue to raise interest rates for a while yet. Europe does not 

have such a tight labour market as the US and hence wage growth is likely to come under control much faster in this region 

providing the Russian war in Ukraine does not cause further disruptions. 

Unfortunately, the problem child is the UK where our energy prices are linked to the European gas price and we have a 

labour shortage in a number of sectors, in part caused by Brexit. When I wrote about Brexit 5 years ago, my expectation 

was that there would be a short-term cost as regulations changed but that over the long-term, the UK’s innovative and 

entrepreneurial spirit would eventually shine through, the problem was I was unsure of how long that would take, 

potentially a couple of years or potentially a generation! Unfortunately, not one of the string of governments we have had 

post Brexit has really thought through how to reorganise the UK economy and to enact detailed regulation to take 

advantage of leaving the EU. There appears to be no long-term planning and little intellectual foresight at present. The UK 

is predicted by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) to have the slowest economic growth of all G7 developed countries 

for both 2023 and 2024 and be the only G7 country where the economy has failed to recover to pre Covid levels over this 

period. 

For Investors, there has been a substantial rally in global equity markets from the October lows, with the MSCI global equity 

index up 17% by end January 2023, investors now seem to be predicting that the US and EU will not enter a recession this 

year, inflation will fall back below 5% and that central banks will stop rising interest rates soon and start cutting by year 

end. Whilst this is possible it does not seem the most likely scenario for the future to me. If either the economy weakens 

into a recession or stays strong forcing central banks to raise interest rates further, then markets may struggle to make 

further progress for much of this year. The US will remain the lead economy and therefore the actions of the US Fed are 

likely to set the market tone. 

There are three potential economic outcomes for the future to my mind, listed below. I have added my own thoughts on 

the probability of each outcome:- 

1) A ‘Soft Landing’ with the US Fed hiking rates from the current 4.5% up to 5% over the spring and then pausing 

during which time US inflation slows allowing the US Fed to cut interest rates into a slowing economy during the 

second half of this year. In this scenario, Equities would rise further as we would revert to a low interest rate 

environment. (Likelihood 10%.) 

Page 77



6 
 

2) A quick ‘Hard Landing’ as the effect of the recent rises in interest rates finally impacts the consumer, the economy 

slows rapidly allowing the US Fed to step in and cut rates. In this scenario Equities would fall as corporate earnings 

expectations take a hit but short-dated bonds would do well as interest rates are cut in the second half of the year. 

(Likelihood 20%.) 

3) Persistent underlying inflation and a longer recession. In this scenario, the US Fed raises rates to 5% over the next 

few months and then pauses as inflation is falling. However, because the fall in inflation is driven by falling energy 

prices and other more transitory factors rather than falling wage growth, inflation bottoms in the summer but 

then rises back towards 5% forcing the US Fed to recommence raising interest rates in the autumn, this is likely to 

drive both equities and bonds lower. (Likelihood 70%.) 

I would note that corporate profit margins are at extreme levels at present, as shown in the charts below. It may be that 

corporates will allow profit margins to reduce in the interest of retaining labour, but the chart suggests there should be 

little further upside in profit margins from current levels and the potential for earnings downgrades during a recession is 

high. This would undermine current earnings valuations. 

Chart 5: Global profit margins 

 

Long-Term Capital Market (LTCM) Assumptions  

Below is printed a table of forecast asset class returns produced by J.P. Morgan, I find these the most comprehensive. The 

exception is the return forecast for Social/Affordable housing which is an MJ Hudson figure using a combination of forecasts 

from various asset managers active in this sector and cross checked by our analysts. Whilst there is some difference 

between the forecast returns set out here and those forecast by the Fund’s individual asset managers, the actual numbers 

are not dissimilar and, in particular, the relative returns forecast between the various asset classes are fairly consistent.  

These are 10-year forecasts and given that interest rates are still rising and a number of major economies may be about to 

enter a recession, forecast returns may be back-end loaded from here with the next two years remaining difficult. 

 

 

 

The table below sets out the LTCM forecast produced by JP Morgan in 2021 and 2022. 

Page 78



7 
 

Asset Class Index 2021 10 year 

return forecast 

2022 10 year 

return forecast 

2022 volatility forecast 

Global Equities MSCI AC World 5.2% 6.7% 13.9% 

Fixed interest  UK Gilts 0.0% 4.2% 7.6% 

 Global Investment Grade Bonds 2.5% 5.1% 5.4% 

 UK Investment Grade Bonds 2.2% 4.2% 7.6% 

Property UK Core Real Estate 6.6% 5.5% 13.0% 

 US Core Real Estate 5.6% 3.9% 10.2% 

Alternatives Global Core infrastructure 5.8% 4.5% 10.8% 

 Private Equity 8.2% 8.1% 17.5% 

 Private Debt 7.4% 6.0% 15.8% 

 Social/Affordable housing 4.0% 4.0% 10.8% 

  

Since these forecasts were made, the main change has been a fall in the valuation of Real Estate assets and, to a lesser 

extent, Infrastructure.  The valuation of both these assets is influenced by Bond yields but, due to the illiquid nature of real 

estate and infrastructure, they re-price with a lag following the rise in bond yields (fall in prices). Real Estate was the poorest 

performing asset this quarter having held up well through 2022. 

Government Levelling-Up agenda 

As the Committee is aware, there is possible future legislation mandating that UK Local Government Pension Schemes 

(LGPS) to invest 5% of their assets in UK based projects, for example assets like Infrastructure and Social/Affordable housing. 

Whilst nothing concrete has been outlined yet, the Pensions Committee is considering the allocation of 5% of the Fund to 

infrastructure and Social/Affordable Housing in the UK. This would fit with the outcome of the Funds strategic Asset 

Allocation Review conducted during the summer of 2022. 5% of the Fund equates to around £150m, I would suggest not 

being too prescriptive about the breakdown of this £150m between Infrastructure and Social/Affordable Housing as the 

exact balance will depend on the availability of the underlying  assets. I would also look to avoid investing entirely in the 

Gloucestershire area as this will limit the number of assets available and may lead to a concentration of investment into a 

small number of assets which increases the operational risk of one such asset having issues. It would be better to look 

nationally or, potentially, to work with other Brunel member funds in this area. 

Infrastructure 

Our strategic assumptions in the table above are for “core” infrastructure, which is the most conservative in terms of 

risk/return profile. The regular income stream can provide good portfolio diversification with an often inflation-linked 

income profile. However, a key concern is the entry price of these assets in light of the wider market sell-off in 2022. Many 

assets, as they are illiquid, have not yet been repriced to reflect more recent conditions and higher gilt yields. Consequently, 

the long-term assumptions are currently low. This repricing has started to happen over the fourth quarter 2022. 

There are potentially higher returns in non-core infrastructure, the so-called “core-plus”, “value-added” and 

“opportunistic” sub-strategies. These typically involve greater risk from higher leveraged assets and potentially some 

degree of construction risk. We have not modelled allocations to these. 

Investing in renewable energy infrastructure is compelling from an ESG standpoint and attractive in the long-term, as the 

world attempts to address climate change. The war in Ukraine has also highlighted the importance of energy security which 

is further supportive of the energy transition tailwind. However, the sector has faced challenges in recent years as many of 

the “early mover” subsidy incentives from the Government have been withdrawn. In addition, there are short-term 

concerns over Government windfall taxes targeting all energy companies, including renewables, to help subsidise 

skyrocketing energy bills for both consumers and businesses. 

 

Page 79



8 
 

Social/Affordable Housing 

Investment into Social/Affordable housing is also attractive from a “levelling-up”/ESG perspective and has started to gain 

popularity with other LGPS and Pools looking for ESG-friendly impact investment exposure. However, one must consider 

the Fund’s current allocation to property (10.3%), the lower risk/return profile compared to “standard” UK commercial 

property and the now comparative attractiveness of fixed income. Now that forecasted returns for UK Gilts are much higher 

(making them comparable to forecast returns for social housing), with lower forecasted risk, there is a weaker  argument 

to make for this asset class at the current moment in time. 

Given the potential for both UK Infrastructure and Social/Affordable housing to reprice downward over the next couple of 

years to reflect higher UK gilt yields, it makes sense to create an allocation and be operationally ready to invest into both 

these asset classes but delay the actual point of committing capital at the current time awaiting a more attractive entry 

point. 

Strategic Asset Allocation 

At the last Pensions Committee meeting it was agreed to allocate 5% of the Fund to Social/Affordable housing and increase 

the allocation to Infrastructure by 2% giving greater diversification and the ability to create a social impact potentially within 

the South West region. The money for this is to come from UK Equities (-2%) and Fixed Interest (-5%). The work for this 

recommendation was conducted over the summer and asset prices have moved substantially from then, particularly for UK 

Gilts. Whilst the allocation changes still make sense, the timing of such a move will need to  be given appropriate 

consideration.  

The current asset allocation against the Strategic Benchmark is given in the table below. The last column gives the amount 

which would need to be invested/divested to bring each asset class weighting into line with the Strategic Benchmark. 

Figures may not add up due to rounding 

The Fund has committed to invest into Alternative Asset classes via Brunel who will be responsible for selecting the 

individual managers and funds for each of these asset classes going forward. Much of the cash awaiting drawdown is 

currently held in the Diversified Risk portfolio as this provides an acceptable return at relatively low risk. Commitments 

made so far are as follows:  

Invested/Committed Private Equity Infrastructure Private Debt 

Cycle 1 March 2018 £33m/£40m £32m/£40m £58m*/£80m 

Cycle 2 Apr 2020 £20m/£70m £53m/£130m £46m/£120m 

Cycle 3 Apr 2022 £0m/£16m £1m/£38m £0m/£20m 

Total £53m/£126m £86m/£208m £104m/£220m 

*Allocated by GCCPF in June 2017, the managers are now returning capital to investors. 

Asset class Asset Allocation 

as at 31/12/22 

New SAA going 

forward 

Position against 

the new SAA 

Transition 

required in cash 

terms 

Equities 57.1% 55% +2.1% -£62m 

Fixed Interest 17.2% 22% -4.8% +£141m 

Property 8.9% 10% -1.1% +£32m 

Diversified Risk 6.8% 0% +6.8% -£201m 

Alternatives 9.6% 13.0% -3.4% +£100m 

Cash 0.3% 0% +0.3% -£8m 

Page 80



9 
 

The Fund has currently committed a total of £554m to Alternatives of which £474m is via Brunel. This compares to a 

requirement to invest £383m to achieve the weighting within the new Strategic Benchmark in Alternatives. Assuming an 

80% maximum investment of committed capital these figures remain approximately in line.  

The Fund committed to the existing Private Debt portfolios invested with Golub and Arcmont in mid 2017 and these two 

portfolios have performed above expectations returning 10.5% p.a. and 6.1% p.a. respectively against a benchmark return 

of 5.7% in the 4+ years since inception. These are now in wind-down and have begun returning cash to shareholders and 

so a further commitment will be required to retain the target weighting in this asset class. The Fund has indicated that it 

will make further commitments but has not finalised the amounts. Brunel are moving forward with selecting managers in 

each of the Infrastructure, Private Equity and Private Debt portfolios.    

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 

The text below is taken directly from Brunel’s recently released Climate Change 2023-2030 announcement and follows an 

in depth review of their existing climate change policy and its effectiveness. Brunel’s commitment to the climate change 

agenda is commendable and I recognise it has a lot of support within the Gloucestershire Pensions Committee. I would note 

that in agreeing to Brunel’s agenda the Committee is agreeing to their desire to take an industry leading role in this area. 

Brunel’s attitude towards climate change already influences their selection of investment managers and how those 

managers select underlying investments and will do so increasingly into the future. This will influence where risk is being 

taken within each portfolio and, whilst not adapting to climate change is quite possibly the greatest risk, in doing so ahead 

of industry peers carries an expense both in real terms and terms of relative performance against ones peers. It is likely 

that the Fund will have to accept greater short-term volatility in performance whilst looking to achieve its climate change 

aims and we have already seen this in the good performance across most underlying investment managers employed by 

Brunel in 2020 and 2021 and in the poor performance in 2022 when energy stocks were amougst the very few areas of the 

market which rose in value.  

Brunel’s new Policy will not only affect how we design and evolve our portfolios. It will also impact how we recruit and 

monitor the managers we appoint to run mandates on those portfolios. Finally, it will impact how we engage more broadly 

beyond our partnership, whether coordinating with other asset owners on RI issues, or pressuring companies to improve 

their practices. 

Executive Summary 
 

• Q4 was a very positive quarter for risk assets generally, with equities and credit rebounding from losses in Q3 as 

investors have grown more optimistic that inflation may have peaked and central banks will soon have reason to end 

their rate hikes. Inflation still remains uncomfortably high however, and central bank rhetoric has so far remained 

hawkish. Long-term bond yields showed little overall movement (with the exception of UK gilts returning to normality), 

while short-term yields generally rose as monetary policy was tightened further. Additional positive impetus was 

provided by China’s relaxing of its zero-COVID policy, improving the outlook for growth in its economy and by the 

surprising resilience of European gas supplies, reducing oil/gas prices and easing fears of recession: oil and gas finished 

the year only 10% and 20% above their end-2021 levels. Equity markets rallied this quarter, especially beleaguered 

European and Emerging Markets, although global equities are overall unchanged from June 2022 levels, despite volatile 

price moves in this period. The UK was one of the best-performing equity markets and Sterling recovered some of its 

earlier losses vs the US Dollar. Value stocks (+14.2%) outperformed growth (+4.6%) by a wide margin this quarter.  

• GDP growth and labour markets: Despite the on-going recovery from the pandemic, the impact of tight monetary 

policy and the war in Ukraine are expected to slow growth, particularly in the UK and Europe. Labour markets have, to 

date, remained strong with unemployment at very low levels historically for the US, UK and Europe (3.5%, 3.7%, and 

6.0% respectively from the most recent data).  

• The ‘new’ UK Government under Rishi Sunak has restored order to gilt markets and Sterling by promising fiscally 

conservative plans. Markets have so far looked favourably on this and returned bond yields to their former positions 

relative to peer yields although this has not entirely fed through to mortgage rates yet.  

• It is worth highlighting the following themes, impacting investment markets: 

Page 81



10 
 

o Inflation – the story after the peak. While CPI inflation appears to have now peaked for the US, UK and Europe, 

concern remains over how rapidly and to what level inflation will fall. There are indications of inflation becoming 

more entrenched, but investors appear to be pricing in a more rapid cut in rates than that which central banks are 

currently forecasting. Euro inflation reached 10.6% in October, a fresh high, however this fell in November to 

10.1%. Similarly for the UK, a high of 11.1% was reached in October before falling in November. For the US, the 

high in CPI appears to have been reached in June at 9.1% and has since declined to 7.1%.  

o Inflation vs Recession – the next stage for monetary policy. Monetary policy continued to tighten in most major 

developed countries, with the Fed, the BoE and the ECB all raising rates several times in Q4. Markets now expect 

rates to peak at ~4.5% for the UK, ~5% for the US, and a little over 3% for the ECB which indicates hiking cycles are 

coming towards their end. In addition, the Bank of Japan (BoJ) surprised markets by lifting the yield ceiling for their 

10-year bond to 0.5% from 0.25%. The BoJ noted this was to restore proper market function, but as the BoJ owns 

over half of the bonds in issue, investors have questioned if there is another rationale for the change. Prime 

Minister Kishida has also announced they will discuss the BoJ’s inflation target approach when a new BoJ Governor 

starts his term in April.  

o A return to fixed income? The repricing of debt of all forms, following the rapid rises in interest rates last year, 

has increased yields on many fixed interest asset classes, potentially increasing long-term returns. Interest rates 

are now in a more volatile phase, in marked contrast to the repressed volatility of the past decade of QE, so this 

potential for improved returns is likely to come with increased volatility.  

o Equity valuations reflect “mild” recession – earnings on watch in 2023. Following the 18% decline in US equities 

in 2022, they are now trading at 16.5x forward earnings, below the 10-year average of 17.2x, but up from 15x in 

Q3. Over the course of Q4, expectations for 2023 earnings fell by -4.4% with much of the negative impact expected 

in the first half of 2023 and, some of the leading economic indicators (e.g. ISM survey data) are starting to signal 

a recession. Investors appear willing to look through any potential decline in earnings, but clearly there remains a 

risk to earnings as corporate profit margins remain elevated by historical standards and inflating costs may yet 

impact these. 

o Energy crisis: off the boil, but not gone. While the immediate threat of blackouts in Europe this winter has 

probably been avoided and gas storage levels are high, the problem is not over. Furthermore. China’s reopening 

is likely to increase demand pressure on global supplies.  

• Global equities rose sharply in Q4, as inflation appears to have now peaked and investors expect that central banks will 

not need to maintain restrictive monetary policies for as long as they have been guiding. Given the rise in equity 

markets, the VIX which measures equity volatility and can be read as a “fear” gauge decreased by -31.5%, from 32 to 

22, although this level is above the pre-COVID-19 average. 

o In the US, the S&P 500 rose by 7.5% and the NASDAQ fell by -1.0% as markets rallied due to falling inflation data, 

but investors remain wary of growth and tech stocks. A number of tech companies have announced staff layoffs 

and cost cutting measures in a response to investor concerns.  

o UK equities rallied in Q4, rising 8.7% as investors welcomed the government leadership change and return to a 

normal market functioning of gilts following the Truss/Kwarteng debacle and subsequent BoE intervention in the 

Gilt market. Energy price declines amid warmer temperature and rising inventories of natural gas also helped 

temper inflation expectations. The BoE raised the base rate to 3.5% in December, however two committee 

members voted to keep rates unchanged which could signal the start of a shift toward more dovish policy. The 

BoE also expects Q4 GDP at -0.1%, a 0.2% improvement from its November report. 

o The Euro Stoxx 50 rose by 14.9% in Q4 as investors were cheered by inflation data declining in the quarter, albeit 

it is still at high levels. Inflation in Europe has been particularly high due to the impact of energy prices following 

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and their consequent impact on European energy supply.  

o Japanese equities underperformed other equity markets, rising by only 0.7% in Q4. Japanese equities performed 

well in the quarter until core CPI in December was announced at a 40-year high and the BoJ increased the ceiling 

of the trading range for the 10-year bond to 0.5% (from 0.25%) which proved a headwind for equities. While 

inflation remains well below other major economies, investors are wary of a hawkish pivot at upcoming BoJ 

meetings due to the impending retirement of Governor Kuroda. The Yen reached a high (i.e. a weak Yen) of 150 

vs the US Dollar during Q4 but ended the year at 131 following the inflation peak and yield curve adjustment.  

Page 82



11 
 

o Emerging market equities performed strongly (+9.6%) with sentiment improving in China following the 

announcement of COVID-19 restrictions easing. US Dollar weakness also provided a boost. 

• Medium and longer term bond yields were largely rangebound in Q4 as investors weighed expected declines in inflation 

against central banks’ desires to ensure inflation is stamped out. Additionally, employment data generally has remained 

strong which provides the impetus for central banks to hike rates now while labour markets are viewed as strong 

enough to withstand it. In corporate bonds, high-yield credit outperformed as spreads tightened over the quarter but 

remain around their long-term average level. Emerging market bonds rose 7.8% in local currency and 8.1% in hard 

currency. 

o The US 10-year Treasury yield rose marginally in Q4 ending at 3.88% from 3.83%. The 2-year yield rose in Q4, from 

4.22% to 4.41%, as the yield curve inverted further. US rates rose initially in the quarter as core inflation data 

continued to be strong and the US Fed speakers maintained the narrative that hawkish policy needed to be 

maintained. Later in the quarter rates fell though, as markets took the view that the US Fed will pivot and cut rates 

in 2023 as inflation falls, spurred by recent falls in monthly CPI data. The US Fed raised short term rates to 4.25-

4.5% as at end of Q4..  

o The UK 10-year Gilt yield fell from 4.09% to 3.67% and the 2-year from 4.30% to 3.56%. The declines largely 

reflected markets returning to normal following the spike in yields in Q3 following the disastrous Truss 

government ‘mini budget’ and occurred despite the BoE hiking rates by 125bps. While Gilt  rates fell sharply over 

the quarter, UK Gilts now trade in a similar relative position to peer Government bonds as they did before Q3.  

o European Government Bonds had a total return of -2.1% in Q4. Yield curves flattened or inverted during the 

quarter, as short end rates rose in response to the ECB raising its policy rate to 2.5% during the quarter and noted 

it expects to hike rates further based on its inflation outlook. Long-end rates rose less, as investors view inflation 

as likely to fall steadily. The German 10-year Bund yield increased from 2.11% to 2.57%, and Italy’s went up from 

4.51% to 4.70%. 

o US high-yield bonds outperformed investment grade, returning 4.2%, and European high-yield bonds returned 

4.7%. Investment-grade bonds returned 6.4% in the UK, 1.7% in Europe and 3.6% in the US. 

• Energy prices fluctuated during Q4 as investors mulled over China re-opening, risk of looming recessions in Europe, UK 

and USA and warmer weather than expected reducing near-term demand for natural gas. Precious metals rose as the 

US Dollar declined and also received a boost from falling interest rates. 

o US gas prices fell -33.9% over Q4, reversing some of the sharp gains earlier in 2022 as winter weather has been 

warmer than expected (reducing demand) and inventories have been higher than previously expected.  

o Brent crude oil fell -2.3% in Q4. Prices have been volatile as fears of a fall in demand from a global recession and 

structural trends toward renewable energy have clashed with supply side dynamics relating to Russia’s invasion 

of Ukraine, OPEC production and the US releasing oil from its Strategic Petroleum Reserve. Brent closed the 

quarter at US$86 per barrel. 

o Gold and Copper rose 9.9% and 11.7% respectively in Q4, with gold rising as interest rates and the US dollar 

declined, as well as reports of central banks including China and Turkey increasing their purchases. Copper rose 

as China, a significant copper importer, announced the start of COVID-19 re-opening. Gold and copper closed Q4 

at 1,826 USD/oz and 381 USD/lb, respectively. 

• Global listed property had another weak quarter, with the FTSE EPRA Nareit Global Index falling -0.3% in Q4.  

o The Nationwide House Price Index in the UK fell sharply over the quarter, with YoY growth at 2.8% for December. 

This is markedly down from 9.5% YoY growth in Q3, and 10.7% in Q2. The performance by region showed a smaller 

variance than prior years as the macro environment of high inflation and high mortgage rates are impacting 

affordability as real wages struggle to keep up.  

o European commercial property remained under pressure in Q4, with the Green Street Commercial Property Price 

Index down by -7% this quarter and -12% for the 2022 full year.  

In currencies, Sterling strengthened sharply against the US Dollar (+8.2%) but fell against the Euro (-0.8%) over the fourth 

quarter. The principal driver was the appointment of Rishi Sunak as Prime Minister who is viewed as likely to pursue a more 

fiscally conservative agenda and the BoE’s intervention in gilt markets to stabilise yields. Overall, the US Dollar fell in Q4 

(Dollar index -7.7%) reversing much of the Q3 gains. Over the year 2022, the Dollar Index rose +8.2%. Notably, the US Dollar 

Page 83



12 
 

also fell against the Japanese Yen by -9.4% in Q4 as the BoJ shocked markets in December by increasing the top range at 

which the 10-year bond could yield. 

 

Underlying Mandates 

Rather than comment on each portfolio separately which duplicates the reporting from Brunel, the table below sets out 

each portfolio within the Fund with a brief note on my opinion of the management and performance using the same traffic 

light system as in the past. Because of the transfer of assets to Brunel all the portfolios will have changed manager over the 

last four years. For this reason I have rated some of the portfolios amber purely because the performance history is too 

short to support an opinion. I remain impressed by the intellectual rigour with which Brunel designs portfolios and selects 

managers. 

We now have 3-year performance figures for both Private equity and Infrastructure and whilst the initial allocations to 

these portfolios will have been very low and Brunel’s speed of commitment was poor, returns do suggest that Brunel are 

achieving a reasonable level of return from these asset classes. 

 

 

Portfolio Benchmark Inception Performance Comment 

UK Equity FT All-Share EX IT 09/18  Reduced to two managers post sacking of ASI 

Global High Alpha MSCI World Equity 09/19  Acceptable performance to date 

Global Sustainable MSCI All World Equity 09/20  Too early to comment 

Global Paris Aligned MSCI Paris Aligned 07/18  Passive portfolio 

Emerging Markets MSCI Emerging Markets 10/19  Poor performance to date  

UK Fixed Interest £ Non-Gilt Credit 11/21  Transitioned to Brunel in the second quarter 2021 

Multi Asset Credit Cash + 2% 11/21  Transitioned to Brunel in the second quarter 2021 

Property Property benchmark 04/20  Too early to comment; some concerns  

Diversified Return Cash + 4% 07/20  Portfolio construction is sound; performance strong 

Infrastructure CPI 01/19  Drawdown has been slow; performance looks strong 

Private Equity MSCI All World Equity 01/19  Drawdown has been slow; performance looks strong 

Private Debt Cash + 5% 08/17  Existing managers have performed well 

Page 84



1 

 
Pension Administration Summary Performance  

 
Table 1 – Summary Performance 
 

Service Target 2018/19 
Actual 

2019/20 
Actual 

2020/21 
Actual 

2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 to 
31/12/2022 

(previous 
quarter) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 96% 98% 90% 75% 78% (75) 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 69% 61% 80% 64% 52% (38) 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 98% 99% 93% 63% 64% (69) 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 82% 67% 70% 51% 46% (33) 

Annual Benefits 
Statements issued 
within the 
statutory 
deadline 

100% 100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 98% 99% 97% 96% 93% (90) 

 
Table 2 – 2022/23 Performance to 31 December 2022 

Service Standards 
– Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 
(previous 
quarters) 

No. 
processed 
on time 
(previous 
quarters) 

Actual 
achievement 
(previous quarters) 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 
 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 457 (350) 355 (262) 78% (75) 12 (13) not available 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 864 (550) 445 (209)  52% (38) 15 (17) 22 (22) 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 332 (248) 212 (172) 64 (69) 14 (14) 19 (18) 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 91 (55) 42 (18) 46% (33) 10 (14) 15 (18) 

2021/22 Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within the 
statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,081 34,081 100% see note 
1 

N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 180 (123) 167 (111) 93% (90) 6 (8) 26 (23) 

Page 85



2 

Table 2 – 2021/22 Performance (full year) 
Service Standards 
– Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 
 

No. 
processed 
on time 
 

Actual 
achievement 
 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 
 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 699 523 75% 12 not available 

Retirements and 
lump sums (15 
days) 

90% 968 624 64% 12 19 

Refunds Paid (15 
days) 

90% 504 320 63% 14 20 

Death Grants Paid 
(8 days) 

90% 74 38 51% 10 14 

2020/21 Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within the 
statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,265 34,265 100% N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 198 191 96% 6 35 

 
2020/21 Performance (full year) 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 534 482 90% 9 not available 

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 872 701 80% 12 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 424 395 93% 10 20 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 89 62 70% 10 17 

2019/20 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,434 see 
note 1 

34,434 see 
note 1 

100% see note 
1 

N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 136 132 97% 6 22 

 

Page 86



3 

2019/20 Performance (full year) 
Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement  

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 

Average days 
taken 
(averaging 
cases 
exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 739 724 98% 8 not available 

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 983 603 61% 13 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 649 641 99% 7 23 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 76 51 67% 7 10 

2018/19 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% 34,167 see 
note 1 

34,167 see 
note 1 

100% N/A N/A 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 194 192 99% 4 16 

 
2018/19 Performance (full year) 

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement 

No. Processed No. 
processed on 
time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 

Estimates to employees (15 
days) 

90% 615 587 96% 7 

Retirements and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 858 592 69% 13 

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 620 609 98% 7 
Death Grants Paid (8 days) 90% 79 65 82% 7 
2017/18 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued within the 
statutory deadline 

100% 32,817 see 
note 1 

32,817 see 
note 1 

100% see note 
1 

N/A 

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days) 

90% 147 144 98 5 

 
 
Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were 

received by the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the 

member records held within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100% 

of the Annual Benefit Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory 

deadline. 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Business Plan 2022/23 
 

The following is an update on the Key Tasks/Work Plan which formed part of the agreed 
business plan for 2022/23.  

Comments on each topic are contained within the table. For the amber items, this 
represents that these activities are yet to commence, but these activities are scheduled to 
take place over multiple quarters: 

Governance 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of Risk Register      - on 
agenda 

Approval of External Audit Plan      

Implement outcomes of the 
Funds Governance Review 

     - 
operating to 

workplan 

Review and approve Business 
Plan 

     - on 
agenda 

Annual review against The 
Pensions Regulators Code of 
Practise 

 - on the 
2022/23 
business 

plan 

   x – Awaiting 
the single 

code of 
practise 

Approval of audited Fund 
accounts 

   - draft 
accounts 
provided. 

Audit 
ongoing 

 - Draft 
audit 

opinion 
provided.   

x – Awaiting 
formal audit 

opinion 

Approval of Annual Report      

Review Policy Statements      - FSS on 
agenda 

Training Needs Analysis     - 
Assessment 
undertaken. 
Results due 

in Q4 

 - 
Assessment 
undertaken. 

Results 
included on 

agenda 

Review Breaches log      - 
confirmation 

on agenda 

Monitor employer activity      - on 
agenda 

Page 89



Funding 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of ongoing funding 
position 

     - on 
agenda 

Cash flow modelling     - 
completed 1 

quarter 
ahead of 
schedule 

 

Review the Funding Strategy 
Statement 

  -Brought 
to 

Committee 
1 quarter 

earlier 

 - 
Consultation 

with 
stakeholders 
undertaken 

 - on 
agenda 

 

Investment Management 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Monitor Fund Performance      - on 
agenda 

Responsible Investment 
Reporting 

     - on 
agenda 

Review the Funds Investment 
Strategy Statement 

    - 
reviewed 

 

Review the Funds Responsible 
Investment Policy 

    - activity 
commenced 

with 
workshop in 

Q3 

 - 
outcomes 
and next 
steps on 
agenda 

Review the recommendations 
of the Taskforce for Climate-
related Financial Disclosure 
(TCFD) and requirements for 
UK Stewardship code signatory 
status 

 - on the 
2022/23 
business 

plan 

x – awaiting 
consultation 
from DHLUC 

 - 
consultation 
on agenda. 
Workshop 

to be 
arranged to 

provide 
response 

 - 
Response to 

TCFD 
consultation 
completed. 
Workshop 

undertaken 
in Q3 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

Administration 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Issue Annual Benefit 
Statements to active and 
deferred members 

   - 
completed 

  

P60’s distributed to pensioner 
members 

  - 
completed 

   

Recruitment of agreed 
additional resources 

    - 
ongoing 

 

Annual pension in payment and 
CARE accrual increase exercise 

  - 
completed 

   

Annual submission of HMRC 
Event report 

 - 
completed 

    - 
completed 

Issue notices to employees for 
breaches of HMRC Annual 
Allowance limits 

    - 
Completed 

 

Provision of data to actuary to 
produce financial accounting 
required for employer accounts 

    - 
Completed 

 

Reconciliation of membership 
data for all employers 

     - 
ongoing 

Review and correct data errors     - 
ongoing 

 

Process and reconcile 
membership pay and 
contribution data for year end 

    - 
ongoing 

 

Data quality assessment for the 
Pensions Regulator 

   - 
completed 

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



 

 

Core Projects for 2022/23 

 
 

1) 2022 Actuarial Valuation and associated tasks 

What is it?  

It is the formal actuarial valuation of the Fund detailing the solvency position and other financial 
metrics. It is a legal requirement of the LGPS Regulations. It determines the contribution rates 
payable by the employers to fund the cost of benefits and make good any existing shortfalls as set 
out in the separate Funding Strategy Statement. This is considered in conjunction with an 
employer risk management assessment. The exercise will include cash flow projections that can 
be used to prepare the Funds cash management and investment strategy.  

Timescales and Stages 

Effective date 31 March 2022 

Initial whole Fund results (expected) 2022/23 Q2 

Individual Employer results (expected) 2022/23 Q3  

Deadline for agreement of all contributions and sign-off 31 March 2023 

Resource and Budget Implications 

The exercise will be performed by the Funds Actuary and it will determine contribution 
requirements for all participating employers from 1 April 2023. It is a major exercise for the Fund 
and will take considerable resource from the Administration and Finance teams over 2022/23. 
Employers will be formally consulted on the funding strategy as part of the process. The Fund 
Actuary's costs in relation to this exercise are included in the 2022/23 budget. 

Current Status  

Project will be completed as scheduled 

 

 

Current activity 

Page 92



 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 93



 
2) Review pensions administration system contract  

 

What is it?  

The Fund has a contract with Aquila Heywood in relation to their Altair administration system 
which expires in 2023. The Fund have access to the LGPS National Frameworks, which includes a 
framework for pensions administration systems. It is envisaged that the Fund would make use of 
this framework.  

Should a new software supplier be appointed, there will be a significant amount of work required 
to migrate to the new system.  

Timescales and Stages  

Finalise national framework for pensions administration system 2020/21 Q1  

Conduct tender for CPF administration system 2022/23 Q2 to Q4  

Transition to new administration system if required June 2023  

Resource and Budget Implications  

To be led by the Head of Pensions and Pension Administration Manager. If transition to a new 
system is required, there are likely to be significant transition costs and the ongoing cost for 
systems included in the 2022/23 budget will probably change. 

Current Status 

Project Ongoing – will continue into 2023/24. A short term extension to the current 
contract is now being sought to allow for a full procurement exercise to be 
undertaken in 2023/24, which will potentially now include the requirements for 
Pension Dashboard and any service enhancements identified by the Aon review of 
administration. The current risk evaluation of this risk is minimal and there are no 
anticipated issues in obtaining the required short extension period to enable the full 
procurement process to be undertaken. 

 

 

 

Current Activity 

1. Business case recommending a contract extension with the current supplier for a period 
no shorter than 12 months from contract expiry (June 2023) is progressing through the 
appropriate governance channels. Targeted completion by 31 May 2023 

2. Full needs analysis to be undertaken, in conjunction with the administration strategy 
review including internal process improvements identified by 30 September 2023. 

3. Formal sign up to the LGPS National Framework for software suppliers – by 31 July 2023  

This core project will be carried forward into the 2023/24 business plan. 

Revised timeframes are: 

Conduct tender for CPF administration system under the LGPS National Framework for Pensions 
Administrations Systems October to December 2023. 

Procurement exercise will include requirements to conform with the Pensions Dashboard Core 
Project (as set out below).  

 

Page 94



 
3) Pensions Dashboard (including a Data Improvement Strategy) 

 

What is it?  

The Pensions Dashboard is a Government initiative first announced in the Budget 2016. The idea 
behind the Dashboard is to allow all pension savers in the UK access to view the values of all of 
their pension pots, including state pension, through one central platform. A consultation was 
undertaken by Government in early 2019 which sought views on the potential phasing of the 
introduction of the pensions dashboards as well as how the architecture, funding and governance 
arrangements would work. The legislative requirements to participate in the Pension Dashboard 
for schemes (including public sector schemes) was launched by DWP in February 2022. The actual 
timescales that will apply to public sector pension schemes are not yet known so the timescales 
below are estimated. However, in preparation for this, the Fund will embark on producing a Data 
Improvement Strategy and plan. 

Timescales and Stages  

Data Improvement Strategy 2022/23 Q2 to Q3  

Data Improvement Plan 2022/23 Q4 

Potential Pension Dashboard launch 2023/24  

Resource and Budget Implications  

The Data Improvement Strategy and Plan will be led by the Head of Pensions and the Pensions 
Administration Manager. Resource and budget implications cannot be determined until more 
detail is available, especially around the Pensions Dashboard. 

Current Status  

 

Current Activity 

We have commenced the Pensions Dashboards Readiness Assessment. The output 

from this exercise, will provide summary results that will help us understand the quality 

of our data and what actions we need to take to get ready for Pensions Dashboards. 

The summary results will include a score for each of the following areas: 

• ‘Find’ data: 
o Checks on potential matching fields (name, date of birth, address) to determine 

whether the data you hold is present, valid and accurate 
o Checking for members which would currently be duplicate matches 
o Checking for undecided leavers and frozen refunds 

• ‘View’ data: 
o Check that employment data is available to be returned to the Pensions 

Dashboards for each member employment 
o Check that Accrued Retirement Income is available for each member employment 
o Check that Estimated Retirement Income is available for each member 

employment 

This assessment will be used to inform the data improvement strategy and plan, which also forms 

Page 95



part of the governance work plan. 

 

Confirmation that connection to the dashboard is required by September 2024. 

 

This core project will be carried forward into the 2023/24 business plan. 

 

 

 
4) McCloud  

 

What is it?  

The McCloud case has highlighted that the introduction of the new CARE schemes for Firefighters 
and Judges in April 2015 were unlawful. This impacts on other public service pension schemes 
including the LGPS where the new CARE scheme from April 2014 included a statutory underpin for 
older members. Remedies are being worked through by Government to remove the inequality in 
the schemes, which will result in changes to scheme benefits some of which will be retrospective. 
From an administrative perspective the impact of McCloud will result in a change to how benefits 
are calculated for a large number of scheme members including members who have left. This is 
likely to significantly impact on administration process and systems as well as requiring a robust 
communication exercise with employers and scheme members. The additional resource/system 
requirements are likely to be significant. The remediation is subject to a Public Service Pensions 
and Judicial Offices Bill, which is currently laid before parliament. 

Timescales and Stages  

McCloud planning/impact analysis 2022/23 Q1 ongoing 

Timescales will be updated as more information becomes available.  

Resource and Budget Implications  

It will impact across all of the Administration Team. No estimated allowance for additional 
resource has been included in the 2022/23 budget at this time. Support from the pensions 
administration software provider is likely to require additional budget is also likely to be needed in 
future years as the impact is realised. 

Current Status  

 

Current Activity 

Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill now laid in statue. 

Awaiting further guidance from DHLUC on the implementation of the bill in respect of LGPS. 

This core project will be carried forward into the 2023/24 business plan. 

 

Page 96



   
  

Gloucestershire Pension Fund   

Governance Review – Work Plan  
This action plan builds on the recommendations set out in our Governance Review report dated 9 June 2021. This is designed to be a high-level action plan setting 
out the key actions and we have added timescales to assist the Fund in monitoring progress of these actions on an ongoing basis.   

Action  Reason   Timescales  
 

Current 
action/comment 

Review of PC Constitution - produce 
report to take to  
September 2021 PC meeting with 
proposal   

Consider whether the Committee could have further  
representation from other employers and scheme members in the  
Fund. Also need to consider voting rights of these representatives.   

Completed   - agreed proposals 
taken to Constitution in 
January 2022 at Council in 
February 2022 

Review of duties of the PC  The majority of the duties of the PC are investment focused.  
Consider including a number of non-investment duties as well.  

Action is ultimately to update the PC Terms of Reference  

Completed   - agreed proposals 
taken to Constitution in 
January 2022 at Council in 
February 2022 

Develop a Fund Conflict of  
Interest Policy  

No policy currently in place.  

Fund currently relies on the Council's Conflicts of Interest Policy  

Completed   - agreed by 
Committee in September 
2021 

Develop a Fund Risk  
Management Policy  

No policy currently in place.  

Develop a policy to provide a clearer risk management framework 
(incorporating existing risk register)  

Completed   - agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021 

Review the Fund's Breaches log  Ensure breaches log covers all expected areas, and ensure this is 
populated and taken to PC and PB for information.  

Completed Policy was agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021. New log adopted 
Jan 2022, thereby first 
reportable period will be 
31 March 2022 

Review the Fund's Breaches of  
Law Procedure  

We understand that this was last reviewed in 2016.  Completed   - agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021 

P
age 97



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  2  
  

  

Action  Reason   Timescales  
 

Current 
action/comment 

Update the Administering  
Authority's Discretionary Policy  

Current policy dates back to September 1999  

Due to the age of the current policy this is effectively going to be a 
brand-new policy given that so much has changed since the current 
policy was written.  

Completed   - agreed by 
Committee in December 
2021 

Update the Fund's Governance  
Compliance Statement and  
Policy  

The current Compliance Statement is dated July 2017. We would 
anticipate this document being reviewed in conjunction with the 
Governance Policy statement which was last reviewed in February 
2020.  

We understand that an updated Compliance Statement has been 
drafted so we assume that our input would be to review the draft 
updated policy  

Completed  - agreed by 
Committee in September 
2022 

Review of Scheme of Delegation  Review Council’s Scheme of Delegation to ensure that pension fund 
matters are covered.  

Consider this in conjunction with recommendation from SAB Good 
Governance review regarding LGPS senior officer.  

Completed  - agreed by 
Committee in September 
2022 

Review the Fund's  
Communications Policy  

We understand that a review was due to be undertaken in  
2019/20 but this did not take place  

Commenced  Initial work was 
commenced with 
Committee/Board 
workshop event held in 
November 2022 

Review the Fund's  
Administration Strategy  

Last reviewed in 2017  Commenced Review has commenced 
with scope looking at 
processes/resources/IT 
and KPI’s 

P
age 98



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  3  
  

Review the Fund's Investment  
Strategy Statement  

Our report suggested some potential enhancements to the current 
policy in relation to Responsible Investment.  

As per Fund's 
business plan  

SAA review undertaken 
and ISS on agenda for 
approval in December 
2022. Development of 
Responsible Investment 
Policy commenced with 
workshop event held in 
November 2022. 

Action  Reason   Timescales  
 

Current 
action/comment 

Develop a Fund Business  
Continuity Policy / Plan  

Expected to be included in TPR New Code.   

We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's approach 
to Business Continuity.  

Q3 2022/23  Operational business 
continuity plan as 
required by GCC has 
been completed. Gap 
analysis for the specific 
Fund requirements now 
needs to be undertaken 

Develop a Fund Cyber Strategy  Expected to be included in TPR New Code.   

We understand that the Fund currently relies on the Council's approach 
to Cyber Security.  

Q4 2022 – Q1 2023  Strategy will be 
developed in conjunction 
with the procurement 
exercise surrounding the 
Pensions Administration 
Software. 

Carrying out a review of Fund's 
practices against TPR's New  
Code of Practice    

As part of best practice, we would expect the Administering Authority 
to carry out a regular review of their practices against the New Code.  

Awaiting code of 
practice from TPR  

On hold 

Develop a Fund Data  
Improvement Policy  

We understand that the Fund do the common / scheme specific 
scoring through Aquila Heywood but currently no formal data 
improvement policy or plan is in place. We recommend that having a 
Data Improvement Policy is best practice.  

Forms part of core 
projects for 2022/23 
business plan 

Initial evaluation of data 
requirements for 
Pensions Dashboard 
being undertaken. This 
will be used as a basis for 
Policy. 

P
age 99



   
  

 Governance Review policy summary  4  
  

Develop a Fund Data  
Improvement Plan  

  Forms part of core 
projects for 2022/23 
business plan  

Initial evaluation of data 
requirements for 
Pensions Dashboard 
being undertaken. This 
will be used as a basis for 
the Plan. 

Implementation of new Training  
Strategy  

A Training Strategy was put in place in April 2021. Ensure successful 
implementation of this Strategy and the associated training plans.  

As part of this we would recommend that a training needs analysis is 
carried out to identify any gaps.  

Completed  - training needs 
analysis undertaken and 
training plan established 
and agreed by 
Committee in September 
2021.  
 
 

Action  Reason   Timescales  
 

Current 
action/comment 

Development of Fund's own 
identity separate from the  
Council  

This could include the Fund having different branding to the Council.  

Creation of a separate Fund website or more distinctly separate section 
within the Council's website.  

Q1 2023/24  

Ensuring all of the Fund's policies 
and procedures are easy to access 
from Fund's website / section of 
Council's website  

Currently not all of the Fund's policies and procedures are easy to find 
on the Fund's section of the Council's website  

Q1 2023/24  

Increase the number of Pension  
Board meetings each year  

We don't think that the current approach of having two meetings a year 
is sufficient.  

We note that in the March 2021 meeting it was proposed that the PB 
moves to quarterly meetings.  

Completed   

  
  
  

P
age 100



Power BI Desktop

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

2022 LGPS National 
Knowledge Assessment

P
age 101



Power BI Desktop

Contents

2022 National Knowledge Assessment

 

 

 

     

  

 

   

   

 

 

  

Column1 Column2


Overview 1

The Assesssment 2

Overall Results 3

Average Score for Board & Committee 4

Benchmarking 5

Commentary on Results 6

Further Analysis 8

Engagement 9

Training Feedback from Participants 11

Training Plan 12

Next Steps 13

Reliances & Limitations 14

P
age 102



Power BI Desktop

The LGPS National Knowledge Assessment (NKA) provides LGPS funds with a direct 
insight into the knowledge and skills of their key decision makers and oversight body. 

In addition, funds get a ‘sense check' of this knowledge position against other participating 
funds via the benchmarking reports provided.

16  LGPS funds and over 200 members have participated in this National Knowledge 
Assessment of Pension Committee (‘Committee’) and Pension Board (‘Board’) members.

The findings from this assessment provide a quantitative report of the current knowledge 
levels of the individuals responsible for running the Fund, aiding the development of more 
appropriately targeted and tailored training plans for both groups. 

This report is also a key document in evidencing your Fund commitment to training
– a key cornerstone to the good governance of your Fund. 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund  (“the Fund”) agreed to participate in the NKA using our 
online assessment. 

This report provides an overview of the participants’ results broken down into 8 key areas. 

The online assessment opened at the end of September and closed in November, and there 
were weekly progress updates provided to the Fund confirming participation levels. 

Each participant received their individual results report following completion of the 
assessment.

The questions posed in the assessment are split into 3 categories. 
        

• Technical questions
• Roles and responsibilities 
• Decision making

Technical questions, made up around two thirds of the questions. The remaining questions 
were split between the categories of Roles and Responsibilities as well as Decision Making. 
This helps to provide more in-depth analysis of the results and provides further context 
to the proposed training plans. 

The National Knowledge Assessment is a challenging multiple-choice assessment of 
participants’ knowledge and understanding of key pension areas. There was no expectation 
that participants would score 100% on each subject area tested. Rather, the goal was to 
gain a true insight into members’ knowledge in the areas covered by the CIPFA Knowledge 
and Skills Framework and the Pensions Regulator’s (TPR) Code of Practice. 

Why Does this Matter?

Overview

Background

2022 National Knowledge Assessment

1

While fund officers may deal with the day-to-day running of the funds, members of the 
Committee play a vital role in the scheme as decision makers. 

To execute their roles effectively, Committee members must be able to address all relevant 
topics such as investment matters, issues concerning pension funding, pension administration 
and governance. 

All topics which require a level of knowledge and understanding from the Committee.
Similarly, the Pension Board members must have a sound knowledge of these topics in order 
to be able to offer critical challenge in the oversight of Committee decisions.

P
age 103



Power BI Desktop

The Assessment
The members of the  Gloucestershire Pension Fund  Committee and Board were invited to 
complete an online knowledge assessment. In total there were  5  respondents from the 
Committee and  5  respondents from the Board. 

Each respondent was given the same set of 48 questions on the 8 areas below:

Under each subject heading, there were 6 multiple choice questions to answer. Each 
question had 4 possible answers, of which one answer was correct. 

Participants were also given the option of selecting “I have no knowledge of this area”, 
where they were unsure.

This allows us to build a picture of the knowledge levels of each individual member in each 
of the topics, but crucially to help inform you of the overall levels of knowledge in each area.

Section Section Names

Section 1 Committee Role and Pensions Legislation

Section 2 Pensions Governance

Section 3 Pensions Administration

Section 4 Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards

Section 5 Procurement and Relationship Management

Section 6 Investment Performance and Risk Management

Section 7 Financial Markets and Product Knowledge

Section 8 Actuarial Methods, Standards and Practices

Results

The responses for all members who participated have been collated and analysed. For 
each section we have shown:
        

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

2

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

• The Fund’s overall ranking against other participating LGPS funds.

• The average score for each of the 8 subject areas, for both the Committee and Board.

• Results split by the categories of “technical”, “roles and responsibilities” and
  “decision making”.

• Each average score benchmarked for both groups against the other NKA participant
  funds’ Committee and Board for each of the 8 subject areas.

• Engagement levels for both the Committee and Board and how these levels rank against
  other LGPS funds.

• The most requested topics for training.

Based on the results and the responses received from participants, we have also completed 
a proposed training plan for the Fund over the next 18 months, as well as some other “next 
steps” to consider.

P
age 104



Power BI Desktop

Overall Results
The chart on the right shows how the overall average score for
your Fund compares with that of all other funds who took part in the 
Assessment. The “score” shown is the average score of all 
participating Committee and Board members from each Fund. 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund  is  in 5th   out of  16  Funds.

For each of the assessment’s 8 areas we have shown the results of 
both the Committee and Board. 

There is also a summary showing the average scores across all 
sections for the Committee and Board.

Fund Average Score
 

Fund 6 62.50

Fund 14 61.11

Fund 3 59.48

Fund 7 59.23

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 58.54

Fund 5 57.41

Fund 11 57.29

Fund 9 57.22

Fund 16 56.25

Fund 8 55.42

Fund 10 53.57

Fund 4 52.86

Fund 1 52.82

Fund 13 52.08

Fund 15 47.35

Fund 2 45.34

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

3

P
age 105



Power BI Desktop

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Pensions
Governance

Actuarial
Methods,
Standards

and
Practices

Committee
Role and
Pensions

Legislation

Procurement
and

Relationship
Management

Pensions
Administra…

Financial
Markets and

Product
Knowledge

Investment
Performance

and Risk
Management

Pensions
Accounting
and Audit
Standards

87%

43%

70%

67%

53%

70%
67%

50%

73%

20%

67%

57%

53% 53%

53%

53%

Board Committee

For each of the assessment’s 8 areas we have shown the results of both the Committee 
and Board.
 
These have been shown in the order in which the sections appeared in the survey. 

There is also a summary showing the average scores across all sections for the 
Committee and Board.

• The performance of the   Board  (average overall score of   63 %  ) was stronger than that 
of the  Committee   (average overall score of   54 %  ).

• The performance for the Commitee and Board diverged the most in the 
Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards   section, when   Board  results were   23 %   
higher than the  Committee .

• The Committee performed most strongly in the  area of   Pensions Governance  and 
Financial Markets and Product Knowledge .

• The board's areas of strongest Knowledge were  Pensions Governance   and 
Procurement and Relationship Management .

• Overall, for both groups, the area with least knowledge was  
Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards .

Average Score for Board & Committee

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

4

P
age 106



Power BI Desktop

Pension Commitee Average vs. Average All Funds

Pensions
Governance

Financial
Markets and

Product
Knowledge

Committee
Role and
Pensions

Legislation

Actuarial
Methods,
Standards

and Practices

Investment
Performance

and Risk
Management

Pensions
Administrati…

Procurement
and

Relationship
Management

Pensions
Accounting
and Audit
Standards

73% 67% 57% 53% 53% 53% 53% 20%

62%

33%

48%

50%
58%

46%

61%

49%

Average score Average All Funds

Benchmarking

Pension Board Average vs. Average All Funds

Pensions
Governance

Actuarial
Methods,
Standards

and Practices

Procurement
and

Relationship
Management

Committee
Role and
Pensions

Legislation

Pensions
Administrati…

Financial
Markets and

Product
Knowledge

Investment
Performance

and Risk
Management

Pensions
Accounting
and Audit
Standards

87% 70% 70% 67% 67% 53% 50% 43%

73%

44%

65%

57%

52%

71%
64%

59%

Average score Average All Funds

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

       
  

 
       

 
      

   
               

         
       

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

5

As this assessment is being conducted at a national level across numerous LGPS funds, we are 
able to provide details of how your Fund’s results compare to those across the average of all 
funds who have taken part to date.

We’ve provided a comparison of the results for both your Fund’s Committee and Board, versus 
the average scores nationally for each group. This gives an idea of the knowledge levels across 
these groups, relative to the national average.

The intention is that training plans and/or timetables can be tailored to focus on the areas of least 
knowledge, whilst ensuring the Committee and Board maintain the high level of knowledge in the 
stronger areas.

• It’s pleasing to see that the areas of Pensions Governance and
  Financial Markets and Product Knowledge scored well for the Committee.

It’s clear that there are some areas where knowledge levels are lower than hoped for, and the 
area of and Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards would be a sensible focus of training
for the Committee.

• Similarly, from the Board chart it can be seen that the highest scoring areas were
  Pensions Governance, Actuarial Methods and Procurement and Relationship Management.

• The Scores between Gloucestershire Pension Fund and all other Funds diverged the most in
  the Pensions Governance, when the Average score was 14 % higher than Average All Funds.

• Across all sections, Gloucestershire Pension Fund Board score ranged from 43 % to 87 % and
  the average for all other funds ranged from 44 % and 73 %.

P
age 107



Power BI Desktop

Commentary on results
It’s encouraging that  10  participants from your Fund took part in the
assessment. Overall, the results were positive and it’s clear that there are
areas of greater knowledge levels as well as areas in which knowledge should 
be developed over time. 

We would fully expect there to be gaps in the knowledge of all members,
no matter their role on the Committee/Board, their tenure or indeed their 
background in terms of pensions experience. 

The most important thing to emphasise is that not everybody needs 
to be an expert in all areas, rather there should be a spread of knowledge 
across your Committee and Board which is supported by advice from officers 
and professional advisors.

Just as important as gaining the relevant knowledge and understanding 
expected of a Pension Committee or Board, is the application of that 
knowledge and understanding, including the utilisation of an individual’s own 
background and perspective. 

Many funds have implemented training plans that follow the pyramid diagram 
of LGPS training areas. Fundamentally, a plan based on this example pyramid 
would provide a LGPS fund with a robust training program for its Committee 
and Board.

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

6

P
age 108



Power BI Desktop

Commitee
The results show that  Pensions Governance  and  Financial Markets and Product Knowledge  have 
the highest levels of knowledge. But the areas to focus any specific training on might be 
Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards  for the Committee. Across all funds, the lowest scoring 
area was  Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards .

   

 
      

     
 

  

   
   

      

 
 

 

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

7

In general, the Committee’s performance relative to all other committees was around average.

When looking at the benchmarking results against the other participating funds, the Committee 
ranked 8 out of 16 Funds’ Committee results.

Local Pension Board
The results show that Pensions Governance and Procurement and Relationship Management have
the highest levels of knowledge, but the areas to focus any specific training on might be
Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards for the Board.

Across all funds, the lowest scoring area was Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards. The 
Board’s performance relative to all other committees was also around average. In terms of 
benchmarking results against the other participating funds, the Board ranked 8 out of 16 Funds’ 
Board results.

The next step would be to try and develop the knowledge of the lower scoring areas. You might 
already have a training plan in place, in which case you could use these results to tailor the specific 
training and with the knowledge of these results, ensuring it aligns with your priorities.

P
age 109



Power BI Desktop

Further Analysis

In order to gain further insight into the knowledge and understanding, the questions posed 
covered 3 distinct areas. These were:
       

• Technical – 66% of questions
• Decision Making – 17% of questions
• Roles and responsibilities – 17% of questions

The purpose of this was to drill deeper into the collective understanding of these categories, 
and to provide further analysis on which areas to target when creating training plans. The 
following chart shows the average score for each of these sections, for the Committee and 
Board combined.

60%

48%

64%

Technical

Decision Making

Role Responsbility

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

8

From this chart, the lowest scoring area was  Decision Making . Bearing this in mind, a 
particular focus could be put on this over the coming months. 

Some next steps to consider are:

Decision making – A review of the Fund's decision-making procedures, and updating/creating 
a decision-making matrix, and sharing this with the Committee and Board to ensure visibility of 
the role of each group in across a broad spectrum of potential decisions.

Roles and responsibility – A specific training session covering the roles and responsibilities 
of different parties covering different points in the annual cycle of the Fund. This could include 
preparation of annual report, annual benefit statements, business planning and investment 
performance reviews for example. It would also be good to cover more niche topics such as 
the IDRP process, review of suppliers and cyber risk.

Technical – below, we have also included more detail on the technical questions, as these made up 
the majority of questions in the assessment.

Average Score by Section (Technical Questions)

0%

20%

40%

60%

Committee
Role and
Pensions

Legislation

Pensions
Administrat…

Pensions
Governance

Investment
Performance

and Risk
Management

Actuarial
Methods,
Standards

and Practices

Financial
Markets and

Product
Knowledge

Procurement
and

Relationship
Management

Pensions
Accounting
and Audit
Standards

57%
53%

57%

40%
43%

33%

40%

33%

40%

46%

40%

23%

17%

Board Committee

Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards  was the lowest scoring section when looking at just the 
technical questions. This may be an area which is prioritised in terms of more technical training over 
the coming months.

P
age 110



Power BI Desktop

Engagement

One of the key areas that we recommend funds focus on is Committee and Board training 
engagement.

With the ever-increasing pace of change in the pensions and investments world, member 
engagement is critical to maintaining strong collective knowledge. There is an expectation 
that they need not only be willing, but keen to develop their knowledge and understanding 
across the raft of topics upon which they will need to make, or ratify, decisions. 

One measure of the engagement of members is their willingness to participate in training. 
As such, we have used the participation level of this survey to measure the engagement 
of your Committee and Board members.  

The chart below shows the breakdown of the total number of participants from 
the  Gloucestershire Pension Fund , as a proportion of those who could have responded. 

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

Fund 2022 Overall engagement
 

Fund 9 100.00

Fund 11 88.24

Fund 4 86.67

Fund 15 82.35

Fund 10 81.82

Fund 3 80.00

Fund 5 78.95

Fund 13 68.75

Fund 6 68.00

Fund 16 65.38

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 60.50

Fund 8 60.00

Fund 12 56.25

Fund 1 55.56

Fund 14 50.00

Fund 7 36.84

     

Board 5 7 71%

Committee 5 10 50%

9

Role Participants Total Number 2022 Participation Rate

P
age 111



Power BI Desktop

Engagement

   
 

 
 

   

 
 

 
 

 
 

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

10

  
 

 

 

 

 

That 10 participants from your Fund took part in the assessment is fairly encouraging, though 
ranks you in the lower half of participant funds. Board engagement was good, however 
Committee engagement was disappointing and we recommend that steps are introduced to 
address this issue. TPR expects pension schemes to set out training plans, strategy and 
assessment with its decision making groups. With the number of changes to the LGPS in 
recent years, it is vital that Committee and Board members remain abreast of the latest 
developments and feel confident that they have the knowledge required to make the decisions 
required of them.

Their level of engagement is a key driver of this. Overall engagement seems to be at a 
reasonable level; however, it is important to maintain this, particularly in the current climate 
where face-to-face meetings and delivery of training sessions might be in Hybrid format for 
some time to come.

One of the biggest challenges in this area is how to improve engagement. The move to online 
learning and tackling topics in bitesize chunks can help.

The way in which information is shared with the Committee and Board can also promote 
engagement.

There have been moves by some funds to issuing short timely bulletins and newsletters to 
increase training knowledge and engagement, which we very much encourage.

P
age 112



Power BI Desktop

Training Feedback from Participants
One of the final sections of the survey asked participants to indicate which topics
they would like to receive training on.

There was a list of options available, covering a broad spectrum of the topics
we believe are most relevant to allowing Committee and Board members to
effectively perform their roles. Members were also given the option to indicate any 
other areas in which they would benefit from further training.

The table on the right summarises the areas in which members indicated training 
would be beneficial.

A suggested training plan is shown on the next page.

Training requirements

1

3

3

2

2

3

2

2

0

0

2

2

1

2

0

1

0

5

3

3

3

2

1

2

1

2

2

0

0

1

0

1

0

1

Committee Role and Pensions Legislation

Good Governance

Pensions Accounting and Audit Standards

Pensions Governance

Actuarial Methods, Standards and Practices

Environmental, Social and Governance / Res...

McCloud impacts

Section 13

Cyber security

Investment Performance and Risk Managem...

Pension Dashboards

Pensions Administration

Procurement and Relationship Management

The Pensions Regulator Code of Practice

Financial Markets and Product Knowledge

I don't require further training

Pension Scams

Board Committee

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

11

P
age 113



Power BI Desktop

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

              
             

     

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

Training Plan -  Gloucestershire Pension Fund  - January 2023 to June 2024

12

Training plan
Based on the results from this assessment, we have prepared the adjacent draft 
‘core’ training plan which you may wish to adopt.

This has been prepared based on the overall scores of the Board and Committee 
combined.

The intention is to make the planning and delivery of these sessions more efficient 
for the Fund.

You may want to create separate plans for the Board and Committee - further 
tailoring the training plan to their distinct priorities.

We would be happy to discuss the options for delivery of any of these training 
sessions. Hymans can support in the preparation of this suite of sessions.

As detailed on the page ‘Commentary on results’, we recommend that training 
plans include elements on:

• Core information
• Fund specific workplan
• Current issues / Hot topics

The key output for your Fund is to have a clear training plan and the delivery dates 
(or delivery vehicle i.e. training paper) set aside for these sessions.

Feedback from participants

We also asked the participants to provide comments on the areas they would most 
appreciate training in. Based on these comments, the most requested areas for training
were the Committee's role and Good Governance.

More detail is shown in the chart on the previous page.

P
age 114



Power BI Desktop

Next Steps
Based on the results, we would suggest that there should be consideration 
to the following next steps:

• This report should be reviewed by the Fund’s officers and results shared with the 
Committee and Board.

       
• Set up a structured training plan or adjust the existing training plan for the next 18 

months covering the main areas highlighted in this report.
       

• Plan for the delivery of training over the immediate 6-month period following these 
results and communicate that intention with the Committee and Board. 

• Consider the most pressing training requirements in the coming months. 
Importantly, look at the frequency of training engagement with your Committee and 
Board. 

        
•  Assess the tools available to the Fund to assist with training, and whether any new 

methods should be deployed.
       

• Consider ways of maintaining and increasing the engagement of both the Board 
and Committee. This could include providing them with more information, training 
materials, briefing notes etc. 

        
• Ensure that the Fund’s training strategy is up to date and appropriate for purpose.

We will be producing a national LGPS report on the results of these assessment, 
which will aid Scheme Advisory Board LGPS training discussions. 

A copy of this will be made available to the Fund when that report is complete.

If you wish to discuss the contents of this report further, please get in touch.

Prepared by Hymans Robertson LLP. 

Andrew McKerns

Senior LGPS Governance, Administration and Projects (GAP) Consultant

Alan Johnson

LGPS Governance, Administration and Projects (GAP) Consultant 

            

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

13

P
age 115



Power BI Desktop

Reliances and Limitations

This report has been prepared for the  Gloucestershire Pension Fund .

This report must not be released or otherwise disclosed to any third party except with our 
prior written consent, in which case it should be released in its entirety. 

Hymans Robertson LLP do not accept any liability to any party unless we have expressly 
accepted such liability in writing.

This report has been prepared by Hymans Robertson LLP, based upon its understanding of 
legislation and events as of November 2022. 

2022 National Knowledge Assessment 

14

P
age 116



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Pension Committee 
2 March 2023 

 

Risk Register 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 
 

Summary 
 
In accordance with the Risk Management policy, progress and activity in managing risks will 
continue to be monitored and recorded on a risk register and key information will be 
provided on a quarterly basis to the Pension Committee and the Pension Board as part of 
the regular update reports on governance, investments and funding, and administration and 
communications.  The reporting information will include as a minimum: 
 

o a summarised version of the risk register   
o a summary of the main changes since the previous report 
o the Fund’s risk dashboard showing the score of all existing risks and any changes as 

part of that dashboard. 
 

Risk Evaluation 
 
The evaluation of risks is based on the Gloucestershire County Council Risk Scoring Matrix 
customized to the needs of the Fund. The assessment matrix and interpretation of risk 
exposure is detailed below. These elements are fully defined in the Risk Management Policy 
of the Fund, and for completeness I attach at appendix 1 to this report the full details   

 
Assessment of risk:               

Im
pa

ct
 (c

on
se

qu
en

ce
s)

 Insignificant Low Low Low Low Low 
    

Minor Medium Medium Low Low Low 
    

Moderate High Medium Medium Low Low 
    

Major High High Medium Medium Low 
    

Critical High High High Medium Low 
    

    Almost 
certain 

Highly 
likely Probable Possible Rare     

    >90% 76%-90% 41% - 75% 10% - 40% <10%     
    Likelihood (probability) of risk happening     
                  

Page 117

Agenda Item 8



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Interpretation of risk exposure     
  Level of risk Level of concern Action required   

  

High 
Very concerned, major 
consequences and high 
likelihood of happening 

Unacceptable level of risk exposure 
which requires immediate corrective 
action to be taken.  Regular monitoring 
required; at least monthly   

  
Medium 

Concerned, moderate 
consequences and possible 
occurrence 

Acceptable level of risk exposure 
subject to regular active monitoring 
measures, at least quarterly.   

  
Green Content, insignificant 

consequences  

Acceptable level of risk exposure 
subject to regular active monitoring 
measures, at least annually.   

Risk Register Review 

As part of the agreed risk management policy the risk register will provide a dashboard 
(heatmap) overview of the risks in the following 3 categories: 

• Governance 
• Funding & Investment (includes accounting & audit) 
• Operational 

The risk register including the dashboard is attached as appendix 2 to this report. 

All risks have been reviewed and the following main change has been recommended. 

Operational (Administration & Communication) - Risk 1 – has now been removed as the 
impact of COVID-19 has now materially reduced and the impacts have been mitigated by 
changes to working practices and captured in other risks of the register. 

For the remaining risks there are no material changes to risk levels since the Committee 
considered the risk register at its last meeting in December 2022. There are additional 
comments added to a number of risks in the further action column to advise current activities. 

The following risks remain above their target and will remain to be tracked through the 
dashboard: 

Highlighted Risks 

o Governance 
o Risk 2 - elevated until the successful deployment of the training strategy/plan 

has been delivered and the assessment of knowledge repeated. 
o Risk 3 – elevated as per risk 2 above. 

 

o Funding & Investment 
o Risk 6 – risk remains elevated due to the current inflation and interest rate 

environment being risk exposure of the Fund has been reviewed, as part of 
the valuation and strategy review process. 

o Risk 8 – increased until the valuation process has been concluded and the 
potential impact reconsidered in the overall Fund context. Although this risk 
remains within its overall risk status. 

Page 118



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 

o Operational (Administration & Communication) 
o Risk 2, 3 & 6 – remain at an elevated level as the recruitment plan for the 

agreed team resources is still ongoing.  
 
 
Future development 
 
The risk register is a live document and will continue to evolve and be reviewed by Committee 
and Board each quarter. As part of the valuation process and as part of the proposed future 
development of the risk register, we will consider the way we evaluate and report the Funds 
risks to you.  
 
 
Recommendation 

That the Committee notes the Risk Register and the current elevated risks and the removal 
of Operational - Risk 1, as outlined in this report.  
 
Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Evaluation and Likelihood and Impact Explanations

The following information outlines how risks are to be evaluated.  It is based on the Gloucestershire County Council Risk Scoring Matrix 
customised to the needs of the Fund

Assessment of risk:

Insignificant Low Low Low Low Low

Minor Medium Medium Low Low Low

Moderate High Medium Medium Low Low

Major High High Medium Medium Low

Critical High High High Medium Low

Almost certain Highly likely Probable Possible Rare
>90% 76%-90% 41% - 75% 10% - 40% <10%

Gloucestershire County Council's interpretation of risk exposure
Level of risk

High

Medium

Green

Criteria for assessing likelihood
potential timescale

Greater than 90%
76% to 90%

Probable 41% to 75%
10% to 40%
Less than 10%

Criteria for assessing impact
Critical Service disruption > 20 days

Critical Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Ministerial/Regulatory intervention
Public enquiry
Exceedingly negative national publicity

Major Service disruption 10-20 days 
Major Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Legal action almost certain and difficult to defend
Adverse national media coverage

Moderate Service Disruption 5-10 days
Moderate Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Legal action expected
Adverse local media coverage/lots of service user complaints

Minor Minor impact on service, typically between 1 to 4 days
Minor Financial loss (relative to the size of the Fund)
Non-compliance with regulations / standards or local procedures resulting in disciplinary action
Moderate volumes of service user complaints contained within the Fund

Insignificant Insignificant impact on service, typically no more than a couple of hours
Insignificant financial loss
Legal action possible but unlikely and defendable
Isolated service user complaints contained within the Fund

Some specific examples for each impact criteria:
Critical Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by more than 25% over a 1-month period

Delay in paying pensioners by more than 3 working days
Consistently missing both legal and Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect actual benefit calculations affecting >300 members
Formal DLUHC, Pension Regulator or Scheme Advisory Board (or other) intervention or exercise of powers. 

Major Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level 15-25% over a 1-month period
Delay in paying pensioners by more than 2 working days
Missing some legal timescales and regularly missing the Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect actual benefit calculations affecting 200-300 members

Moderate Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by 10-15% over a 1-month period
Delay in paying pensioners by 1 working day
Meeting the majority of legal timescales but missing some of the Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting 100-200 members

Minor Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by 5-10% over a 1-month period
Delay in paying pensioners by less than1 working days
Meeting the majority of legal and Fund’s service delivery timeframe
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting 50-100 members

Insignificant Impact on assets or liabilities changing funding level by up to 5% over a 1-month period
Meeting all legal but occasionally not meeting all the Fund’s service delivery timeframes
Incorrect benefit calculations affecting up to 50 members

Criteria for assessing the difference between the current and target risk exposures:

Unacceptable level of risk exposure which requires immediate 
corrective action to be taken.  Regular monitoring required; at least 
monthly

Once in 5 to less than 10 years
Possible

Almost certain Once in 1 to less than 3 years
Highly likely

Im
pa

ct
 (c

on
se

qu
en

ce
s)

Likelihood (probability) of risk happening

Description % of risk happening       OR

Once in 10 to less than 20 years

Acceptable level of risk exposure subject to regular active 
monitoring measures, at least quarterly.

Acceptable level of risk exposure subject to regular active 
monitoring measures, at least annually.

Once in 3 to less than 5 years

Concerned, moderate 
consequences and possible 
occurance

Content, insignificant 
consequences 

Level of concern
Very concerend, major 
consequences and high 
likelihood of happening

Action required

K
The current impact and likelihood of the risk are individually no more than 2 
classifications higher than the target, and the combined difference is no more than 3 
classifications higher than the target.

L
The current impact and likelihood of the risk are individually more than 2 
classifications higher than the target, and/or the combined difference is more than 3 
classifications higher than the target.

Rare Once in 20 or more years

Symbol Description

J The current impact and likelihood of the risk are equal to, or less than, the target 
impact and likelihood.

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Risk Register
All Fund Risk Heat Map and Summary of Governance Risks Number of actual risks Number of target risks

9 13

10 9 6 10 11 12

3 2 6 7 8

5 4 1 3 4 5

8 7 1 2

Likelihood Likelihood

1

1

5 4

6 2 3

8 7
`

Governance Risks
Funding & Investment Risks (includes accounting and 

audit)

Im
p

a
c

t

Insignificant

Major

Critical

Minor

Moderate

Rare Possible Probable Highly likely

                  Operational Risks

20 February 2023

Insignificant

Major

Critical
Key

New risks since the last reporting date are denoted with a blue and 

white border.

An arrow denotes a change in the risk exposure since the previous 

reporting date, with the arrow coming from the previous risk exposure.Minor

Moderate

Each risk is represented in the chart by a number in a square. 

- The number denotes the risk number on the risk register.

- The location of the square denotes the current risk exposure.

The background colour within the square denotes the target risk 

exposure.

Im
p

a
c

t

RareAlmost certain Almost certain Highly likely Probable Possible

0

10

20

0

5

25

P
age 123



Risk 

no:
Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at 

risk (see 

above)

Current 

Impact

(see key)

Current 

Likelihood

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place

Target 

Impact

(see key)

Target 

Likelihood

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back on 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date

Last 

Updated

1

Administering Authority unaware 

of structural changes in an 

employer’s membership (e.g. 

large fall in employee members, 

closing to new entrants)

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities over the 

long term
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Close relationship with employers and communicate required 

standards, e.g. for submission of data

2 - Actuary may revise Rates and Adjustments certificate to increase 

employers conts between triennial valuations

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

2

Lack of experience, knowledge, 

skills on the Pension Committee 

or Pension Board, and/or the lack 

of adequate training, resulting in a 

negative impact on governance 

arrangements within the 

Gloucestershire LGPS.

- High turnover of PC and/or 

board members

- Failure to take appropriate 

advice

- Poor engagement /preparation / 

commitment

- Poor oversight / lack of skills & 

knowledge

- Poor and ineffective decision 

making processes

Moderate Probable 3

1 - Training Policy, Plan and monitoring in place for PC and PB 

members. Training needs assessment now undertaken which has 

informed an appropriate training plan

2 - Range of professional advisors covering Fund responsibilities 

guiding the PC, PB and officers in their responsibilities

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2024

Delivery of training plan across the 

cycle of Committee members. National 

Knowledge and Skills assessment 

results delivered in March 2023, 

results used to develop trainig plan for 

2023/24. Next knowledge review 

schedule for March 2024. 

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

3

Lack of relevant expertise, 

knowledge, skills and resources at 

officer level in relation to 

administering the LGPS

- Non-compliance potentially 

resulting in inaccurate benefit 

calculations

- Increase in customer 

dissatisfaction and decrease in 

KPIs

- Poor oversight / lack of officer 

skills & knowledge

- Poor and ineffective decision 

making processes

Moderate Probable 3

1 - Training needs assessment carried out for each individual officer

2 - Annual training plan produced

3 - Subscription to the CIPFA K&S framework

4 - Appropriate qualified external advisers and consultants used when 

necessary

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Jun 2023

Recruitment to posts within the senior 

leadership team will provide greater 

resilience and reduce key person risk. 

Technical expertise from Hymans 

Robertson is now being made 

available to senior pension staff to 

assist in complex case management

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

4

Actuarial or investment advice is 

not sought, or is not heeded, or 

proves to be insufficient in some 

way

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Possible 1

1 - Close contact maintained with specialist advisers

2 - Advice delivered via formal meetings involving elected members 

and recorded appropriately

3 - Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

5

Administering Authority fail to 

commission the Actuary to carry 

out a termination valuation for a 

departing Admission Body.

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Possible 1

1 - Employers with Best Value contractors required to inform the 

Fund of forthcoming changes

2 - Contract periods of admission bodies monitored

3 - Regular monitoring of levels of active employees across all 

employers and further steps taken where necessary

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

6
Failure to comply with the Myners’ 

Investment Principles

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Possible 1

1 - Compliance regularly reviewed as detailed in the Investment 

Strategy statement and Governance statement Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

7
Failure to comply with the General 

Data Protection Regulation 

- Increase in data breaches

- Negative publicity and 

reputational damage

- Potential costs/fines. 

- Complaints from members

Major Possible 3

1 - Guidance and support from GCC Information management team -

website now contains info to meet GDPR requirements 

2 - Internal audit confirmed arrangements are satisfactory

3 - Legal review update to GDPR Policy is being undertaken - 

November 2022

Major Possible 3 J

Legal review of the GDPR policy has 

been undertaken to ensure it is fully 

compliant. Draft amendment proposed 

and awaiting for feedback from 

information commissioner.

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

8

Failure to protect the Pension 

Fund's key information and data 

as a result of exploited 

technological vulnerabilities 

facilitated through malicious 

attack, primarily from external 

sources.

- Inability to pay member benefits

- Member complaints

- Permanent / temporary loss of 

member data

- Financial impact of restoring 

systems

Major Possible 3

1 - Anti-malware and internet security software in place

2 - Patch management policies and procedures in place

3 - Compliance with PSN

4 - Internal and external ICT security testing takes place regularly

5 - Managing user privileges

Major Possible 3 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

9

Failing to adequately take account 

of, and monitor and report on, 

Environmental, Social and 

Governance ("ESG") factors, 

including Climate Change, in 

relation to the investment of the 

Funds’ assets

- Negative ESG implications 

- Financial loss
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Being a member of Brunel - ESG factors are integral to 

investment process

2 - ESG factors are considered for all Investment Manager 

appointments made by Brunel

3 - Robust process for on-going monitoring / reporting of ESG factors, 

so PC receives regular updates and assurance

4 - Adoption of Brunel Climate Change policy in January 2020

Moderate Possible 1 J

The Fund has commenced drafting a 

Responsible Investment policy as an 

outcome of the workshop held in 

November 2022. Further work 

anticipated for May 2023.

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

10

Failure to internally hold personal 

data securely and keep pension 

records up-to-date and accurate

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund

- Members potentially paid 

incorrect benefits

- Risk of breaching GDPR 

Regulations

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Personal data and scanned member documents are maintained in 

a secure password controlled online system

2 - Documented procedures for maintaining pension records are in 

place and regularly reviewed within the admin team

3 - Procedures regularly reviewed by internal auditors

4 -Physical access controls in operation within the Pension Fund 

office

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

Meets target?

Objectives extracted from Governance Policy

Risk Register - Governance Risks

20/02/2023 Governance Gloucester PF Risk Register - Aon v1 - 02 03 2023 PC Final

P
age 124



Risk 

no:
Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at 

risk (see 

above)

Current 

impact (see 

key)

Current 

likelihood 

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place

Target 

Impact (see 

key)

Target 

Likelihood 

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back on 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date
Last Updated

1

Fund assets fail to deliver returns 

in line with the anticipated returns 

underpinning valuation of liabilities 

over the long-term

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities
Major Possible 3

1 - Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in suitably 

diversified manner, across asset classes, geographies and managers

2 - Analysis of progress at three yearly valuation for all employers

3 - Strategic asset allocation following valuation results re-examined 

by an investment specialist 

4 - Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between valuations at whole 

fund level 

Major Possible 3 J

Long term forecasting of Strategic 

Asset Allocation ongoing by 

Independent Advisor and reported 

quarterly to Committee

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

2
Inappropriate long-term 

investment strategy

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Major Possible 3

1 - Regular monitoring of Fund's cash flow and actuarial estimates of 

future cash flow positions

2 -Overall investment strategy options including diversification 

considered as an integral part of the funding strategy

3 - Use of asset modelling in place

Major Possible 3 J

The new strategic asset allocation 

approved by the Pension Committee 

on 8 December 2022. Transition to new 

SAA underway

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

3

Fall in risk-free returns on 

Government bonds, leading to rise 

in value placed on liabilities.

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate Possible 1

1 -Stabilisation modelling at whole fund level including Inter-valuation 

monitoring

2 - Investment in bonds

3 - Strong deficit recovery plan

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

4 Increasing Pension Fund deficit

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate Possible 1

1 - Triennial valuation plus regular update reports

2 - Regular consideration at PC meetings of investment performance 

relative to funding assumptions, funding position and strategy

3 - Strong deficit recovery plan

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

5

Active investment manager under-

performance relative to 

benchmark.

- Impacts on achieving funding 

target
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market performance and 

Brunel portfolios relative to their index benchmark

2 - Diversification of investments across asset classes and across 

different fund managers

3- Brunel's portfolios monitored against agreed performance targets 

and reported to PC quarterly

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

6
Pay and price inflation significantly 

more than anticipated.

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate
Highly 

likely
3

1 - Focus of the valuation process on real returns on assets, net of 

price and pay increases

2 - Inter-valuation monitoring (provides early warning)

3 - Some investment in index-linked bonds

4 - Employers pay for their own salary awards

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 2 too 

high

21/09/2021 Mar 2023

Increased risk of a potential sustained 

inflationary environment is now a 

possibility. Continually being monitored 

at this time.

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

7
Unexpected increase in employer’s 

contribution rate

- Volatility of employer contribution 

rates leading to affordability 

pressures

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed for eligible 

employers as part of funding strategy

2 - Additional measures to limit sudden increases in contributions

3 - Discussions take place with employers regarding their ability to 

absorb rises in their contribution level                 

4 - Option to use deficit spreading and phasing in of contribution 

increases, with appropriate security / analysis

Moderate Possible 1 J

Engagement with Employer base for 

the 2022 Valuation has been 

undertaken. The Contribution Strategy 

of the Fund was agreed by Committee 

at its September meeting and is being 

consulted upon. Draft valuation report 

being brough to Committee March 

2023.

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

8

A company, without a guarantor, 

admitted to the Fund as an 

admission body may become 

financially unviable, leaving a 

significant financial deficit with the 

Fund

- Likelihood of increased 

contribution requirements falling 

back on other Fund employers

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Community admission bodies only admitted if have a funding 

guarantee from a tax-raising scheme employer 

2 - A surety bond is required by the employer to cover costs if 

company goes into liquidation

3 - Value of surety bond reviewed regularly to ensure is adequate              

Minor Possible 1 K
Current impact 1 too 

high 31/03/2019 Mar 2023

Four Admitted Bodies without 

guarantors now remain within the 

Fund. At the 2019 valuation the 

contribution rates for these employers 

were calculated using a gilts based 

investment return, resulting in higher 

contributions, partially addressing this 

risk. Further engagement and review of 

the current position has been 

undertaken with these Employers as 

part of the 2022 valuation.

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

9
Pensioners living longer, thus 

increasing cost to Fund.

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Minor Possible 1

1 - Mortality assumptions set with some allowance for future increases 

in life expectancy

2 - Life expectancy assumptions set using ClubVita - a specialised 

longevity firm

3 - Encouragement of employers concerned at costs to promote a later 

retirement culture 

Minor Possible 1 J

Fund utilises specific Gloucestershire 

related data supplied by Club Vita 

analysis. 

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

10

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of 

actively contributing employees 

declines relative to retired 

employees leading to the 

possibility of there being 

insufficient liquid funds available 

to pay liabilities as they fall due

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund
Moderate Possible 1

1 - Monitored at each valuation - seeking monetary deficit amounts 

rather than % of pay

2 - Inter-valuation monitoring of level of active members, both at whole 

fund level and by individual employer

3 - Regular review of investment strategy 

4 - Regular review of how cash flow positive the fund is (significant 

cash flow modelling recently undertaken by the Actuary)

Moderate Possible 1 J

Cashflow analysis has been 

undertaken by the actuary in response 

to the 2022 valuation and this was 

reviewed by Committee in December 

2022

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

11

Adverse demographic changes 

within employers, such as 

changing patterns of early 

retirements, reductions in payroll 

and more ill-health retirements 

than expected

- Volatility of employer contribution 

rates leading to affordability 

pressures

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Employers are charged the cost of non-ill-health retirements 

upfront following each individual decision

2 - Employers required to pay deficit recovery contributions as fixed 

monetary amounts rather than as a % of pay.

3 - Each employer’s ill-health experience monitored on an ongoing 

basis, and may be charged additional contributions if this exceeds the 

assumed number of ill-health retirements. Ill health insurance is 

available to be purchased by individual employers

Moderate Possible 1 J

IHLI procedure introduced in April 2020 

applicable to all highest risk employers. 

All other employers covered under a 

central policy unless formally opt out, 

under procedures agreed by PC in 

September 2019. To date 3 employers 

have opted out

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

Meets target?

Risk Register - Funding & Investment Risks (includes accounting and audit)

Objectives extracted from Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy Statement:

20/02/2023 FundingInvestment Gloucester PF Risk Register - Aon v1 - 02 03 2023 PC Final

P
age 125



Risk 

no:
Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at 

risk (see 

above)

Current 

impact (see 

key)

Current 

likelihood 

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place

Target 

Impact (see 

key)

Target 

Likelihood 

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back on 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date
Last UpdatedMeets target?

12

Adverse effect on the Fund’s 

investment strategy and employer 

contributions if large numbers of 

active members are outsourced on 

a “closed” (to new entrants) basis

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Moderate Possible 1

1 - Advice provided by the actuary on likely impact on investment out-

performance assumptions and employer contributions

2 - Monitoring of levels of outsourcings on a 'closed' basis and advise 

employers of implications

3 - Regular review of investment strategy and strategic asset allocation

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

13

Transfers out of the Fund into DC 

schemes due to introduction of 

"Freedom & Choice" resulting in a 

change in funding level

- Impacts on achieving fully 

funded pension liabilities Minor Possible 1

1 - Advice provided by the actuary on the proportion of active and 

deferred members over 55, and the maximum exposure of the Fund to 

these transfers

2 - Consideration given to impact on funding level on different possible 

levels of take up

Minor Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023

20/02/2023 FundingInvestment Gloucester PF Risk Register - Aon v1 - 02 03 2023 PC Final

P
age 126



Risk 

no:
Risk Overview (this will happen) Risk Description (if this happens)

Strategic 

objectives at 

risk (see above)

Current 

impact (see 

key)

Current 

likelihood 

(see key)

Current 

Risk 

Status

Internal controls in place
Target Impact 

(see key)

Target 

Likelihood 

(see key)

Target 

Risk 

Status

Date Not 

Met Target 

From

Expected 

Back On 

Target

Further Action and Owner Risk Manager
Next review 

date
Last Updated

Previous 

Impact

Previous 

Likelihood 

Previous 

Risk 

Status

Risk removed 

(date)

1

COVID-19 having a detrimental 

impact on the Pension Fund 

service provided to members and/or 

to the collections of pension fund 

contributions and investments.

- New retirees may not receive 

accurate and timely benefits

- Contributions may not be received 

and invested

- New investments may not be 

actioned

0

1 - Team members advised that if they display symptoms of Covid to not 

attend the office, thereby protecting team members.

2- Agile and remote working practises and processes, that are continuing 

to be developed now mean service can operate without an office 

presence.
0 03/03/2022 Mar 2023

As part of the administration review, 

system support will be reviewed in 

relation to further process efficiency 

gains that can be acheived.

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0 20/02/2023

2

Significant additional costs resulting 

from changes to national pension 

requirements and/or HMRC rules 

e.g. public sector pensions reform, 

and/or more complex regulations 

requiring increased administration 

resources

- Inefficient management of the 

Fund Moderate Probable 3

1 - The Fund considers government consultation papers and comments 

where appropriate

2 -Results of recent forms built into the valuation

3 -Changes to contribution rates or benefit levels carefully 

communicated with membership to minimise potential opt outs or other 

adverse actions

Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Expected regulations in relation to 

McCloud, and additional wide reaching 

consultation on pooling guidance and 

levelling up white paper, that may impact 

on the Fund

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0

3

Under resourcing of Pension 

Administration staff resulting in a 

deterioration of performance 

against key performance indicators 

and/or intervention from the 

Pensions Regulator.

- Increase in member complaints 

due to standards not being met. 

- Increase in workloads if additional 

performance improvement activities 

needed. 

- Negative publicity. 

- Potential adverse financial 

implications

Moderate
Highly 

likely
3

1 - Additional Pension Officers recruited to improve KPIs

Moderate Probable 3 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Stage 1 of the recruitment plan now 

completed. Hymans Robertson are 

providing an onboarding training plan for 

new starters to reduce burden on 

current team members to enable 

administrative delivery. Stage 2 to 

commence Q2/Q3 2023

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0

4

Failure to collect and account for 

contributions from employers and 

employees on time

- Potential for TPR to intervene. 

- Requirement to report on 

breaches log

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Monitoring and reconciliation of contributions carried out monthly

2 - Robust debt management process to recover late payments Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0

5

Failure to undertake a full 

reconciliation of Guaranteed 

Minimum Pensions records held on 

the Altair system with those held by 

HMRC.

- Non-compliance

- Additional financial costs

- Member dissatisfaction leading to 

complaints

Moderate Possible 1

1 - A detailed reconciliation procedure is underway - resulting in a 

significant reduction in potential GMP liabilities Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0

6

Having inadequate resource to 

provide sufficient input to the 

oversight of the Brunel to ensure it 

operates efficiently and effectively

- Reputational damage

- Detrimental impact on Fund if 

Brunel doesn't operate efficiently

Moderate Probable 3
1 - Future recruitment of Pension Investment and Accounting Manager 

to provide greater resilience
Moderate Possible 1 K Current likelihood 1 too 

high

03/03/2022 Mar 2023

Recruitment to posts within the senior 

leadership team will provide greater 

resilience and reduce key person risk

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0

7
Loss of funds through fraud or 

misappropriation

- Significant reputational damage

- Additional financial costs

- Member dissatisfaction leading to 

complaints

Moderate Possible 1

1 - Documented checking procedures and processes in place, and staff 

trained on implementing them

2 - Multiple authorisation levels for claims and payments

3 - Internal Auditors carry out regular reviews

Moderate Possible 1 J
Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0

8

Loss of Pensions Administration 

software usage due to expiration of 

the contract

- Significant reputational damage

- Additional financial costs

- Member dissatisfaction leading to 

complaints

- Inability to manage and pay 

benefits

Moderate Possible 1

1- Procurement identified as part of Business Plan 2023/24

2- Project plan being developed with internal procurement oversight

3- Access to the LGPS National Frameworks

4- Quarterly oversight of project by Committee and LPB

Minor Rare 1 K
Current impact 1 too high

Current likelihood 1 too 

high

07/06/2022 Dec 2023

Project plan and procurement process 

ongoing and operating to plan. Short 

term extension being proposed to 

ensure full procurement.

Head of 

Pension Fund
15/06/2023 20/02/2023 0

Risk Register - Operational Risks

Objectives extracted from Administration Strategy and Communications Strategy:

Meets target?

20/02/2023 Operational Gloucester PF Risk Register - Aon v1 - 02 03 2023 PC Final

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Pension Committee 
2 March 2023 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
Business Plan 2023/24 

 
Report of the Head of Pensions 

 
 
Summary 
 
The Fund’s Business Plan 2023/24, as set out in Appendix 1 to this report, covers the Funds 
objectives, key areas of activity and budget for 2023/24. 
 
 
Background 
 
Good governance of the Pension Fund is critical for the long-term sustainability of the 

Fund for the members and the participating Employers, therefore, the purpose of the 

Business Plan is to:  

• explain the background and objectives for the management of the Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund 

• document the priorities and improvements to be implemented by the Pension Fund 

over the next year to help achieve those objectives 

• enable progress and performance to be monitored in relation to those priorities 

• provide stakeholders with a clear vision  

 

In addition, this Business Plan includes a budget for expected payments from the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund over the period, including the resources required to manage 

the Fund. 

The Business Plan is formally reviewed and agreed every year. However, throughout the 

year it is monitored by officers, and as a result the Pensions Committee may be asked to 

agree changes to it. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 9



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 

Review of 2022/23 Business Plan and Budget 

The following is a review of the agreed work plan of the business plan for 2022/23: 

Governance 

Task 2022/23 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of Risk Register ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Approval of External Audit Plan ✓    

Implement outcomes of the Funds 

Governance Review 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Review and approve Business Plan    ✓ 

Annual review against The Pensions 

Regulators Code of Practise 

   x – Awaiting 

the single code 

of practise 

Approval of audited Fund accounts  ✓ - draft 

accounts 

provided. 

Audit ongoing 

✓ - Audit 

opinion on 

agenda.   

 

Approval of Annual Report   ✓  

Review Policy Statements  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Training Needs Analysis   ✓ - 

Assessment 

undertaken. 

Results due in 

Q4 

✓ - 

Assessment 

undertaken. 

Results 

included into 

training plan 

Review Breaches log ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Monitor employer activity ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

 

Page 130



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Funding 

Task 2022/23 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of ongoing funding position ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Cash flow modelling   ✓ - 

completed 1 

quarter ahead 

of schedule 

 

Review the Funding Strategy 

Statement 

 ✓-Brought to 

Committee 1 

quarter earlier 

✓ - 

Consultation 

with 

stakeholders 

undertaken 

✓ 

 

 

Investment Management 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Monitor Fund Performance ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Responsible Investment 

Reporting 

 ✓  ✓ ✓ 

Review the Funds Investment 

Strategy Statement 

 ✓ ✓ ✓  

Review the Funds Responsible 

Investment Policy 

   ✓ - activity 

commenced 

with 

workshop in 

Q3 

✓ - 

outcomes 

and next 

steps on 

agenda 

Review the recommendations 

of the Taskforce for Climate-

related Financial Disclosure 

(TCFD) and requirements for 

UK Stewardship code signatory 

status 

✓ - on the 

2022/23 

business 

plan 

x – awaiting 

consultation 

from DHLUC 

✓ - 

consultation 

on agenda. 

Workshop 

to be 

arranged to 

provide 

response 

✓ - 

Response to 

TCFD 

consultation 

completed. 

Workshop 

undertaken 

in Q3 

 

 

 

Page 131



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 

Administration 

Task 2021/22 2022/23 

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Issue Annual Benefit 

Statements to active and 

deferred members 

  ✓ - 

completed 

  

P60’s distributed to pensioner 

members 

 ✓ - 

completed 

   

Recruitment of agreed 

additional resources 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ - 

ongoing 

 

Annual pension in payment and 

CARE accrual increase exercise 

 ✓ - 

completed 

   

Annual submission of HMRC 

Event report 

✓ - 

completed 

   ✓ - 

completed 

Issue notices to employees for 

breaches of HMRC Annual 

Allowance limits 

   ✓ - 

Completed 

 

Provision of data to actuary to 

produce financial accounting 

required for employer accounts 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ - 

Completed 

 

Reconciliation of membership 

data for all employers 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ - 

ongoing 

Review and correct data errors   ✓ ✓ - 

ongoing 

 

Process and reconcile 

membership pay and 

contribution data for year end 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ - 

ongoing 

 

Data quality assessment for the 

Pensions Regulator 

  ✓ - 

completed 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 132



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 

 

Core Projects for 2022/23 

 

The following is a high level summary of the progress of the core projects agreed as part of 

the business plan for 2022/23: 

Project Status Comments 

1. 2022 Actuarial Valuation and associated 

tasks 

Completed Completed to timetable 

2. Review pensions administration system 

contract  

Ongoing Project will roll over into 

2023/24 business plan. 

3. Pensions Dashboard (including a Data 

Improvement Strategy) 

 

Ongoing Project will roll over into 

2023/24 business plan. 

4. McCloud  

 

Not yet 

commenced 

Currently awaiting specific 

LGPS regulations to be 

drafted now that the 

Public Service Pensions 

and Judicial Offices Bill has 

been laid in Statue. This 

project is ongoing and will 

roll over into the 2023/24 

business plan. 

 

Activity against the 2022/23 business plan has been undertaken largely in line with the 

agreed budget with some exceptions as seen in the table below: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 Budget 

2022/23 

YTD Dec 

22 
% 

Forecast 

Outturn 
Variance 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

Administrative Expenses      

Staff Costs 1,041 610 59 895 -146 

Premises 75 0 0 75 0 

IT 460 313 68 417 -43 

Supplies and services 320 72 23 320 0 

Other central costs 70 5 7 70 0 

Cost of democracy 0 0 0 0 0 

Other 15 0 0 15 0 

Total Administrative Expenses 1,981 1,000 51 1,792 -189 

Investment Management Expenses      

Management fees 11,500 8,799 77 11,732 232 

Performance fees 0 217 100+ 289 289 

Custody fees 75 45 60 60 -15 

Brunel contract costs 1,120 1,100 98 1,100 -20 

Tax & legal costs 25 1 4 10 -15 

Transaction costs 500 0 0 500 0 

Total Investment Management 

Expenses 

13,220 10,162 77 13,691 471 

Oversight & Governance Expenses      

Staff costs 240 129 54 211 -29 

Audit fees 50 28 56 51 1 

Actuarial fees 400 243 61 400 0 

Pension Committee/Board 20 7 35 10 -10 

Performance monitoring service 120 97 81 129 9 

Investment consultancy 150 25 17 75 -75 

Other professional fees 150 30 20 100 -50 

Total Oversight & Governance 

Expenses 

1,130 559 49 976 -154 

Income      

Recoveries for services provided -100 -84 84 -112 -12 

Total Pension Fund Budget 16,231 11,637 72 16,347 116 

 

Page 134



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 

In summary a small overspend of £116k is forecast at year end against the approved budget 
for 2022/23. The main reasons behind forecast outturn position are provided below. 
 
The majority of the Funds, Administrative forecast underspend of £189k relates to the level 

of vacancies in the team during the year. This is also reflected in the IT underspend in 

relation to required equipment and licences.   

The projected underspend on Oversight & Governance totaling £154k relates primarily on 

the decision not to undertake a full Strategic Asset Allocation review as part of the triennial 

valuation process in 2022/23, which reflects an underspend on investment consultancy. The 

expenditure on professional fees fluctuates year on year depending on the number of 

complex matters the Fund has had to deal with that may require legal opinion or support 

from additional professional advisers. 

 
There is an expected overspend, albeit relatively small of £471k against Investment 
Management Expenses which reflects the fluctuation in asset values under management 
and the nature of the fee structures. Fund management fees continued to increase as the 
commitment to more investments in alternatives, particularly private equity, private debt 
and infrastructure which are subject to higher fee rates continues. The performance fee 
relates to the Golub Private Debt investment. This investment is nearing the end of its Fund 
life and is now a distribution phase. Based upon the performance of this investment the 
manager has met and exceeded the hurdle rates (minimum return to 
investors/performance) which now triggers the performance fees. 
 
 
Priorities for 2023/24 
 
For 2023/24 it is proposed to focus on 4 key areas in addition to the normal activities of the 
Fund The details are contained in the business plan, attached as Appendix 1, but to 
summarise these core projects are: 
 

• Pensions administration system contract review/renewal 

• Pensions Dashboard (including a data improvement strategy) 

• Responsible Investment Policy and TCFD reporting  

• McCloud   
 

In addition, the following are just some of the other areas which will need to be managed or 
responded to, some of which may necessitate a review of the aims, objectives, and 
governance of the Fund: 

• Consultation and/or regulations in relation to Investment Pooling, Exit payment 

regulations 

• Implementation of the anticipated Good Governance review recommendations 

Page 135



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

 

 

Budget 2023/24 
 
The business plan 2023/24 sets out the Funds budget for 2023/24 and compares it with the 
budget for 2022/23. Overall there is an increase in the budget from £16.2m to £17.4m. The 
main elements of this variation are explained in more detail below. The budget has been 
produced based upon the CIPFA accounting guidelines, so it replicates the information 
contained in the Funds Annual Report and Accounts. The budget is proposed to be 
monitored by Committee periodically during the year. 
 
The increase in the administrative expenses, from £1.981m to £2.263m (c13%) reflects the 
inclusion of the second stage of the recruitment of the additional resources (c£82k) agreed 
by Committee in January 2021, which are planned to be recruited to within the budget year 
and associated IT costs. It also includes an additional post (c£50k) in the structure to retain 
the key knowledge and experience of the previous Pensions Administration Manager. It also 
anticipates pay growth at 4% as well as inflationary pressure on supplies and service costs 
which also includes an anticipated increase in legal support requirements. 
 
The slight increase in oversight & governance expenses, from £1.130m to £1,141m 
anticipates pay growth at 4%, as well anticipated additional activities resulting from TCFD 
requirements and other additional consultations that will result in the need for additional 
professional bespoke services. 
 
The budget for Committee and Board training reflects the requirements of good governance 
and the training strategy to ensure compliance with the CIPFA knowledge and skills 
framework, and the different ways training can be provided. 
 
The variation in the budget on investment management expenses reflects anticipated 
investment growth in the overall assets of the Fund and the fact that management fees are 
charged as a fixed percentage of assets under management. The Brunel contract costs have 
increased to reflect the agreed operational budget and people strategy, which have been 
subject to scrutiny and challenge by officers and the Brunel Oversight Board before being 
approved by Shareholders, to ensure the continued delivery of the required services and to 
meet the new agreed objectives of the Partnership.  
 
Recommendation 

That the Committee approve the Business Plan for 2023/24 at Appendix 1 and note the 
current outturn position of the 2022/23 business plan contained in this report.  
 
Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 136



1 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

 

Business Plan 2023-24 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Control 
 

Document owner Head of Pensions 

Version Number 1.0 

Date 2 March 2023 

Committee approval 2 March 2023 

Next review due Quarterly 

 

Page 137



2 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Introduction 

This is the Business Plan for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, which is managed and administered by 

Gloucestershire County Council. The Business Plan details our priorities and areas of key focus in relation 

to the Fund for 2023/24. The Business Plan is formally reviewed and agreed every year. However, 

throughout the year it is monitored by officers, and as a result the Pensions Committee may be asked to 

agree changes to it. 

The purpose of the Business Plan is to:  

• explain the background and objectives for the management of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

• document the priorities and improvements to be implemented by the Pension Fund over the next 

year to help achieve those objectives 

• enable progress and performance to be monitored in relation to those priorities 

• provide stakeholders with a clear vision  

In addition, this Business Plan includes a budget for expected payments from the Gloucestershire Pension 

Fund over the period, including the resources required to manage the Fund. 

 

Background to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

 

The Gloucestershire Pension Fund is a c£3.1bn Local Government Pension Scheme, which provides death 

and retirement benefits for local government employees (other than teachers, police and firefighters) in 

Gloucestershire and employees of other qualifying bodies which provide similar services. Total 

membership as at 31 March 2022 was 57,862 members consisting of 18,920 active, 20,814 deferred and 

18,128 retired (pensioner/dependant) members. There are 217 active employer bodies in the Fund. 

 

Governance and management of the Fund  

The Pension Committee is responsible for the proper administration of all aspects of the Fund and has 

been delegated this authority by the County Council, as Administering Authority of the Fund. 

The Pensions Committee's principal aim is to carry out the functions of Gloucestershire County Council as 

the Scheme Manager and Administering Authority for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund in accordance 

with the LGPS regulations and any other relevant legislation.   

In its role as the administering authority, Gloucestershire County Council owes fiduciary duties to the 

employers and members of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and must not compromise this with its own 

particular interests. Consequently, this fiduciary duty is a delegated responsibility of the Pensions 

Committee and its members must not compromise this with their own individual interests  

In addition to the Pensions Committee, a Local Pension Board (“LPB”) is in place to assist in: 

Page 138



3 

 

• securing compliance with the LGPS regulations and any other legislation relating to the 

governance and administration of the LGPS  

• to secure compliance with requirements imposed in relation to the LGPS by the Pensions 

Regulator  

• secure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS for the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

The Pension Fund Team 

The Pension Fund is managed by the Head of Pensions, who is supported by two sections:  

• The Pension Administration Section which is responsible for the day to day administration of 

pension benefits and is headed by the Pension Administration Manager. The team delivers a 

pensions service to 57,862 scheme members and 217 Employers as at 31 March 2022. This 

includes the calculation of various benefits, transfers in and out, refunds and maintenance of 

individual records. The team also implements and maintains the pension software systems, 

reconciles employer records, and oversees a pensioner payroll service for approximately 18,128 

pensioners, survivors and dependents. 

 

• The Pension Investment Section which is responsible for accounting, investment and governance 

matters is headed by the Pension Investment & Accounting Manager. The section is responsible 

for day to day accounting, production of the Annual Accounts and production of the Annual 

Report. Additionally, the section is responsible for all investment matters of the Fund, including 

implementing the Fund’s responsible investment approach, monitoring and managing of the fund 

managers and the c£3.1bn of assets (as at 31 March 2022). The Pension Investment Section is also 

responsible for overseeing the pooling of the Fund’s assets with eight other LGPS Funds, and the 

Environment Agency, into the Brunel Pension Partnership.   

The team structure, as agreed by Committee is outlined below: 

 

 

Officers, the Pensions Committee and the Local Pension Board are supported by a range of specialist 

consultants, suppliers and fund managers. The Fund’s Independent Adviser is John Arthur from MJ 

Hudson, Actuary is Julie West from Hymans Robertson, LGPS Pool is Brunel and custodian is State Street. 

The Fund also utilises other professional services as required, on specific issues, from organisations such 

as, but not limited to,  Aon, Mercers and Osborne Clarke. 

 

Head of Pensions

1 (1 FTE)

Pension Administration

26 (23.49 FTE)

Pension Investment & 
Accounting

7 (6.3 FTE)

Page 139



4 

 

 

Aims and Objectives for the management of the Fund  

Our Primary Objectives are:  

• Administer pension benefits in accordance with the LGPS Regulations 2013 (as amended); 

• To achieve and maintain an appropriate funding level; 

• Ensure there are sufficient liquid resources available to meet the Funds liabilities and 

commitments; and 

• To maintain as stable as possible, required employer contribution rates. 

Our key strategies and policies which guide the management of the Fund are listed below and can be 

found on our website at https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/local-

government-pension-scheme-lgps/finance-and-investments/ 

 

 

Policy Last approved Next review due by 

Cessation  March 2023 March 2026 

Communication Policy Statement August 2018 June 2023 

Conflicts of Interest  September 2021 September 2024 

Contribution Reviews  March 2023 March 2026 

Exit Credit May 2020 June 2023 

Funding Strategy Statement March 2023 March 2026  

Governance Compliance Statement September 2022 September 2024 

Governance Policy Statement September 2022 September 2024 

Investment Strategy Statement December 2022 March 2026 

Pension Administration Strategy April 2017 June 2023 

Pre-Payment of Contributions March 2023 March 2026 

Reporting Breaches of the Law December 2021 December 2024 

Risk Management December 2021 December 2024 

Statement of Administering Authority Discretions December 2021 December 2024 

Training Strategy April 2021 April 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 140

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/local-government-pension-scheme-lgps/finance-and-investments/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/local-government-pension-scheme-lgps/finance-and-investments/


5 

 

The key activities and areas of focus in our Business Plan are grouped into the areas of governance, 

funding, investment management, training & skills and administration, to align with the key aims and 

objectives of these strategies and policies. These aims and objectives are summarised below. 

Governance  

• Act in the best interests of the Fund’s members and employers 

• Strive to ensure compliance with the appropriate legislation and statutory guidance, and to act in 

the spirit of other relevant guidelines and best practice guidance  

• Act with integrity and be accountable to our stakeholders for our decisions, ensuring they are 

robust and well based  

• Have robust governance arrangements in place to facilitate informed decision making, supported 

by appropriate advice, policies and strategies  

Funding  

• Achieve and maintain assets appropriate to the level of liabilities, whilst remaining within 

reasonable risk parameters  

• Determine employer contribution requirements, whilst recognising the constraints on affordability 

and strength of employer covenant, with the aim being to maintain as predictable an employer 

contribution requirement as possible 

• Minimise unrecoverable debt on employer termination 

• Ensure net cash outgoings can be met as/when required 

Investment Management 

• Ensure that its future strategy, investment management actions, governance and reporting 

procedures take full account of longer-term risks and sustainability 

• Strike the appropriate balance between long-term consistent investment performance, 

responsible investment and the funding objectives  

• Recognising the constraints on affordability for employers, aim for sufficient excess investment 

returns relative to the growth of liabilities 

• To be a good steward with our assets, as the Fund believes that sound corporate governance 

contributes to long-term value for our members.  

• To ensure that ESG considerations are taken into account as part of funding and investment 

strategy setting 

Training & Skills 

• Ensure the Fund is managed, and its services delivered, by people who have the appropriate 

knowledge and expertise 

• Ensure the Fund is effectively governed and administered 

• Ensure decisions are robust, are well founded and comply with regulatory requirements and 

guidance from the Pensions Regulator, the Scheme Advisory Board and the Department for 

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)  

• Ensure officers responsible for accounting consider and implement CIPFA/SAB guidance 

Administration 

• Provide a high quality, professional, proactive, timely and customer focused administration service 

to the Fund’s stakeholders 

• Administer the Fund in a cost effective and efficient manner utilising technology appropriately to 

obtain value for money  

Page 141



6 

 

• Ensure the Fund’s employers are aware of and understand their roles and responsibilities under 

the LGPS regulations and in the delivery of the administration functions of the Fund 

• Ensure the correct benefits are paid to, and the correct income collected from the correct people, 

at the correct time 

• Maintain accurate records and ensure data is protected and has authorised use only 

• Promote the Scheme as a valuable benefit and provide sufficient information so members can 

make an informed decision about their benefits 

• Communicate in a clear and concise manner 

• Ensure we use the most appropriate means of communication, taking into account the different 

needs of different stakeholders  

• Regularly evaluate the effectiveness of communications and shape future communications 

appropriately 

Ongoing Activities 

The key activities section of the Business Plan highlights what our key tasks are for the next 2 to 3 years. 

This focusses on areas of change and project like tasks which are in addition to our day to day “ongoing 

activities”. On a day to day basis our focus is on the following key elements:  

• Paying pension benefits to beneficiaries, as prescribed by the LGPS regulations 

• Communicating with our scheme members about their membership of the Fund 

• Ensuring we receive all the pension contributions paid by active members of the Fund, as 

prescribed by the LGPS regulations 

• Ensuring all the employers in the Fund pay their pension contributions 

• Safeguarding the Fund’s assets 

• Investing any Fund assets that are not currently needed to pay benefits 

• Working with the actuary so, over the valuation cycle, a determination can be made as to how 

much employers need to pay into the Fund to ensure we have enough money to pay pension 

benefits in the future 

Managing this on a day to day basis involves a wide range of processes and procedures, some of which are 

outlined below, and all of which have been designed around achieving our Fund’s objectives as outlined in 

our strategies and policies. The pension fund is large, complex and highly regulated. As such, these 

processes and procedures require expert knowledge and experience from both officers and external 

advisors in several diverse areas, as illustrated below. 

Governance  

• Setting the agenda, reporting and presenting to the Pensions Committee and Local Pension Board 

• Implementing and monitoring the achievement of other areas of governance such as the Training 

Strategy, Breaches Policy and The Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice 

• Procurement of and payment for advisers and other services 

• Assisting internal and external audit in their role 

• Replying to Freedom of Information requests in adherence with statutory time limits 

Accountancy 

• Preparing and publishing the Fund’s Annual Report 

• Completing the Annual Accounts and assisting external auditors 

• Preparation and quarterly monitoring of the Annual Budget 

• Preparation of statutory and non-statutory returns as required 

• Cash flow 

Page 142



7 

 

• Monitoring of income and expenditure including employer and scheme member contributions 

• Invoicing of employers for pension strain and actuarial recharges  

Funding 

• Agreeing the funding strategy with the actuary and consulting with employers and monitoring 

continued appropriateness annually 

• Assisting the actuary with the Actuarial Valuation by providing membership data and presenting 

results and explanations to employers of future employer contributions and deficit payments 

• Arranging actuarial data required by the Government Actuary Department (“GAD”) 

• Monitoring the employer’s covenant including their ability to pay contributions and managing any 

employers who wish to join or leave the Fund 

• Submitting monthly cash flow data to the actuary for employer asset tracking (HEAT)  

Investments  

• Carrying out a review of the investment strategy at least every three years to coincide with the 

actuarial valuation 

• Appointing, monitoring and dismissing of fund managers, including within a pooling environment  

• Monitoring and reporting on investment performance 

• Monitoring and implementation of the strategic asset allocation decisions 

• Working with other LGPS funds and the Environment Agency to pool investments through our role 

within the Brunel Pension Partnership (see below) 

• Monitoring and engaging with our fund managers on their responsible investment approach 

• Responsible investment reporting on the Fund’s investments with Brunel, as relevant, for different 

asset classes and strategies. This includes; carbon footprints, fossil fuel exposures and the Fund’s 

voting and engagement activities  

• Collaboration with responsible investment initiatives to which the Fund is a member/supporter, 

such as LAPFF 

Brunel Pension Partnership Oversight 

• Participation in the Oversight Board and Client Group of the Brunel Pool 

• Assessment and analysis of the performance of Brunel portfolios in which the Fund is invested 

• Monitoring the service level agreements and that key performance indicators are being met 

• Ensure Brunel provides value for money 

Administration  

• Providing ongoing information to scheme members and their beneficiaries as they join, leave or 

change their status in the Fund, within statutory timescales 

• Calculating and notifying entitlement to retirement, leaving and death benefits 

• Processing transfers into and out of the Fund 

• Providing quotations of retirement benefits including any additional costs to employers 

• Providing information on how scheme members can increase their pension benefits 

• Providing information to solicitors in respect of divorce proceedings 

• Maintaining accurate scheme member records 

• Maintaining the Fund’s Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure 

• Maintaining and updating the pensions software system 

• Providing guidance on changes in processes following legislation updates 

• Providing information on progress against key performance indicators 

Page 143



8 

 

• Extracting and forwarding data to the Fund actuary to track membership changes for employer 

mergers and TUPE transfers 

• Reporting and making payments to HMRC 

• Processing bulk updates to data relating to employer year end returns 

• Quarterly review of the Risk Register 

• Providing information to employers and members via newsletters/email 

• Maintaining the Fund’s website 

• Providing new employers with information about their Fund responsibilities 

• Providing ongoing training and technical updates to employers 

 

Key Challenges and Influences  

2022 proved to be an extremely busy and turbulent year and it is expected that 2023 to be similar.  

Conflict in Europe, rising geopolitical tensions globally, the aftereffects of the pandemic, rocketing 

inflation and rising interest rates have conspired to increase market volatility. For the Fund, the changing 

economic environment will require constant review and potential evolution of both funding and 

investment strategies. There’s no perfect, correct, or obvious answer so the Fund will need to be able to 

have sufficient time to explore the options to be able to demonstrate confidence to all stakeholders and 

evidence decision-making. 

Improved funding and more regulatory flexibility have created additional options for employers. This has 

led to wider and fuller engagement through the 2022 valuations. However, the likelihood of volatile 

funding and budgetary pressures ahead means the Fund must maintain and evolve engagement. This will 

give the Fund and our employers the best chance of successfully navigating the next few years and 

continue to deliver positive outcomes. 

We hope to see implementation of TPR’s Single Code of Practice and the recommendations of the Good 

Governance Review. This may result in further activity being required around a proposed new 

requirement that we should have a workforce plan. The current activity around reviewing administration, 

its strategy, process and reportable KPI’s will provide a solid platform for this potential area of activity. 

Administration challenges will continue to be at the forefront, with core projects in relation to the 

Pensions Dashboard and McCloud being key drivers over the next 12 months at a time when we continue 

to find resourcing a challenge. Reviewing our processes and structures to maximise resources, improve 

governance and make the most of technology in service delivery will be key.  

We agreed that climate change is the most important ESG theme and the development of the Funds 

Responsible Investment policy will be a key priority for 2023. The Fund made good progress on this issue 

during 2022 through a beliefs workshop and considering the impact on investment strategy and 

strengthening engagement with managers and portfolio companies. It is expected that the further 

identification and implementation of the beliefs will be required to agree goals and this will be a key focus 

in 2023. ESG data coverage and quality remain a huge issue and will also require continued focus during 

the year. 

It now seems likely that 2023 will be the year when we will have to deal with a wave of new, and not so 

new, policy, regulation and best practice. The current list includes further guidance on pooling, Good 

Governance, Taskforce for Climate-related Financial Disclosure requirements, UK Stewardship Code, policy 

on boycotts, divestments and sanctions as well as the potentially changes in UK financial services 

regulations, that may be impactful for the Fund. 

 

Page 144



9 

 

Budget 

All the costs associated with the management of the Fund are a charge to the Fund and not the Council. 

The following details the expected expenditure to the Fund.  

 Budget 

2023/24 

 Budget 

2022/23 

 £’000  £’000 

Administrative Expenses    

Staff Costs 1,253  1,041 

Premises 75  75 

IT 500  460 

Supplies and services 350  320 

Other central costs 70  70 

Other 15  15 

Total Administrative Expenses 2,263  1,981 

Investment Management Expenses    

Management fees 12,250  11,500 

Performance fees 0  0 

Custody fees 75  75 

Brunel contract costs 1,260  1,120 

Tax & legal costs 25  25 

Transaction costs 500  500 

Total Investment Management Expenses 14,110  13,220 

Oversight & Governance Expenses    

Staff costs 251  240 

Audit fees 65  50 

Actuarial fees 300  400 

Pension Committee/Board 40  20 

Performance monitoring service 135  120 

Investment consultancy 150  150 

Other professional fees 200  150 

Total Oversight & Governance Expenses 1,141  1,130 

Income    

Recoveries for services provided -100  -100 

Total Pension Fund Budget 17,414  16,231 

 

Page 145



10 

 

 

 

 

Delivering the Business Plan 

Monitoring and Reporting 

In order to identify whether we are meeting our agreed Business Plan we will: 

• continue to monitor progress of the key priorities and the agreed budgets on an ongoing basis 

• provide updates on progress against these key priorities on a regular basis to the Pensions 

Committee, which will be shared with the Local Pension Board  

• as part of these updates: 

o highlight any areas where we are exceeding or failing to achieve our targets and the 

reasons why and, as a result, identify any changes to the planned priorities 

 

 

Risks  

The risk management policy and the detailed Risk Register of the Fund matches high level risks, under 

each of the areas of activity, to the Fund’s high-level objectives: 

• Funding and investment risks 

• Operational and regulatory risks 

• Governance risks 

Each of the detailed risks under these categories has been given a target risk score based upon impact and 

likelihood. These risks are then monitored against the target risk. Changes to the level of risk are reported 

at each Committee meeting.  

The next few years will remain challenging for those involved in the governance, management and 

operation of the Fund. The risks documented in the Risk Register will be reviewed and updated every 

quarter for presentation to Committee. The Fund’s Business Plan has been completed to ensure that all 

our known risks are being managed and resourced. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



11 

 

 

 

Training Plan 

The Fund has an agreed training policy in place to aid the Pensions Committee members, Local Pension 

Board members in performing and developing personally in their individual roles, with the ultimate aim of 

ensuring that the Gloucestershire Pension Fund is managed by individuals who have the appropriate levels 

of knowledge and skills.  

The following high-level training plan has been established for 2023/24 to assist in meeting these aims 

based upon the results and recommendations from the National Knowledge and Skills (NKA) undertaken 

by members of the Committee and Board in accordance with the training policy: 

 

Title of Session Timescale Audience 

Core Topic: Accounting & Audit Standards 

Pre-Meeting Training: Providing a general 

understanding of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 

and the role of internal and external audit 

June 2023 Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Information Session 

(Half day)  

May 2023 Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

PLSA Local Authority Conference, Cotswold Water 

Park 

26-28 June 

2023 

Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

Core Topic: Investment Performance 

Pre-Meeting Training: Myners principles and the 

structure, operation and purpose of investment 

pooling arrangements 

September 

2023 

Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

Core Topic: Financial Markets and Product Knowledge 

Pre-Meeting Training: Risk and return characteristics 

of the main asset classes, the workings of the financial 

markets and available investment vehicles. 

December 

2023 

Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

Core Topic: Administration 

Pre-Meeting Training: Overview of best practice in 

pensions administration, together with policies, 

resource and discretionary powers 

March 

2024 

Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

Brunel Pension Partnership Investor Day TBC Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

CIPFA Pension Audit & Accounting workshop TBC Officers 

LGA Fundamentals Training As 

required 

Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board 

Hymans Online Learning Academy (LOLA) As 

Required 

Pensions Committee, Local 

Pension Board and Officers 

Page 147



12 

 

 

 

 

Core Projects for 2023/24 

 

 

1) Responsible Investment Policy and TCFD reporting 

 

What is it?  

The Responsible Investment policy will capture the beliefs, objectives and measurable targets of the 

Fund in respect of ESG risks. It will align fully with the inherent objective of the TCFD guidance, which is 

to acknowledge and assess climate change as financially material over the lifespan of a held 

investment. It will capture and articulate the Funds ESG investment ethos and net zero ambitions. 

   

TCFD - The Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) was commissioned in 2015 by 

Mark Carney in his remit as Chair of the Financial Stability Board. In 2017 the TCFD released its 

recommendations for improved transparency by companies, asset managers, asset owners, banks, and 

insurance companies with respect to how climate-related risks and opportunities are being managed.   

The Fund will be required to report on specific metrics in relation to climate data. 

 

 

Timescales and Stages 

Effective TCFD reporting period: 1 April 2023 - 31 March 2024 

Included into Annual Report published on or before 1 December 2024 

Responsible Investment Policy: 30 September 2023  

 

 

Resource and Budget Implications 

Both projects will run simultaneously due to the interdependence of both aspects. The initial stage will 

see the development of a responsible investment policy and the key metrics, aligned to the TCFD 

requirements, the Fund will report against. This is a major exercise for the Fund and will take resource 

from the Finance team over 2023/24. Professional guidance from various sources may be required and 

this has been included in the 2023/24 budget. 

 

 

 

 

Page 148



13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2) Review pensions administration system contract  

 

 

What is it?  

The Fund has a contract with Aquila Heywood in relation to their Altair administration system which 

expires in Q2 2023. A short term direct award is being actioned to allow for the completion of the 

administration strategy review that will inform the scope of future service requirements. In addition 

the requirements for Pension Dashboard will be further known and can be included in a formal 

procurement exercise. 

The Fund will access the LGPS National Frameworks, which includes a framework for pensions 

administration systems.  

Should a new software supplier be appointed, there will be a significant amount of work required to 

migrate to the new system.  

 

 

Timescales and Stages  

Finalise short term direct award/contract extension – June 2023  

Formal scope service requirements – April 2023 to September 2023 

Conduct formal tender for CPF administration system via LGPS National Framework – September 2023 

to December 2023  

Transition plan to new administration system if required from January 2024. 

 

 

Resource and Budget Implications  

To be led by the Head of Pensions and Pension Administration Manager. Procurement expertise will, be 

required to project manager (will be direct awarded from the LGPS National Framework for support 

services). Budget requirement not included in 2023/24 budget. 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3) Pensions Dashboard (including a Data Improvement Strategy) 

 

 

What is it?  

The Pensions Dashboard is a Government initiative first announced in the Budget 2016. The Dashboard 

is to allow all pension savers in the UK access to view the values of all of their pension pots, including 

state pension, through one central platform. A consultation was undertaken by Government in early 

2019 which sought views on the potential phasing of the introduction of the pensions dashboards as 

well as how the architecture, funding and governance arrangements would work. The legislative 

requirements to participate in the Pension Dashboard for schemes (including public sector schemes) 

was launched by DWP in February 2022. As part of this, the Fund will embark on producing a Data 

Improvement Strategy and plan. 

 

 

Timescales and Stages  

Data Improvement Strategy: April 2023 – December 2023  

Data Improvement Plan: December 2023 – June 2024 

Pension Dashboard connection: September 2024  

 

 

Resource and Budget Implications  

The Data Improvement Strategy and Plan will be led by the Head of Pensions and the Pensions 

Administration Manager. Resource and budget implications cannot be determined as it will form part 

of the review of the pensions administration system contract. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4) McCloud  

 

 

What is it?  

The McCloud case has highlighted that the introduction of the new CARE schemes for Firefighters and 

Judges in April 2015 were unlawful. This impacts on other public service pension schemes including the 

LGPS where the new CARE scheme from April 2014 included a statutory underpin for older members. 

Remedies are being worked through by Government to remove the inequality in the schemes, which 

will result in changes to scheme benefits some of which will be retrospective. From an administrative 

perspective the impact of McCloud will result in a change to how benefits are calculated for a large 

number of scheme members including members who have left. This is likely to significantly impact on 

administration process and systems as well as requiring a robust communication exercise with 

employers and scheme members. The additional resource/system requirements are likely to be 

significant. The remediation is subject to a Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Bill, which has 

now been laid in statue. 

 

 

Timescales and Stages  

McCloud planning/impact analysis ongoing 

Timescales will be updated as more information becomes available.  

 

 

Resource and Budget Implications  

It will impact across all of the Administration Team. No estimated allowance for additional resource has 

been included in the 2023/24 budget at this time. Support from the pensions administration software 

provider is likely to require additional budget is also likely to be needed in future years as the impact is 

realised. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



16 

 

Key Tasks/Work Plan for 2023/24 

 

Governance 

Task Q1 

(Apr-Jun 23) 

Q2 

(Jul-Sep 23) 

Q3 

(Oct-Dec 23) 

Q4 

(Jan-Mar 24) 

Review of Risk Register ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Approval of External Audit Plan ✓    

Implement outcomes of the Funds 

Governance Review 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Review and approve Business Plan for 

2024/25 

   ✓ 

Annual review against The Pensions 

Regulators Code of Practise 

   ✓ 

Approval of audited Fund accounts  ✓   

Approval of Annual Report   ✓  

Review Policy Statements  ✓   

Training Needs Analysis    ✓ 

Review Breaches log ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Monitor employer activity ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

 

Funding 

Task Q1 

(Apr-Jun 22) 

Q2 

(Jul-Sep 22) 

Q3 

(Oct-Dec 22) 

Q4 

(Jan-Mar 23) 

Review of ongoing funding position ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Cash flow modelling    ✓ 

 

 

Investment Management 

Task Q1 

(Apr-Jun 22) 

Q2 

(Jul-Sep 22) 

Q3 

(Oct-Dec 22) 

Q4 

(Jan-Mar 23) 

Monitor Fund performance ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Responsible Investment Reporting ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

 

Page 152



17 

 

 

 

Administration 

Task Q1 

(Apr-Jun 22) 

Q2 

(Jul-Sep 22) 

Q3 

(Oct-Dec 22) 

Q4 

(Jan-Mar 23) 

Issue Annual Benefit Statements to 

active and deferred members 

 ✓   

P60’s distributed to pensioner members ✓    

Recruitment of agreed additional 

resources 

✓ ✓   

Annual pension in payment and CARE 

accrual increase exercise 

✓    

Annual submission of HMRC Event 

report 

   ✓ 

Issue notices to employees for breaches 

of HMRC Annual Allowance limits 

  ✓  

Provision of data to actuary to produce 

financial accounting required for 

employer accounts 

✓ ✓ ✓  

Reconciliation of membership data for 

all employers 

✓ ✓  ✓ 

Review and correct data errors  ✓ ✓  

Process and reconcile membership pay 

and contribution data for year end 

✓ ✓   

Data quality assessment for the 

Pensions Regulator 

 ✓   

 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 10 
 

 

Pension Committee 
2 March 2023 

 

2022 Valuation Report  
and 

Funding Strategy Statement 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 

2022 Valuation Report 
 
Hymans Robertson have produced a report on the actuarial valuation of the Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund at 31 March 2022. 
 
The report, attached as appendix 1, contains information on the employer contribution rates 
for the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026 and a review of the funding level at 31 March 
2022 and fulfils regulation 62 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 
 
The triennial actuarial valuation is an important part of the Fund’s risk management 
framework. Its’ main purpose is to ensure the Fund continues to have a contribution plan and 
investment strategy that will achieve the objectives set out in the Funding Strategy 
Statement. 
 
The two main results of the valuation are: 
 

• Employer contribution rates for the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026. 

• The funding level of the Fund at 31 March 2022. 
 
The key results from the valuation at whole Fund level are: 
 

• Funding Level 
o Has improved from 102% at 31 March 2019 to 110% at 31 March 2022. 

• Primary Contribution rates 
o Have increased on average from 20.9% to 21.8% of pay 

• Secondary Contribution rates 
o Have decreased due to good investment performance over the three-year 

period between valuations 
 
The primary objective of the Fund is to set employer contribution rates that will adequately 
cover the cost of benefits which will accrue in the future and any costs related to benefits 
already earned. A secondary objective is to ensure the rates are as stable as possible. The 
risk-based approach detailed in the report is used to meet both these objectives. 
 
Each employer has a contribution rate which is appropriate to their circumstances, and these 
can be found in the Rates & Adjustments Certificate, contained in the main report. However, 
all employers will be different, and the contribution rate will reflect the membership and 
experiences of each employer. 

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



 

Agenda Item 10 
 

 

 
Employees pay a contribution to the Fund in addition to these rates. These rates are set by 
the LGPS Regulations. The average employee contribution rate at 31 March 2022 is 6.4% of 
pay (6.3% at 31 March 2019). 
 
Further information on the valuation process, methodology and strategy is set out in the 
publicly available Funding Strategy Statement, Investment Strategy Statement and published 
papers and minutes of the Pensions Committee. The report will be issued to all employers 
and published on the Funds website by 31 March 2023.   
 
 

Funding Strategy Statement  
 
The draft Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) and the associated policies relating to Cessation, 
Contribution Reviews and Pre-Payment of Contributions was approved for consultation with 
the employers by the Pensions Committee, at its meeting on 23 September 2022. 
 
Following the meeting, the draft FSS and associated policies were distributing to all 
participating employers in the Fund on 31 October 2022 requesting responses by 25 
November 2022. No responses to the consultation were received.  
 
The final FSS and associated policies are attached to this report as: 
 
Funding Strategy Statement  - appendix 2 
Pre-Payment Policy   - appendix 3 
Contribution Reviews Policy  - appendix 4 
Cessation Policy   - appendix 5  
 
 

Recommendation 
 

1) That Committee receive and accept the report on the actuarial valuation of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund at 31 March 2022. 

 
2) That following a period of consultation that the Draft Funding Strategy Statement, 

Cessation Policy, Contributions Policy and Pre-Payment Policy, which were approved 
by Committee on the 23 September 2022, be formally adopted from 1 April 2023. 

 

Contact Officer  
 
Matthew Trebilcock– Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 156



Hymans Robertson LLP is authorised and 

regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Report on the actuarial valuation at 31 March 2022

Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Dra
ftP

age 157



2

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Contents

In this report:

Page

Executive summary 3

Approach to valuation 4

Valuation results 8

Sensitivity & risk analysis 15

Final comments 19

Appendices 21

Rates & Adjustments certificate 32

Section 13 dashboard 47

Dra
ftP

age 158



3

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Executive Summary
We have been commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council (the Administering Authority) to carry out a valuation of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

(the Fund) as at 31 March 2022. This report contains information on the employer contribution rates for the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026 and a review 

of the funding level at 31 March 2022.

PRIMARY RATES

Have increased on average from 

20.9% to 21.8% of pay 

THE FUNDING LEVEL

Has improved from 102% at 31 

March 2019 to 110% at 31 

March 2022.

This is due to good investment 

performance.

SECONDARY RATES

Have decreased due to good 

investment performance over 

the three year period between 

valuations
The contribution rates for individual employers set at 

this valuation can be found in the Rates & Adjustments 

Certificate. Dra
ftP

age 159



Approach to valuationD
ra

ftP
age 160



5

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Valuation Purpose
We have been commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council (the 

Administering Authority) to carry out a valuation of the Gloucestershire 

Pension Fund (the Fund) as at 31 March 2022. This fulfils Regulation 62 of 

the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. 

The triennial actuarial valuation is an important part of the Fund’s risk 

management framework. Its main purpose is to ensure the Fund continues 

to have a contribution plan and investment strategy that will achieve the 

objectives set out in the Funding Strategy Statement.

The two main results of the valuation are:

Employer contribution rates for the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 

2026.

The funding level of the Fund at 31 March 2022.

1 www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_Toolkit.pdf

Further information on the valuation process, methodology and strategy is 

set out in the publicly available Funding Strategy Statement, Investment 

Strategy Statement and published papers and minutes of the Fund’s 

Pensions Committee. Additional material is also contained in Hymans 

Robertson’s LGPS 2022 valuation toolkit1.

Dra
ftP

age 161

https://www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_Toolkit.pdf


6

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Setting employer contribution rates
Employer contributions need to be set at a level which ensures the Fund 

has a reasonable likelihood of having enough money to pay members’ 

benefits. Identifying the amount of benefits that may be paid is complex as 

those earned today might only start being paid in 50 years’ time. Over that 

time period, there is significant uncertainty over factors which affect the 

cost of benefits, eg inflation, investment returns. These uncertainties are 

allowed for by taking a risk-based approach to setting employer 

contribution rates. This approach is built around three key funding 

decisions set by the Fund and asset-liability modelling.

Asset-liability modelling

Asset-liability modelling is used to project each employer’s assets and benefit 

payments into the future using 5,000 different economic scenarios. The 

economic scenarios are generated using Hymans Robertson’s Economic 

Scenario Service (ESS) (further information in Appendix 2). A sample is shown 

in Picture 1.

Picture 1: sample progression of employer asset values

What is the funding time horizon?

How long will the employer participate in the Fund

Key funding decisions 
For each employer, the Fund determines the most appropriate choice for the 

following three funding decisions. Further detail is set out in the Funding 

Strategy Statement.

What is the funding target for each employer?

Will the employer remain in the Fund for the long-term or exit 

at some point

What is the required likelihood?

How much funding risk can the employer’s covenant support

Dra
ftP

age 162



7

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Measuring the funding level

The liabilities are the value of all future payments to members 

based on all benefits earned up to the valuation date, expressed in 

today’s money.

Chart 1 shows the projected payments for all members in the Fund 

at the valuation date. The projections are based on the membership 

data provided for the valuation (Appendix 1), the assumptions 

(Appendix 2) and our understanding of the LGPS benefit structure 

as at 31 March 2022 (details at www.lgpsregs.org). 

To express the future payments in today’s money, the projections 

are discounted with an assumed future investment return on the 

Fund’s assets (the discount rate).

The past service funding level is measured at the valuation. 

Whilst it is limited in providing insight into a funding plan, it is a 

useful high-level summary statistic. To measure the funding 

level, a market-related approach is taken to calculating both the 

assets and the liabilities (so they are consistent with each other).

• The market value of the Fund’s assets at the valuation date 

have been used.

• The liabilities have been valued using assumptions based on 

market indicators at the valuation date (these assumptions are 

detailed in Appendix 2).

Chart 1: projected benefit payments for all service earned up to 31 March 2022

Dra
ftP

age 163

http://www.lgpsregs.org/


Valuation results Dra
ftP

age 164



9

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer contribution rates
Table 1: Whole-fund contribution rate, compared with the previous valuation

Each employer has a contribution rate which is appropriate to their 

circumstances and these can be found in the Rates & Adjustments 

Certificate. Broadly speaking:

• Primary rates have increased since the last valuation due to rising inflation. 

• Secondary rates have decreased due to strong investment performance 

since the previous valuation. 

However all employers will be different and the contribution rate will reflect the 

membership and experiences of each employer.

Table 1 shows the total of all employer contribution rates to be paid into the 

Fund over the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026.

The primary objective of the Fund is to set employer contribution rates that will 

adequately cover the cost of benefits which will accrue in the future and any 

costs related to benefits already earned. A secondary objective is to ensure the 

rates are as stable as possible. The risk-based approach detailed earlier is 

used to meet both these objectives.

The employer contribution rate is made up of two components.

1. A primary rate: the level sufficient to cover all new benefits.

2. A secondary rate: the costs associated with sufficiently funding benefits 

accrued up to the valuation date.
The primary rate includes an allowance of 0.7% of pensionable pay for the 

Fund’s expenses.

Employees pay a contribution to the Fund in addition to these rates. These 

rates are set by the LGPS Regulations. The average employee contribution 

rate at 31 March 2022 is 6.4% of pay (6.3% at 31 March 2019).

Primary Rate 21.8% of pay 20.9% of pay

Secondary Rate 2023/2024 £30,399,000 2020/2021 £30,652,000

2024/2025 £14,607,000 2021/2022 £26,850,000

2025/2026 £14,286,000 2022/2023 £24,353,000

This valuation

31 March 2022

Last valuation

31 March 2019

Dra
ftP

age 165



10

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Funding level

The funding level is the ratio of assets to liabilities. The market value of the 
assets at the valuation date are known. The value of the liabilities is 
uncertain given that the level of future investment returns are unknown.

Therefore, the liabilities and funding level have been calculated across a 
range of different investment returns (the discount rate).

To help better understand funding risk, the likelihood of the Fund’s 
investment strategy (detailed in Appendix 1) achieving certain levels of 
return has also been calculated. 

Chart 2 shows how the funding level varies with future investment return 
assumptions at 31 March 2022 (blue line). The green line shows the same 
analysis at 31 March 2019.

• The funding level is 100% if future investment returns are c.3.7% pa.

• The likelihood of the Fund’s assets yielding at least this return is 

around 81%.

• The comparator at 2019 was a return of 4.1% pa which had a 

likelihood of 71%.

• The funding position at 2022 is stronger than 2019.

• There is a 50% likelihood of an investment return of 6.2% pa. So the 

best-estimate funding level is 156% at 31 March 2022 (128% at 2019).
Figures on each line show the likelihood of the Fund’s assets exceeding that level of 

return over the next 20 years

Chart 2: funding level across a range of future investment returns

Dra
ftP

age 166



11

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Single funding level as at 31 March 2022
Whilst the chart on the previous page provides a better understanding of the 

past service funding position, there is still a requirement to report a single 

funding level at 31 March 2022.

Table 2 details the liabilities, split by member status and the market value of 

assets at the valuation date. The results at the 2019 formal valuation are shown 

for comparison.

The funding level and surplus/deficit figures provide a high-level snapshot of the 

funding position of the Fund as at 31 March 2022, however there are limitations:

• The liabilities are calculated using a single set of assumptions about the future 

and so are very sensitive to the choice of assumptions.

• The market value of assets held by the Fund will change on a daily basis.

Important: the reported funding level does not directly drive the contribution 

rates for employers. The contribution rates consider how assets and liabilities 

will evolve over time in different economic scenarios and also reflect each 

employer’s funding profile and covenant.

Table 2: single reported funding level

Valuation Date 31 March 2022 31 March 2019

Past Service Liabilities (£m) (£m)

Employees 977 763

Deferred Pensioners 611 498

Pensioners 1,238 1,077

Total Liabilities 2,826 2,338

Assets 3,111 2,379

Surplus/(Deficit) 285 41

Funding Level 110% 102%

The future progression of the funding position is uncertain. If the financial and 

demographic assumptions made at this valuation actually occur, employers pay 

contributions in line with the R&A certificate and there are no other changes in 

the financial or demographic environment, we project that the funding level at the 

next valuation (31 March 2025) will be approximately 111%.

To report a single funding level and funding surplus/deficit for the 2022 valuation,  

a discount rate of 4.2% pa has been used. There is a 75% likelihood associated 

with a future investment return of 4.2% pa.

Dra
ftP

age 167



12

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Changes since the last valuation

Membership

Expected Actual Difference
Impact on 

surplus

3 year period 13.1% 27.1% 14.0% +£336m

Annual 4.2% pa 8.3% pa 4.1% pa

Expected Actual Difference
Impact on 

surplus

Early leavers 6,105 5,953 -152 -£0.2m

Ill-health retirements 78 56 -22 +£3m

Salary increases 3.2% pa 4.4% pa 1.2% pa -£16m

Benefit increases 2.3% pa 1.8% pa -0.5% pa +£34m

Pension ceasing £5.9m £5.7m -£0.2m -£4m

What has happened between 2019 and 2022?
The most significant external event to occur since the last valuation was the 

Covid-19 pandemic. The experience analysis shows that the amount of 

pension ceasing was broadly in line with expectations. Overall, mortality 

experience has had a minimal impact on the funding position. This is likely 

due to the age profile of the excess deaths and the level of pension. 

Other significant factors occurring which affect the funding strategy of the 

Fund have been the better than expected investment returns. This has had a 

positive impact on the funding position and employers’ secondary contribution 

rates.

Table 3: analysis of financial experience between 2019 and 2022 valuations

Table 4: analysis of membership experience between 2019 and 2022 valuations

Financial

Dra
ftP

age 168



13

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Changes since the last valuation

How has the future outlook changed?
Expectations about the future, which inform the assumptions 

used to value the liabilities, have changed since the last 

valuation. 

The most significant change is future inflation. This is 

expected to be higher, on average, than at 2019 due to the 

current level of high inflation.

Table 5: summary of change in future outlook

Factor What's changed?
Impact on 

liabilities

Future investment returns

No change in the expected future investment return 

of 4.2% pa, although this now has a 75% likelihood 

of success at 2022 (compared to 70% at 2019)

No impact

Inflation
Significant increase in short-term future inflation 

expectations.
Increase of £185m

Salary increases

No material change since last valuation given 

competing factors e.g. tighter budgetary conditions 

vs. strong job market and pressure from National 

Living Wage increases.

Increase of £6m

Current life expectancy

Slight reduction in life expectancy based on current 

observed data (not allowing for Covid-related 

excess deaths)

Increase of £2m

Future improvements in 

life expectancy

Uncertainty about effectiveness of mitigations 

against life expectancy increases in the LGPS i.e. 

State Pension Age increases and Cost Cap. Need 

to better reflect wider pension and insurance 

industry long-term expectations.

Increase of £16m

Dra
ftP

age 169



14

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Reconciling the overall change in funding position

The table provides insight into the funding position change between 

31 March 2019 and 31 March 2022: 

First of all, the changes we expect to happen, which relate mostly to 

items on the asset side. 

Then the impact of actual experience, which mainly affects the 

liabilities but also shows the impact of higher than expected 

investment returns. 

Numbers may not sum due to rounding

Table 6: development of funding position between 2019 and 2022 valuations

Change in the surplus/deficit position
Assets

(£m)

Liabilities

(£m)

Surplus / 

Deficit (£m)

Last valuation at 31 March 2019 2,379 2,338 41

Cashflows

Contributions (and net transfers) paid in 345 0 345

Benefits paid out (270) (270) 0

Expected changes

Expected investment returns 317 0 317

Interest on benefits already accrued 0 306 (306)

Accrual of new benefits 0 263 (263)

Expected position at 31 March 2022 2,771 2,637 134

Events between 2019 and 2022

Impact of McCloud remedy 0 4 (4)

Other membership experience 4 (9) 13

Higher than expected investment returns 336 0 336

Changes in future expectations

Investment returns 0 0 0

Inflation 0 185 (185)

Salary increases 0 6 (6)

Longevity 0 18 (18)

Other demographic assumptions 0 (16) 16

Actual position at 31 March 2022 3,111 2,826 285

Dra
ftP

age 170



Sensitivity & risk analysisDra
ftP

age 171



16

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Sensitivity and risk analysis: assumptions
There is risk and uncertainty inherent with funding benefit payments that will be 

paid out many years in the future. The Fund is aware of these and has in place a 

risk register which is regularly reviewed. Additionally, as part of the valuation, the 

Fund reviews sources of risk that may impact its funding position and the 

contribution rates payable by employers.

This section discusses some of the most significant sources of funding risk 

(assumptions, regulatory, administration and governance and climate change). 

Further information of the Fund’s approach to funding risk management, 

including monitoring, mitigation and management, is set out in the Funding 

Strategy Statement.

Assumptions
The valuation results depend on the actuarial assumptions made about the 

future. By their nature, these assumptions are uncertain which means its 

important to understand their sensitivity and risk levels.

Contribution rates

The risk-based approach to setting employer contribution rates mitigates the 

limitation of relying on one set of assumptions. Therefore, there is no need to 

carry out additional analysis of the sensitivity of contribution rates to changes in 

financial assumptions. The contribution rates are sensitive to changes in 

demographic assumptions. The results in this section in relation to the funding 

position can be broadly applied to the contribution rates. 

Funding level

Financial assumptions

On page 10, we have already set out how the results vary with the assumed 

future investment return. The table below considers inflation.

Demographic assumptions

The main area of demographic risk is if people live longer than expected. The 

table below shows the impact of longer term longevity rates improving at a faster 

rate (1.75% pa vs 1.5% pa used in the results)

CPI Assumption Surplus/ (Deficit) Funding Level

% pa (£m) %

2.5% 372 114%

2.7% 285 110%

2.9% 195 107%

Long term rate of 

improvement
Surplus/ (Deficit) Funding Level

% pa (£m) %

1.5% 285 110%

1.75% 262 109%

Table 7: sensitivity of funding position to inflation assumption

Table 8: sensitivity of funding position to longevity assumption

Dra
ftP

age 172



17

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Climate change
Background
Climate change is a major source of uncertainty which could affect future 

investment returns, inflation and life expectancies. Therefore, the Fund has 

explicitly explored the resilience of its funding and investment strategy to 

future potential climate change outcomes.

It is impossible to confidently quantify the effect of climate risk given the 

significant uncertainty over the impact of different possible climate 

outcomes. Instead, three different climate change scenarios have been 

considered as a stress-test (instead of trying to predict how climate change 

affects the funding level in the future).

All the scenarios assume that there will be a period of disruption linked 

either to the response to climate risk (transition risks) or the effect of it 

(physical risks). This disruption will lead to high volatility in financial 

markets, and the later the disruption, the more pronounced it will be.

Further detail on the scenarios is shown on the next page and in our guide 

10 of Hymans Robertson’s LGPS 2022 valuation toolkit2

When exploring the potential impact of climate change, the Fund has 

compared how these risk metrics change under each climate change scenario 

(against the ‘Core’ model used when setting the funding and investment 

strategy). The stress test results for the Fund are shown in Table 9 below.

Table 9: sensitivity of funding position to longevity assumption

The likelihood of success results are worse in the climate scenarios. This is to 

be expected given that they are purposefully stress-tests and all the scenarios 

are bad outcomes. Whilst this risk metric is weaker, it is not materially so and 

not enough to suggest that the funding and investment strategy are unduly 

exposed to climate change risk. The Fund will continue to monitor this risk as 

more information emerges and climate change modelling techniques evolve

Outcome of analysis
The Fund has set its funding and investment strategy using asset-liability 

modelling and considering two main risk metrics:

• Likelihood of success – the chance of being fully funded in 20 years’ time

• Downside risk – the average worst 5% of funding levels in 20 years’ time

Scenario Likelihood of success Downside risk

Core 82% 45%

Green Revolution 79% 40%

Delayed Transition 78% 45%

Head in the Sand 78% 44%Dra
ftP

age 173

https://www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_Toolkit.pdf


18

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Other risks & post valuation events
Regulatory, Administration and Governance risks
Potential risks in this area include change in central government legislation 

which changes the future cost of the LGPS and failures in administration 

processes leading to incorrect data and inaccuracies in actuarial calculations. At 

this valuation, specific risks include:

• McCloud: the remedy to resolve the McCloud case is yet to be formalised in 

regulations. However, an allowance has been included for this expected 

benefit change at the 2022 valuation as directed by the Department of 

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities in their letter dated March 20221.

• Goodwin: the remedy to this issue is still uncertain, it is difficult to identify 

who it would apply to and its impact is estimated to be very small for a LGPS 

fund (0.1-0.2% of liabilities). Therefore, no allowance has been made for this 

case at the 2022 valuation.

• Cost Cap: a legal challenge is ongoing in relation to the 2016 cost cap 

valuation and no information is known about the outcome of the 2020 cost cap 

valuation. At this valuation, no allowance has been made for any changes to 

the benefit structure that may occur as a result of a cost cap valuation.

• GMP indexation: it is assumed that all increases on GMPs for members 

reaching State Pension Age after 6 April 2016 will be paid for by LGPS 

employers. This is the same approach that was taken for the 2019 valuation.

1 www.lgpslibrary.org/assets/bulletins/2022/222AppA.pdf 2 www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_Toolkit.pdf

Post valuation events
Since 31 March 2022, there has been significant volatility in the financial 

markets, short-term inflation expectations and rises in interest rates by central 

banks. These events affect the value of the Fund’s assets and liabilities. For 

example, the Fund’s investment return from 31 March 2022 to 31 December 

2022 has been around -5%.

As an open scheme, with a strong covenant, the Fund takes a long-term view 

when considering the funding impact of such events. For employers who have 

a very short time horizon, recent volatility may be more immediately impactful, 

and the Fund has engaged with these employers as appropriate.

No explicit allowance has been made for this volatility in the valuation results or 

contribution rates detailed in the Rates & Adjustments Certificate. The Fund will 

continue to monitor changes in the financial and demographic environment as 

part of its ongoing risk management approach.Dra
ftP

age 174

https://lgpslibrary.org/assets/bulletins/2022/222AppA.pdf


Final comments Dra
ftP

age 175



20

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Final comments
The Fund’s valuation operates within a broader framework, and this document 

should be considered alongside the following:

• The Funding Strategy Statement, which in particular highlights how different 

types of employer in different circumstances have their contributions 

calculated

• The Investment Strategy Statement, which sets out the investment strategy 

for the Fund

• The general governance of the Fund, such as meetings of the Pensions 

Committee and Local Pensions Board, decisions delegated to officers, the 

Fund’s business plan, etc 

• The Fund’s risk register

Intervaluation employer events
New employers joining the Fund

Any new employers or admission bodies joining the Fund should be referred to 

the Fund Actuary to assess the required level of contribution. Depending on the 

number of transferring members the ceding employer’s rate may also need to be 

reviewed.

Cessations and bulk transfers

Any employer who ceases to participate in the Fund should be referred to the 

Fund Actuary in accordance with Regulation 64 of the LGPS regulations.

Any bulk movement of scheme members:

• involving 10 or more scheme members being transferred from or to another 

LGPS fund

• involving 2 or more scheme members being transferred from or to a non-

LGPS pension arrangement

should be referred to the Fund Actuary to consider the impact on the Fund.

Valuation frequency
Under the LGPS regulations, the next formal valuation of the Fund is due to be 

carried out as at 31 March 2025 where contribution rates payable from 1 April 

2026 will be set.

SIGNATURE SIGNATURE

Julie West FFA Douglas Green FFA

17 February 2023
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP

Dra
ftP

age 176



Appendices Dra
ftP

age 177



22

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Data

Membership data
A summary of the membership data provided by the Fund for the 2022 valuation 

is set out in Table 10. The corresponding membership data from the previous 

valuation is also shown for reference.

The results of the valuation are dependent on the quality of the data used.  We 

have carried out a series of validation checks on the data supplied to us by the 

Administering Authority to ensure that it is fit for purpose.

More information on how we verify the quality of the data used in the valuation has been 

shared with the Administering Authority in our report ‘Data Report for the 2022 

Valuation’, dated TBC

Asset data
To check the membership data and derive employer asset values, we have used 

asset and accounting data and employer level cashflow data provided by the 

Fund.

Whole Fund Membership Data
This Valuation

31 March 2022

Last Valuation

31 March 2019

Employee members

Number 19,113 18,788

Total actual pay (£000) 325,024 284,620

Total accrued pension (£000) 59,032 49,458

Average age (liability weighted) 52.4 51.8

Future working lifetime (years) 6.8 7.9

Deferred pensioners (including 

undecideds)

Number 26,072 24,735

Total accrued pension (£000) 34,123 30,464

Average age (liability weighted) 52.6 51.9

Pensioners and dependants

Number 18,139 16,080

Total pensions in payment (£000) 80,680 72,344

Average age (liability weighted) 69.7 68.9

Table 10: Whole fund membership data as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2019

APPENDIX 1

Dra
ftP

age 178



23

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Data
Investment strategy
A summary of the investment strategy allocation used for the calculation of 

employer contribution rates and to derive the future assumed investment return 

is set out in Table 11.

This information is as set out in the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement dated 

December 2021. 

Table 11: Investment strategy used for the 2022 valuation

APPENDIX 1

% allocation Core Strategy

UK equity 12.0%

Global equity 36.5%

Emerging market equity 6.5%

Total Equities 55.0%

UK corporate bonds 14.5%

Multi asset credit 7.5%

Total Fixed Interest 22.0%

Private lending 5.0%

Private equity 3.0%

Infrastructure 5.0%

Property 10.0%

Total Alternatives 23.0%

Dra
ftP

age 179



24

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Assumptions
APPENDIX 2

To set and agree assumptions for the valuation, the Fund carried out in-depth analysis and review in Q1 2022 with the final set agreed by the Pensions Committee 

on 3 March 2022.

Financial assumptions
Setting employer contribution rates

An asset-liability model is used to set employer contributions at the 2022 valuation. This model relies on Hymans Robertson’s proprietary economic model, the 

Economic Scenario Service (ESS). The ESS reflects the uncertainty associated with future levels of inflation and asset returns and the interactions and 

correlations between different asset classes and wider economic variables. In the short term (first few years), the models are fitted with current financial market 

expectations. Over the longer term, models are built around views of fundamental economic parameters, for example equity risk premium, credit spreads and long 

term inflation. The table below shows the calibration of the ESS at 31 March 2022. Further information on the assumptions used for contribution rate setting is 

included in the Funding Strategy Statement.

Table 12: ESS 

individual asset class 

return distributions at 

31 March 2022 Dra
ftP

age 180



25

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Assumptions

Assumption 31 March 2022 Required for 31 March 2019

Discount rate 4.2% pa
To place a present value on all the benefits promised to scheme members at the valuation date. 

The Fund’s assets are estimated to have a 75% likelihood of returning above the discount rate.

4.2% pa 

(based on a 70% likelihood)

Benefit 

increases/CARE 

revaluation

2.7% pa To determine the size of future benefit payments. 2.3% pa

Salary increases 3.2% pa To determine the size of future final-salary linked benefit payments. 2.6% pa

APPENDIX 2

Financial assumptions
Calculating the funding level

The table below summarises the assumptions used to calculate the funding level at 31 March 2022, along with a comparison at the last valuation.

Table 13: Summary of assumptions used for measuring the funding level, compared to last valuation on 31 March 2019

Allowing for the McCloud remedy

Allowance has been included for this expected benefit change at the 2022 valuation as directed by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities in 

their letter dated March 20221. Further technical detail about this assumption is set out in guide 13 of Hymans Robertson’s LGPS 2022 valuation toolkit2

1 www.lgpslibrary.org/assets/bulletins/2022/222AppA.pdf 2 www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_Toolkit.pdf

Dra
ftP

age 181

https://lgpslibrary.org/assets/bulletins/2022/222AppA.pdf
https://www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_Toolkit.pdf


26

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Assumptions
Demographic assumptions
The same demographic assumptions are used in setting contribution rates and 

assessing the current funding level.

Longevity

Further information on these assumptions can be provided upon request. Sample rates 

are included on the next page.

APPENDIX 2

Other demographic assumptions

Table 14: Summary of longevity assumptions

Table 15: Summary of other demographic assumptions

This valuation

31 March 2022

Last valuation

31 March 2019

Baseline 

assumption

VitaCurves based on member-

level lifestyle factors

VitaCurves based on member-

level lifestyle factors

Future 

improvements

CMI 2021 model

Initial addition = 0.25% (both 

Female and Male)

Smoothing factor = 7.0

1.5% pa long-term rate of 

improvement

CMI 2018 model

Initial addition = 0.25% (Female), 

0.5% (Male)

Smoothing factor = 7.0

1.25% pa long-term rate of 

improvement

Death in service See sample rates in Tables 16 & 17

Retirements in ill health See sample rates in Tables 16 & 17

Withdrawals See sample rates in Tables 16 & 17

Promotional salary increases See sample rates in Tables 16 & 17

Commutation
50% of future retirements elect to exchange pension for 

additional tax free cash up to HMRC limits

50:50 option
0.0% of members (uniformly distributed across the age, 

service and salary range) will choose the 50:50 option

Retirement age
The earliest age at which a member can retire with their 

benefits unreduced

Family details

A varying proportion of members are assumed to have a 

dependant at retirement or on earlier death. For example, at 

age 60 this is assumed to be 90% for males and 85% for 

females. The dependant of a male member is assumed to be 

3 years younger than him and the dependent of a female 

member is assumed to be 3 years older than her.

Dra
ftP

age 182



27

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Assumptions

Sample rates for demographic assumptions

Figures are incidence rates per 1,000 members except salary scale. FT and PT denoted full-time and part-time members respectively.

APPENDIX 2

Males Females

Age
Salary 

Scale

Death Before 

Retirement 
Withdrawals Ill Health Tier 1 Ill Health Tier 2Age

Salary 

Scale

Death Before 

Retirement 
Withdrawals Ill Health Tier 1 Ill Health Tier 2

Table 16: Sample rates of male demographic assumptions Table 17: Sample rates of female demographic assumptions

FT & PT FT PT FT PT FT PT

20 105 0.1 317.18 397.27 0 0 0 0

25 117 0.1 213.42 267.27 0.1 0.07 0.02 0.01

30 131 0.14 178.9 224.01 0.13 0.1 0.03 0.02

35 144 0.24 154.41 193.27 0.26 0.19 0.05 0.04

40 150 0.38 128.51 160.8 0.39 0.29 0.08 0.06

45 157 0.62 119.93 150.03 0.52 0.39 0.1 0.08

50 162 0.9 101.11 126.35 0.97 0.73 0.24 0.18

55 162 1.19 75.44 94.38 3.59 2.69 0.52 0.39

60 162 1.52 60.8 75.96 5.71 4.28 0.54 0.4

65 162 1.95 0 0 10.26 7.69 0 0

FT & PT FT PT FT PT FT PT

20 105 0.17 404.31 934.96 0 0 0 0

25 117 0.17 267.06 617.58 0 0 0 0

30 131 0.2 189.49 438.12 0 0 0 0

35 144 0.24 148.05 342.27 0.1 0.07 0.02 0.01

40 150 0.41 119.2 275.48 0.16 0.12 0.03 0.02

45 157 0.68 111.96 258.7 0.35 0.27 0.07 0.05

50 162 1.09 92.29 213.01 0.9 0.68 0.23 0.17

55 162 1.7 72.68 167.83 3.54 2.65 0.51 0.38

60 162 3.06 64.78 149.52 6.23 4.67 0.44 0.33

65 162 5.1 0 0 11.83 8.87 0 0

Dra
ftP

age 183



28

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Reliances and limitations
APPENDIX 3

• Our data report which summarises the data used for the valuation, the approach to 

ensuring it is fit for purpose and any adjustments made to it during the course of the 

valuation

• The Funding Strategy Statement which details the approach taken to adequately fund 

the current and future benefits due to members

This report is addressed to the Administering Authority. It has been prepared by us as 

actuaries to the Fund and is solely for the purpose of summarising the main outcomes of 

the 2022 actuarial valuation. It has not been prepared for any other third party or for any 

other purpose. We make no representation or warranties to any third party as to the 

accuracy or completeness of this report, no reliance should be placed on this report by any 

third party and we accept no responsibility or liability to any third party in respect of it.

Hymans Robertson LLP is the owner of all intellectual property rights in this report. All 

such rights are reserved.

This summary report is the culmination of other communications in relation to the 

valuation, in particular:

• Our 2022 valuation toolkit which sets out the methodology used when reviewing funding 

plans

© Hymans Robertson LLP March 2023

We have been commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council (“the Administering 

Authority”) to carry out a full actuarial valuation of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the 

Fund”) as at 31 March 2022 as required under Regulation 62 of the Local Government 

Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”).

The totality of our advice complies with the Regulations as they relate to actuarial 

valuations. 

The following Technical Actuarial Standards apply to this advice, and have been 

complied with where material and to a proportionate degree. They are:

• TAS100 – Principles for technical actuarial work

• TAS300 – Pensions

Hymans Robertson LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales 

with registered number OC310282.

A list of members of Hymans Robertson LLP is available for inspection at One London 

Wall, London EC2Y 5EA, the firm’s registered office. Authorised and regulated by the 

Financial Conduct Authority and licensed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries for a 

range of investment business activities. Hymans Robertson is a registered trademark of 

Hymans Robertson LLP.

• Our paper to the Fund’s Pension Committee dated 31 March 2022 which discusses the 

funding strategy for the Fund’s Councils

• Our paper to the Fund’s Pension Committee dated 21 February 2022 which discusses 

the valuation assumptions

• Our initial results report dated 26 August 2022 which outlines the whole fund results 

and inter-valuation experience

Dra
ftP

age 184

https://www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_Toolkit.pdf


29

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Glossary
Term Explanation

50:50 option An option for LGPS members to pay half contributions and earn half the retirement benefit (pre-retirement protection benefits are unreduced).

Asset-liability 

modelling

An approach to modelling and understanding risk for a pension fund. The assets and liabilities are projected forward into the future under many 

different future scenarios of inflation, investment returns and interest rates. The future scenarios are then analysed to understand the risk 

associated with a particular combination of contribution rates and investment strategy. Different combinations of contribution rates and/or 

investment strategies may be tested.

Baseline 

longevity

The rates of death (by age and sex) in a given group of people based on current observed data.

Club Vita A firm of longevity experts we partner with for longevity analysis. They combine data from thousands of pension schemes and use it to create 

detailed baseline longevity assumptions at member-level, as well as insight on general longevity trends and future improvements.

Commutation The option for members to exchange part of their annual pension for a one-off lump sum at retirement. In the LGPS, every £1 of pension 

exchanged gives the member £12 of lump sum. The amounts that members commute is heavily influenced by tax rules which set an upper limit 

on how much lump sum can be taken tax-free.

CPI inflation The annual rate of change of the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). The CPI is the UK government’s preferred measure of inflation and is the 

measure used to increase LGPS (and all other public sector pension scheme) benefits each year.

Deferred 

pensioners

A former employee who has left employment (or opted out of the pension fund) but is not yet in receipt of their benefits from the fund.

Demographic 

assumptions

Assumptions concerned with member and employer choices rather than macroeconomic or financial factors. For example, retirement age or 

promotional salary scales. Demographic assumptions typically determine the timing of benefit payments.

APPENDIX 4

Dra
ftP

age 185



30

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Glossary
Term Explanation

Discount rate A number used to place a single value on a stream of future payments, allowing for expected future investment returns.

Employee 

members

Members who are currently employed by employers who participate in the fund and paying contributions into the fund.

ESS Economic Scenario Service - Hymans Robertson’s proprietary economic scenario generator used to create thousands of simulations of future 

inflation, asset class returns and interest rates.

Funding 

position

The extent to which the assets held by the fund at 31 March 2022 cover the accrued benefits ie the liabilities. The two measures of the funding 

position are:

• the funding level - the ratio of assets to liabilities; and

• the funding surplus/deficit - the difference between the asset and liabilities values.

Inflation Prices tend to increase over time, which is called inflation. Inflation is measured in different ways, using a different ‘basket’ of goods and 

mathematical formulas.

Liabilities An employer’s liability value is the single value at a given point in time of all the benefit payments expected to be made in future to all members. 

Benefit payments are projected using demographic and financial assumptions and the liability is calculated using a discount rate.

Longevity 

improvements

An assumption about how rates of death will change in future. Typically we assume that death rates will fall and life expectancies will improve 

over time, continuing the long-running trend.

Pensioners A former employee who is in receipt of their benefits from the fund. This category includes eligible dependants of the former employee.

APPENDIX 4

Dra
ftP

age 186



31

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Glossary
Term Explanation

Primary rate The estimated cost of future benefits, expressed in percentage of pay terms. The primary rate will include an allowance to cover the fund’s 

expenses.

Prudence To be prudent means to err on the side of caution in the overall set of assumptions.  We build prudence into the choice of discount rate by 

choosing an assumption with a prudence Level of more than 50%. All other assumptions aim to be best estimate.

Prudence Level A percentage indicating the likelihood that a discount rate assumption will be achieved in practice, based on the ESS model. The higher the 

prudence level, the more prudent the discount rate is.

Secondary rate An adjustment to the primary rate, generally to reflect costs associated with benefits that have already been earned up to the valuation date. 

This may be expressed as a percentage of pay and/or monetary amount.

Withdrawal Refers to members leaving the scheme before retirement.  These members retain an entitlement to an LGPS pension when they retire, but are 

no longer earning new benefits.

APPENDIX 4

Dra
ftP

age 187



Rates & Adjustments 
certificate

Dra
ftP

age 188



33

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Rates and Adjustments Certificate

In accordance with Regulation 62 of the LGPS regulations, we have assessed the contributions that should be paid into the Gloucestershire Pension Fund (the 

Fund) by participating employers for the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026 in order to maintain the solvency of the Fund.

The method and assumptions used to calculate the contributions set out in this Rates and Adjustments certificate are detailed in the Funding Strategy Statement 

dated March 2023 and in Appendix 2 of the report on the actuarial valuation dated TBC 2023. These assumptions underpin our estimate of the number of members 

who will become entitled to a payment of pensions under the provisions of the LGPS and the amount of liabilities arising in respect of such members.

The table below summarises the whole fund primary and secondary contribution rates for the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026. The primary rate is the payroll 

weighted average of the underlying individual employer primary rates and the secondary rate is the total of the underlying individual employer secondary rates, 

calculated in accordance with the LGPS regulations and CIPFA guidance. The secondary rate has been shown both as a monetary amount and an equivalent 

percentage of the projected pensionable pay.

The required minimum contribution rates for each employer in the Fund are set out in the remained of this certificate.

This valuation

31 March 2022

Primary rate 21.8% of pay

Secondary rate Monetary amount Equivalent to % of payroll

2023/24 £30,399,000 8.8%

2024/25 £14,607,000 4.1%

2025/26 £14,286,000 3.9%

Dra
ftP

age 189



34

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Stabilised Employers

Pool GCC and Schools 20.5% 5.9% 5.9% 5.9% 26.4% 26.4% 26.4%

Pool Gloucester City Council 19.9% £3,214,000 £3,087,000 £2,959,000 19.9% plus £3,214,000 19.9% plus £3,087,000 19.9% plus £2,959,000

Pool Cheltenham Borough Council 20.1% £2,414,000 £2,212,000 £2,010,000 20.1% plus £2,414,000 20.1% plus £2,212,000 20.1% plus £2,010,000 2

Pool Cotswold District Council 20.7% £1,491,000 £1,295,000 £1,099,000 20.7% plus £1,491,000 20.7% plus £1,295,000 20.7% plus £1,099,000 1

Pool Forest of Dean District Council 20.7% £1,828,000 £1,732,000 £1,636,000 20.7% plus £1,828,000 20.7% plus £1,732,000 20.7% plus £1,636,000 1, 2

14 Stroud District Council 20.0% £1,531,000 £1,531,000 £1,531,000 20.0% plus £1,531,000 20.0% plus £1,531,000 20.0% plus £1,531,000 2

18 Tewkesbury Borough Council 19.7% £1,170,000 £1,073,000 £977,000 19.7% plus £1,170,000 19.7% plus £1,073,000 19.7% plus £977,000

35 Police & Crime Commissioner 19.8% 0.0% -0.5% -1.0% 19.8% 19.3% 18.8%

Other Scheduled Bodies

61 Cheltenham Borough Homes Ltd 24.5% -4.8% -4.8% -4.8% 19.7% 19.7% 19.7%

65 Cotswolds National Landscape 25.6% -5.8% -5.8% -5.8% 19.8% 19.8% 19.8%

Colleges & University

905 Cirencester Tertiary College 26.9% -2.7% -3.3% -3.9% 24.2% 23.6% 23.0%

Pool GLOSCAT 26.6% -7.4% plus £213,000 -7.4% plus £213,000 -7.4% plus £213,000 19.2% plus £213,000 19.2% plus £213,000 19.2% plus £213,000

904 Hartpury University 25.7% -2.8% plus £98,000 -2.8% plus £98,000 -2.8% plus £98,000 22.9% plus £98,000 22.9% plus £98,000 22.9% plus £98,000

Pool University of Gloucestershire 24.2% -2.1% plus £162,000 -2.1% plus £162,000 -2.1% plus £162,000 22.1% plus £162,000 22.1% plus £162,000 22.1% plus £162,000

Dra
ftP

age 190



35

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Town and Parish Councils Pool

43 Ashchurch Rural Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

80 Berkeley Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

231 Bisley & Lypiatt Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

58 Brockworth Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

59 Cainscross Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

49 Cam Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

63 Chalford Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

46 Charlton Kings Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

251 Churchdown Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

34 Cinderford Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

22 Cirencester Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

51 Coleford Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

40 Dursley Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

228 Hinton Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

72 Hucclecote Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

53 Lechlade Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

75 Leonard Stanley Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

20 Lydney Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

206 Moreton in Marsh Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

50 Nailsworth Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

Dra
ftP

age 191



36

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Town and Parish Councils Pool (Continued)

443 Newent Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

55 Northleach with Eastington Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

6 Painswick Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

246 Pauntley Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

21 Prestbury Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

66 Rodborough Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

444 Stroud Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

48 Tetbury Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

3 Tewkesbury Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

208 Tidenham Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

266 West Dean Parish Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

52 Wotton-under-Edge Town Council 24.7% -3.6% -3.6% -3.6% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

Admission Bodies

410 Cotswold Archaeology Ltd 40.0% £85,000 £85,000 £85,000 40.0% plus £85,000 40.0% plus £85,000 40.0% plus £85,000

17 Lower Severn Drainage Board 38.7% -12.4% plus £33,000 -12.4% plus £33,000 -12.4% plus £33,000 26.3% plus £33,000 26.3% plus £33,000 26.3% plus £33,000

190 Gloucester City Homes Trust 30.4% -6.4% -6.4% -6.4% 24.0% 24.0% 24.0%

37 Gloucestershire Group Homes 42.0% -9.2% -9.2% -9.2% 32.8% 32.8% 32.8%

31 Stroud Court Community Trust 41.5% -10.2% -10.2% -10.2% 31.3% 31.3% 31.3%

60 Two Rivers Housing 38.8% -20.7% -20.7% -20.7% 18.1% 18.1% 18.1%

Dra
ftP

age 192



37

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Admission Bodies

235 Adoption West 15.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 15.9% 15.9% 15.9%

259 Alliance in Partnership (St Peter's Academy) 21.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 21.1% 21.1% 21.1%

211 Aspire Foundation 15.8% -15.8% -15.8% -15.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

76 Aspire Sports and Cultural Trust 16.1% -16.1% -16.1% -16.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

239 Atkins (GCC Highways (Prof Serv) 2019) 16.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 16.2% 16.2% 16.2%

209 Barnardos (Forest & Stroud) 22.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 22.8% 22.8% 22.8%

210 Barnardos (Gloucester) 13.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 13.4% 13.4% 13.4%

201 Brandon Trust 22.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 25.0% 25.0% 25.0%

255 Brayborne Facilities (Holmleigh Park) 23.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 23.4% 23.4% 23.4%

186 Cheltenham BC - The Cheltenham Trust 15.1% -15.1% -15.1% -15.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

192 Forest of Dean DC - Ubico 19.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 19.2% 19.2% 19.2%

185 Gloucester City IT - Civica 16.2% -16.2% -16.2% -16.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

62
Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS 

Foundation Trust
24.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 24.1% 24.1% 24.1%

202 Places for People 12.6% 3.7% 3.7% 3.7% 16.3% 16.3% 16.3%

159 Prospects Services 19.8% -19.8% -19.8% -19.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

240 Ringway (GCC Highways (Term Maint) 2019) 20.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 20.5% 20.5% 20.5%

178 Sport Leisure Management (SLM) Ltd 19.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 19.8% 19.8% 19.8%

244 Stroud Subscription Rooms 19.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 19.3% 19.3% 19.3%

191 Tewkesbury BC - Ubico 19.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 19.8% 19.8% 19.8%

64 The Order of St. John Care Trust 24.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 24.4% 24.4% 24.4%

Dra
ftP

age 193



38

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Admission Bodies (Continued)

194 Tinies UK (Glos College) 20.0% -20.0% -20.0% -20.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

140 Ubico - Cheltenham Waste 18.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 18.8% 18.8% 18.8%

141 Ubico - Cotswold Waste 18.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 18.1% 18.1% 18.1%

196
Wealden Leisure (Forest of Dean DC  -

Freedom Leisure)
20.1% -20.1% -20.1% -20.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Multi-Academy Trusts

Academies Enterprise Trust

142 Brockworth Primary School 25.2% -0.9% -0.9% -0.9% 24.3% 24.3% 24.3%

146 Offas Mead Primary 25.2% -0.9% -0.9% -0.9% 24.3% 24.3% 24.3%

150 The Ridge School 25.2% -0.9% -0.9% -0.9% 24.3% 24.3% 24.3%

Balcarras Trust

96 Balcarras School 24.3% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 24.4% 24.4% 24.4%

262 Leckhampton High School Academy 24.3% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 24.4% 24.4% 24.4%

Cotswold Beacon Academy Trust 

112 Marling School 24.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 25.7% 25.7% 25.7%

203 Berkeley Primary Academy 24.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 25.7% 25.7% 25.7%

225 Cam Woodfield Junior Academy 24.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 25.7% 25.7% 25.7%

Dra
ftP

age 194



39

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Corinium Education Trust

98 Cirencester Deer Park 23.8% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 25.2% 25.2% 25.2%

226 Kemble Primary School 23.8% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 25.2% 25.2% 25.2%

227 Siddington CofE Primary Academy 23.8% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 25.2% 25.2% 25.2%

229 Chesterton Primary Academy 23.8% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 25.2% 25.2% 25.2%

Gloucestershire Learning Alliance

115 Springbank Primary Academy 23.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%

116 Bishops Cleeve Primary Academy 23.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%

122 Rowanfield Junior School 23.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%

213 Rowanfield Infant Academy 23.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%

214 Longford Park Primary Academy 23.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%

250 Tredington Primary School 23.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%

261 Great Oldbury Primary Academy 23.5% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.8% 23.8% 23.8%

Greenshaw Learning Trust

137 Henley Bank High School 24.8% 6.4% 6.4% 6.4% 31.2% 31.2% 31.2%

174 Holmleigh Park High School) 24.8% 6.4% 6.4% 6.4% 31.2% 31.2% 31.2%

216 Five Acres High School Academy) 24.8% 6.4% 6.4% 6.4% 31.2% 31.2% 31.2%

84 Gloucester Academy 24.8% 6.4% 6.4% 6.4% 31.2% 31.2% 31.2%

Dra
ftP

age 195



40

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Diocese of Gloucestershire Academies Trust

129 Field Court CofE Infant Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

149 St Johns CofE Coleford 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

151 Christ Church CofE Primary School 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

169 Dursley CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

175 Primrose Hill CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

183 Winchcombe Abbey CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

187 Minchinhampton Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

188 Hardwicke Parochial Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

193 DGAT (Central Staff) 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

197 Longney CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

198 North Cerney CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

199 Whiteshill Primary School 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

204 Lakefield Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

207 St James CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

215 Clearwater CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

221 Coaley CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

222 St Lawrence CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

234 Bibury CofE Primary Academy 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

242 St Matthews CofE Primary 24.7% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.1% 27.1% 27.1%

Dra
ftP

age 196



41

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Phoenix Learning Alliance

101 Robinswood Primary School 23.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6%

212 Moat Primary Academy 23.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6%

230 Grange Primary Academy 23.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6%

263 Waterwells Primary Academy 23.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6%

264 Huntsgrove Primary Academy 23.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6%

265 Phoenix Learning Alliance (Central Staff) 23.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 23.6% 23.6% 23.6%

Primary Quest MAT

120 Highnam C of E Primary 25.0% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 26.6% 26.6% 26.6%

121 Redmarley C of E Primary 25.0% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 26.6% 26.6% 26.6%

125 Staunton & Corse CofE Primary 25.0% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 26.6% 26.6% 26.6%

241 Hartpury CofE Primary School Academy 25.0% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 26.6% 26.6% 26.6%

Sand Academies Trust

237 The Milestone School Academy 24.7% -2.1% -2.1% -2.1% 22.6% 22.6% 22.6%

238 Paternoster School Academy 24.7% -2.1% -2.1% -2.1% 22.6% 22.6% 22.6%

247 Battledown School Academy 24.7% -2.1% -2.1% -2.1% 22.6% 22.6% 22.6%

249 Belmont Academy 24.7% -2.1% -2.1% -2.1% 22.6% 22.6% 22.6%

256 The Willow Primary Academy 24.7% -2.1% -2.1% -2.1% 22.6% 22.6% 22.6%

257 Sand Academies Trust (Central Staff) 24.7% -2.1% -2.1% -2.1% 22.6% 22.6% 22.6%

Dra
ftP

age 197



42

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Severn Federation Academy Trust

252 Aylburton CofE Primary Academy 24.5% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%

253 Lydney CofE Primary Academy 24.5% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%

254 Bream CofE Primary Academy 24.5% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%

267 English Bicknor Primary Academy 24.5% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%

154 Severnbanks Primary Academy 24.5% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 26.5% 26.5% 26.5%

SGS Academy Trust

143 Forest High School 24.5% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 25.9% 25.9% 25.9%

217 SGS (Central Staff) 24.5% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 25.9% 25.9% 25.9%

218 Berkeley UTC Academy 24.5% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 25.9% 25.9% 25.9%

Forest of Dean Trust

128 Dene Magna School 25.4% 4.6% 4.6% 4.6% 30.0% 30.0% 30.0%

248 Drybrook Primary School Academy 25.4% 4.6% 4.6% 4.6% 30.0% 30.0% 30.0%

The Athelstan Trust

113 Sir William Romneys School 24.9% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1%

152 The Dean Academy 24.9% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1%

Dra
ftP

age 198



43

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Academies

173 Abbey View - CCT Learning 24.2% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 27.6% 27.6% 27.6%

127 All Saints Academy 23.7% -0.3% -0.3% -0.3% 23.4% 23.4% 23.4%

158 Blockley CofE Primary School 24.1% 2.7% 2.7% 2.7% 26.8% 26.8% 26.8%

157 Bourton-on-the-Water Primary School 23.7% -0.6% -0.6% -0.6% 23.1% 23.1% 23.1%

107 Charlton Kings Infant School 23.4% -0.1% -0.1% -0.1% 23.3% 23.3% 23.3%

108 Charlton Kings Junior School 25.2% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 27.2% 27.2% 27.2%

102 Cheltenham Bournside Academy 25.0% 2.4% 2.4% 2.4% 27.4% 27.4% 27.4%

109 Chipping Campden School 25.1% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1% 27.2% 27.2% 27.2%

97 Chosen Hill Academy 25.3% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 28.3% 28.3% 28.3%

135 Churchdown Secondary School Academy 24.9% 7.2% 7.2% 7.2% 32.1% 32.1% 32.1%

117 Churchdown Village Infants Academy 24.0% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 24.4% 24.4% 24.4%

110 Cirencester Kingshill School 24.1% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%

103 Cleeve Academy 23.9% 0.9% 0.9% 0.9% 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%

100 Denmark Road High School 24.5% 6.7% 6.7% 6.7% 31.2% 31.2% 31.2%

118 Farmors Academy 26.1% 3.7% 3.7% 3.7% 29.8% 29.8% 29.8%

130 Field Court Junior School 25.1% -1.0% -1.0% -1.0% 24.1% 24.1% 24.1%

156 Forest View Primary School 25.3% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 30.3% 30.3% 30.3%

119 Gotherington Primary School 25.4% 8.4% 8.4% 8.4% 33.8% 33.8% 33.8%

139 Gretton Primary School 26.4% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 29.4% 29.4% 29.4%

111 Katharine Lady Berkeley's School 24.6% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1%

Dra
ftP

age 199



44

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Employer 

code
Employer name

Primary 

rate

(% of pay)

Secondary rate (% of pay plus monetary amount) Total contributions (primary rate plus secondary rate) Notes

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

Academies (Continued)

179 Mitton Manor Primary School 24.0% 2.1% 2.1% 2.1% 26.1% 26.1% 26.1%

145 Newent Community School Academy 24.1% 5.5% 5.5% 5.5% 29.6% 29.6% 29.6%

95 Pate's Grammar School 23.9% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 27.3% 27.3% 27.3%

104 Ribston Hall High School 23.9% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 25.2% 25.2% 25.2%

126 Severn Vale School 24.5% 7.6% 7.6% 7.6% 32.1% 32.1% 32.1%

85 Sir Thomas Rich School 23.6% 4.7% 4.7% 4.7% 28.3% 28.3% 28.3%

155 St David's Primary School 24.1% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% 23.7% 23.7% 23.7%

123 St Mary's Catholic Primary School 24.0% -0.3% -0.3% -0.3% 23.7% 23.7% 23.7%

124 St Peters High School and Sixth Form 23.5% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 28.3% 28.3% 28.3%

171 Stone with Woodford CofE Primary School 25.2% 3.9% 3.9% 3.9% 29.1% 29.1% 29.1%

106 Stroud High School 24.1% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 27.6% 27.6% 27.6%

138 Tewkesbury School 25.0% 3.3% 3.3% 3.3% 28.3% 28.3% 28.3%

94 The Cotswold School 24.2% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 24.8% 24.8% 24.8%

99 The Crypt School 23.6% -0.8% -0.8% -0.8% 22.8% 22.8% 22.8%

132 The Rosary Catholic Primary 24.5% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 25.7% 25.7% 25.7%

114 Thomas Keble School 23.6% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 27.0% 27.0% 27.0%

182 Tredworth Infant School 23.8% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8% 24.6% 24.6% 24.6%

105 Winchcombe Community School 24.2% 5.2% 5.2% 5.2% 29.4% 29.4% 29.4%

133 Wyedean School and 6th Form College 24.8% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 30.8% 30.8% 30.8%

Dra
ftP

age 200



45

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Notes to the Rates and Adjustments Certificate

1. The rates for these Councils are inclusive of the Publica contracts.

2. This employer has elected to pre-pay the monetary element of their contributions set out in this Rates and Adjustments Certificate. A discount has been applied to 

the pre-payment amount to reflect the early payment of contributions. The table below sets out more details relating to the pre-payment amount.

Employer
Cheltenham Borough 

Council

Forest of Dean District 

Council

Stroud District 

Council

Pre-payment amount £6.258m £4.895m £4.321m

Date payment to be made by 1 April 2023 1 April 2023 1 April 2023

Amount payable in respect of

- 2023/24

- 2024/25

- 2025/26

20.1% plus £2.414m

20.1% plus £2.212m

20.1% plus £2.010m

20.7% plus £1.828m

20.7% plus £1.732m

20.7% plus £1.636m

20.0% plus £1.531m

20.0% plus £1.531m

20.0% plus £1.531m

Rate of discount 4.2% pa 4.2% pa 4.2% pa

Revised contributions due*

- 2023/24

- 2024/25

- 2025/26

20.1%

20.1%

20.1%

20.7%

20.7%

20.7%

20.0%

20.0%

20.0%

*in addition to the pre-payment amount

Dra
ftP

age 201



46

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Further comments to the Rates and Adjustments Certificate

• Contributions expressed as a percentage of payroll should be paid into the Fund at a frequency in accordance with the requirements of the Regulations

• Further sums should be paid to the Fund to meet the costs of any early retirements and/or augmentations using methods and factors issued by us from time to 

time or as otherwise agreed.

• Payments may be required to be made to the Fund by employers to meet the capital costs of any ill-health retirements that exceed those allowed for within our 

assumptions.

• The certified contribution rates represent the minimum level of contributions to be paid. Employing authorities may pay further amounts at any time and future 

periodic contributions may be adjusted on a basis approved by the Fund Actuary.

• The monetary contributions set out in the certificate above can be prepaid in advance with appropriate adjustments for interest as and when agreed with the 

Administering Authority. Under these circumstances a revised Rates and Adjustments certificate may be issued reflecting any advance payments.

17 February 2023

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP

SIGNATURE SIGNATURE

Douglas Green FFAJulie West FFA

Dra
ftP

age 202



Section 13 DashboardD
ra

ftP
age 203



48

VALUATION 

RESULTS

FINAL 

COMMENTS
APPENDICES

RATES & 

ADJUSTMENTS 

CERTIFICATE

SECTION 13 

DASHBOARD

SENSITIVITY & 

RISK ANALYSIS

APPROACH TO 

VALUATION

EXECUTIVE 

SUMMARY

Section 13 dashboard

To be completed once GAD confirm required 

information

Dra
ftP

age 204



 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Funding Strategy Statement 

February 2023 

 

 

Page 205



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 

 

Contents 
 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund – Funding Strategy Statement Page 

 

  
1 Welcome to Gloucestershire pension fund’s funding strategy statement 1 
2 How does the fund calculate employer contributions? 3 
3 Additional pension costs on early retirement 7 
4 How does the fund calculate assets and liabilities? 8 
5 What happens when an employer joins the fund? 9 
6 What happens when an employer leaves the fund? 11 
7 What are the statutory reporting requirements? 13 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A – The regulatory framework 
Appendix B – Roles and responsibilities 
Appendix C – Risks and controls 
Appendix D – Actuarial assumptions 

 

Page 206



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 001 
 

1 Welcome to Gloucestershire pension fund’s funding 
strategy statement  

This document sets out the funding strategy statement (FSS) for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.  

The Gloucestershire pension fund is administered by Gloucestershire County Council, known as the 

administering authority. Gloucestershire County Council worked with the fund’s actuary, Hymans Robertson, to 

prepare this FSS which is effective from 1 April 2023.  

There’s a regulatory requirement for Gloucestershire County Council to prepare an FSS. You can find out more 

about the regulatory framework in Appendix A. If you have any queries about the FSS, contact 

peninv@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

1.1 What is the Gloucestershire pension fund?  

The Gloucestershire pension fund is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). You can find more 

information about the LGPS at www.lgpsmember.org. The administering authority runs the fund on behalf of 

participating employers, their employees and current and future pensioners. You can find out more about roles 

and responsibilities in Appendix B. 

1.2 What are the funding strategy objectives?    

The funding strategy objectives are to:     

• take a prudent long-term view to secure the regulatory requirement for long-term solvency, with sufficient 

funds to pay benefits to members and their dependants  

• use a balanced investment strategy to minimise long-term cash contributions from employers and meet the 

regulatory requirement for long-term cost efficiency 

• where appropriate, ensure stable employer contribution rates 

• reflect different employers’ characteristics to set their contribution rates, using a transparent funding strategy  

• use reasonable measures to reduce the risk of an employer defaulting on its pension obligations. 

1.3 Who is the FSS for?  

The FSS is mainly for employers participating in the fund, because it sets out how money will be collected from 

them to meet the fund’s obligations to pay members’ benefits.  

Different types of employers participate in the fund:  

Scheduled bodies  

Employers who are specified in a schedule to the LGPS regulations, including councils and employers 

like academies and further education establishments. Scheduled bodies must give employees access to 

the LGPS if they can’t accrue benefits in another pension scheme, such as another public service 

pension scheme.  

Designating employers  

Employers like town and parish councils can join the LGPS through a resolution. If a resolution is 

passed, the fund can’t refuse entry. The employer then decides which employees can join the scheme. 

Page 207

http://www.lgpsmember.org/


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 002 
 

Admission bodies  

Other employers can join through an admission agreement. The fund can set participation criteria for 

them and can refuse entry if the requirements aren’t met. This type of employer includes contractors 

providing outsourced services like cleaning or catering to a scheduled body.  

Some existing employers may be referred to as community admission bodies (CABs). CABs are employers 

with a community of interest with another scheme employer. Others may be called transferee admission 

bodies (TABs), that provide services for scheme employers. These terms aren’t defined under current 

regulations but remain in common use from previous regulations. 

1.4 How does the funding strategy link to the investment strategy?   

The funding strategy sets out how money will be collected from employers to meet the fund’s obligations. 

Contributions, assets and other income are then invested according to an investment strategy set by the 

administering authority. You can find the investment strategy here 

The funding and investment strategies are closely linked. The fund must be able to pay benefits when they are 

due – those payments are met from a combination of contributions (through the funding strategy) and asset 

returns and income (through the investment strategy). If investment returns or income fall short the fund won’t 

be able to pay benefits, so higher contributions would be required from employers.  

1.5 Does the funding strategy reflect the investment strategy? 

The funding policy is consistent with the investment strategy. Future investment return expectations and 

contribution rates are set with reference to the investment strategy, including a margin for prudence. This is 

consistent with the regulatory requirement that funds take a ‘prudent longer-term view’ of funding liabilities. 

1.6 How is the funding strategy specific to the Gloucestershire pension fund? 

The funding strategy reflects the specific characteristics of the fund employers and its own investment strategy.  

 

Page 208

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/gloucestershire-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps-fund/finance-and-investments/


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 003 
 

2 How does the fund calculate employer contributions?  

2.1 Calculating contribution rates  

Employee contribution rates are set by the LGPS regulations. 

Employer contributions are made up of two elements: 

• the primary contribution rate – contributions payable towards future benefits  

• the secondary contribution rate – the difference between the primary rate and the total employer 

contribution  

The primary rate also includes an allowance for the fund’s expenses. The primary rate will always be set as a 

percentage of pay.  The secondary rate may be set as a percentage of pay or as a monetary amount.  A 

monetary amount is usually set where payroll is expected to decline.   

The fund actuary uses a model to project each employer’s asset share over a range of future economic 

scenarios.  The contribution rate takes each employer’s assets into account as well as the projected benefits 

due to their members. The value of the projected benefits is worked out using employer membership data and 

the assumptions in Appendix D.  

The total contribution rate for each employer is then based on:    

• the funding target – how much money the fund aims to hold for each employer 

• the time horizon – the time over which the employer aims to achieve the funding target  

• the likelihood of success – the proportion of modelled scenarios where the funding target is met.  

This approach takes into account the maturing profile of the membership when setting employer contribution 

rates. 

A definition of the funding targets used can be found in Appendix D. Table 1 defines the parameters that will 

apply for the contribution rate calculation for different types of employers.  

Employers may opt to pre-pay contributions.  The Fund’s policy on contribution prepayments can be found here 

  

Page 209

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/gloucestershire-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps-fund/finance-and-investments/


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 004 
 

 

Table 1: contribution rate calculation for individual or pooled employers 
Type of 
employer 

Scheduled bodies  Designated 
employers 

CABs and 
admission 

bodies with 
no 

guarantor 

TABs and 
admission 

bodies with 
a 

guarantor1 

Sub-type Local 
authorities 
and police 

Colleges & 
universities 

Academies 
and Multi 
Academy 

Trusts 

Other 
scheduled 

bodies 

Town and 
Parish 

Councils 

All All 

Funding 

target 

Ongoing   

 

Ongoing but 

may move to 

low-risk exit 

basis 

Ongoing Ongoing if 

open 

Low-risk 

exit basis if 

closed 

Ongoing Low-risk exit 

basis 

Contractor 

exit basis, 

assuming 

fixed-term 

contract in 

the fund  

Likelihood of 

success  

75%2 70% or 75%  75% 80% if 

ongoing  

50% if 

closed 

75% 50% 50% 

Maximum 

time horizon  

17 years 14 years 20 years 20 if open 

Average 

future 

working 

lifetime if 

closed 

20 years average 

future 

working 

lifetime but 

may extend 

to maintain 

stability of 

contributions 

Same as the 

letting 

employer 

Primary rate 

approach 

The contributions must be sufficient to meet the cost of benefits earned in the future with the required 

likelihood of success at the end of the time horizon 

Secondary 

rate  

% of payroll 

or monetary 

amount 

% of payroll 

or monetary 

amount 

% of payroll Monetary 

amount 

% of payroll Monetary 

amount 

% of payroll 

How is 

stability of 

contributions 

achieved 

Stabilised 

contribution 

strategy 

Phasing 

over 3 years 

Test current 

rate (see 

2.2 below)  

Phasing 

over 3 

years 

Test current 

rate (see 

2.2 below) 

N/A N/A 

Treatment of 

surplus 

Covered by 

stabilisation 

arrangement 

Contributions kept at primary rate 

 

Reductions 

may be 

permitted by 

the 

administering 

authority  

Reduce 

contributions 

by 

spreading 

the surplus 

over the 

remaining 

contract 

term 

 
1 For employers joining the Fund with a pass-through agreement, contributions will be calculated using a 80% 
likelihood of success 
2 The primary rate is calculated using a 66% likelihood of success for these employers 

Page 210



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 005 
 

 

 

2.2 Making contribution rates stable   

Making employer contribution rates reasonably stable is an important funding objective. Where appropriate, 

contributions are set with this objective in mind. This is achieved through a number of methods: 

• Setting a stabilised contribution strategy 

• Phasing in any employer increases or decreases 

• Testing if the current contribution rate meets a minimum likelihood of success.   

A stabilised contribution rate strategy is adopted for all local authorities where contributions move each year 

with a maximum of the parameters shown in Table 2.  After taking advice from the fund actuary, the 

administering authority believes a stabilised approach is a prudent longer-term strategy.  

Table 2: current stabilisation approach 

Employer Maximum 

contribution 

increase per year 

Maximum 

contribution 

decrease per year 

Gloucestershire County Council and Schools + 0.5% of pay - 0.5% of pay 

Cheltenham Borough Council + £202,000 - £202,000 

Cotswold District Council + £195,000 - £195,000 

Forest of Dean District Council + £95,500 - £95,500 

Gloucester City Council + £126,000 - £126,000 

Stroud District Council + £137,000 - £137,000 

Tewkesbury Borough Council + £96,500 - £96,500 

Gloucestershire Police + 0.5% of pay - 0.5% of pay 

   

Maximum contribution increases and decreases are reviewed during the valuation process. The administering 

authority may review them between valuations to respond to membership or employer changes. 

For all academies, multi-academy trusts and town and parish councils, the likelihood of success of the current 

rate in payment will be tested at the time horizon shown in Table 1.  If the likelihood of success is within 2.5% of 

the likelihood of success shown in Table 1, the contribution rate will remain stable.  If the likelihood of success is 

outside of this range, the contribution rate will be calculated to bring the likelihood of success back within the 

likelihood of success “corridor”.   

The same approach applies for Town and Parish Councils.  

Phasing of employer increases over three years may be permitted for academies, colleges and other scheduled 

bodies.  

Page 211



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 006 
 

2.3 Reviewing contributions between valuations 

The fund may amend contribution rates between formal valuations, in line with its policy on contribution reviews. 

The fund’s policy is here. The purpose of any review is to establish the most appropriate contributions. A review 

may lead to an increase or decrease in contributions.  

2.4 What is pooling?   

The administering authority may operate pools for similar types of employer. Contribution rates can be volatile 

for smaller employers that are more sensitive to individual membership changes – pooling across a group of 

employers minimises this.  

Employers in a pool maintain their individual funding positions, tracked by the fund actuary. That means some 

employers may be better funded or more poorly funded than the pool average. If pooled employers used stand-

alone funding rather than pooling, their contribution rates could be higher or lower than the pool rate. 

Pooled employers are identified in the rates and adjustments certificate and only have their pooled contributions 

certified. Individual contribution rates aren’t calculated for pooled employers, unless agreed by the administering 

authority. 

If an employer leaves the fund, the fund will request a cessation payment based on a proportionate share of the 

pooled funded position (based on liabilities).  The funding position will be determined on the fund’s ongoing basis.     

 

2.5 What are the current contribution pools? 

• Town and parish councils – sharing experience and smoothing the effects of costly but rare events like ill-

health retirement or deaths in service. 

• Non- academy schools – pooled with Gloucestershire County Council  

• Ceased employers – these are pooled with the awarding authority (where relevant) or with another 

employer providing a guarantee  

• Multi-academy trusts – a pool operates for each multi-academy trust. The positions of each participating 

academy school are tracked individually.  

 

2.6 Administering authority discretion  

Individual employers may be affected by circumstances not easily managed within the FSS rules and policies. If 

this happens, the administering authority may adopt alternative funding approaches on a case-by-case basis.  

Additionally, the administering authority may allow greater flexibility to the employer’s contributions if added 

security is provided. Flexibility could include things like a reduced contribution rate, extended time horizon, or 

permission to join a pool. Added security may include a suitable bond, a legally binding guarantee from an 

appropriate third party, or security over an asset.  

  

Page 212

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/gloucestershire-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps-fund/finance-and-investments/


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 007 
 

3 Additional pension costs on early retirement  

3.1 Pension costs – awarding additional pension and early retirement on non ill-health grounds 

If an employer awards additional pension as an annual benefit amount, they pay an additional contribution to the 

fund as a single lump sum.  The amount is set by guidance issued by the Government Actuary’s Department 

and updated from time to time.  

If an employee retires before their normal retirement age on unreduced benefits, employers may be asked to 

pay additional contributions called strain payments.  

Employers typically make strain payments as a single lump sum, though strain payments may be spread by no 

more than 3 years for scheduled bodies with tax-raising powers.  

3.2 Pension costs – early retirement on ill-health grounds 

If a member retires early because of ill-health, their employer must pay a funding strain, which may be a large 

sum.  

The administering authority has arranged an external insurance policy to cover ill-health early retirement strains. 

Each employer’s contribution that participates in this arrangement includes a share of the premium. When an 

active member retires on ill-health early retirement, the claim amount is credited to the employer’s asset share.  

The fund’s policy is that all Academy Schools, Town and Parish Councils, Admitted Bodies with closed 

Admission Agreements and Admitted Bodies without a guarantor will be required to be automatically covered by 

the ill health pension strain insurance policy organised by the Fund.  

All other employers will also automatically be covered by the ill health policy organised by the Fund unless they 

choose to opt out of such cover.  

Where an employer formally opts out of the cover their employer contributions will remain unchanged.  When a 

member retires because of ill-health the employer will be asked to meet the funding strain where this exceeds 

the allowance for ill-health within the existing contribution rate.  

 

 

  

Page 213



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 008 
 

4 How does the fund calculate assets and liabilities? 

4.1 How are employer asset shares calculated?  

The fund adopts a cashflow approach to track individual employer assets. 

The fund uses Hymans Robertson’s HEAT system to track employer assets monthly. Each employer’s assets 

from the previous month end are added to monthly cashflows paid in/out and investment returns to give a new 

month-end asset value.  

If an employee moves one from one employer to another within the fund, assets equal to the cash equivalent 

transfer value (CETV) will move from the original employer to the receiving employer’s asset share. 

Alternatively, if employees move when a new academy is formed or an outsourced contract begins, the fund 

actuary will calculate assets linked to the value of the liabilities transferring.    

4.2 How are employer liabilities calculated? 

The fund holds membership data for all active, deferred and pensioner members. Based on this data and the 

assumptions in Appendix D, the fund actuary projects the expected benefits for all members into the future. This 

is expressed as a single value – the liabilities – by allowing for expected future investment returns. The 

assumption for future investment return is determined by the funding target adopted for that employer.  These 

are defined in Appendix D.   

Each employer’s liabilities reflect the experience of their own employees and ex-employees.  

Benefits are valued in line with the regulations in force at the time of the valuation, with an exception relating to 

the McCloud ruling. The benefits of members likely to be affected by the McCloud ruling have instead been 

valued in line with the expected regulations, reflecting an underpin as directed by DLUHC. 

4.3 What is a funding level? 

An employer’s funding level is the ratio of the market value of asset share against liabilities. If this is less than 

100%, the employer has a shortfall: the employer’s deficit. If it is more than 100%, the employer is in surplus. 

The amount of deficit or surplus is the difference between the asset value and the liabilities value. 

Funding levels and deficit/surplus values measure a particular point in time, based on a particular set of future 

assumptions. While this measure is of interest, for most employers the main issue is the level of contributions 

payable. The funding level does not directly drive contribution rates. See section 2 for further information on 

rates.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 214



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 009 
 

5 What happens when an employer joins the fund?   

5.1 When can an employer join the fund? 

Employers can join the fund if they are a new scheduled body or a new admission body.  New designated 

employers may also join the fund if they pass a designation to do so.  

On joining, the fund will determine the assets and liabilities for that employer within the Fund.  The calculation 

will depend on the type of employer and the circumstances of joining. 

A contribution rate will also be set.  This will be set in accordance with the calculation set out in Section 2, 

unless alternative arrangements apply (for example, the employer has agreed a pass-through arrangement).  

More details on this are in Section 5.4 below. 

5.2 New academies   

New academies (including free schools) join the fund as separate scheduled employers. Only active members 

of former council schools transfer to new academies. Free schools do not transfer active members from a 

converting school but must allow new active members to transfer in any eligible service. 

Liabilities for transferring active members will be calculated (on the ongoing basis) by the fund actuary on the 

day before conversion to an academy. Liabilities relating to the converting school’s former employees (ie 

members with deferred or pensioner status) remain with the ceding council.  

New academies will be allocated an asset share based on the estimated funding level of the ceding council’s 

active members, having first allocated the council’s assets to fully fund their deferred and pensioner members. 

This funding level will then be applied to the transferring liabilities to calculate the academy’s initial asset share, 

capped at a maximum of 100%. 

The council’s estimated funding level will be based on market conditions on the day before conversion. The fund 

treats new academies as separate employers in their own right, who are responsible for their allocated assets 

and liabilities. They won’t be pooled with other employers unless the academy is part of a multi-academy trust 

(MAT).  

The new academies’ contribution rate is based on the current funding strategy (set out in section 2) and the 

transferring membership.   If a new academy joins an existing MAT, they will be asked instead to pay the 

contribution rate currently in payment by that MAT.   

If an academy leaves one MAT and joins another, all active, deferred and pensioner members transfer to the 

new MAT. 

The fund’s policies on academies may change based on updates to guidance from the Department for Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities or the Department for Education. Any changes will be communicated and 

reflected in future funding strategy statements. 

5.3 New admission bodies as a results of outsourcing services 

New admission bodies usually join the fund because an existing employer (usually a scheduled body like a 

council or academy) outsources a service to another organisation (a contractor). This involves TUPE transfers 

of staff from the letting employer to the contractor. The contractor becomes a new participating fund employer 

for the duration of the contract and transferring employees remain eligible for LGPS membership. At the end of 

the contract, employees typically revert to the letting employer or a replacement contractor. 

Liabilities for transferring active members will be calculated (on the ongoing basis) by the fund actuary on the 

day before the outsourcing occurs. 

Page 215



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 010 
 

New contractors will be allocated an asset share equal to the value of the transferring liabilities. The admission 

agreement may set a different initial asset allocation, depending on contract-specific circumstances.   

There is flexibility for outsourcing employers when it comes to pension risk potentially taken on by the 

contractor.   

The fund’s preferred approach is to request that all new admission bodies are set up with a pass-through 

arrangement. The fund’s guidance on pass through is available upon request.   

5.4 Other new employers  

There may be other circumstances that lead to a new admission body entering the fund, eg set up of a wholly 

owned subsidiary company by a Local Authority.   Calculation of assets and liabilities on joining and a 

contribution rate will be carried out allowing for the circumstances of the new employer.   

New designated employers may also join the fund. These are usually town and parish councils.  Contribution 

rates will be set using the same approach as other designated employers in the fund.   

 

5.5 Risk assessment for new admission bodies 

Under the LGPS regulations, a new admission body must assess the risks it poses to the fund if the admission 

agreement ends early, for example if the admission body becomes insolvent or goes out of business. In 

practice, the fund actuary assesses this because the assessment must be carried out to the administering 

authority’s satisfaction.  

After considering the assessment, the administering authority may decide the admission body must provide 

security, such as a guarantee from the letting employer, an indemnity or a bond.  

This must cover some or all of the:   

• strain costs of any early retirements, if employees are made redundant when a contract ends prematurely 

• allowance for the risk of assets performing less well than expected 

• allowance for the risk of liabilities being greater than expected 

• allowance for the possible non-payment of employer and member contributions 

• admission body’s existing deficit. 

 

Page 216



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 011 
 

6 What happens when an employer leaves the fund?  

6.1 What is a cessation event?  

Triggers for cessation from the fund are:   

• the last active member stops participation in the fund. The administering authority, at their discretion, can 

defer acting for up to three years by issuing a suspension notice. That means cessation won’t be triggered if 

the employer takes on one or more active members during that period  

• insolvency, winding up or liquidation of the admission body 

• a breach of the agreement obligations that isn’t remedied to the fund’s satisfaction  

• failure to pay any sums due within the period required  

• failure to renew or adjust the level of a bond or indemnity, or to confirm an appropriate alternative guarantor 

• termination of a deferred debt arrangement (DDA).  

The administering authority will instruct the fund actuary to carry out a cessation valuation to calculate if there is 

a surplus or a deficit when the employer leaves the scheme.   

6.2 What happens on cessation?  

The administering authority must protect the interests of the remaining fund employers when an employer 

leaves the scheme. The actuary aims to protect remaining employers from the risk of future loss.  The funding 

target adopted for the cessation calculation is below. These are defined in Appendix D.  

(a) Where there is no guarantor, cessation liabilities and a final surplus/deficit will usually be calculated 

using a low-risk basis, which is more prudent than the ongoing participation basis.  

(b) Where there is a guarantor, the guarantee will be considered before the cessation valuation. Where the 

guarantor is a guarantor of last resort, this will have no effect on the cessation valuation. If this isn’t the 

case, cessation may be calculated using the same basis that was used to calculate liabilities (and the 

corresponding asset share) on joining the Fund.  

(c) Depending on the guarantee, it may be possible to transfer the employer’s liabilities and assets to the 

guarantor without crystallising deficits or surplus. This may happen if an employer can’t pay the 

contributions due and the approach is within guarantee terms.  

If the fund can’t recover the required payment in full, unpaid amounts will be paid by the related letting authority 

(in the case of a ceased admission body) or shared between the other fund employers. This may require an 

immediate revision to the rates and adjustments certificate or be reflected in the contribution rates set at the 

next formal valuation.  

The fund actuary charges a fee for cessation valuations.  Fees and any other cessation expenses are deducted 

from the employer’s asset share.    

6.3 What happens if there is a surplus? 

If the cessation valuation shows the exiting employer has more assets than liabilities they employer has a 

surplus, known as an exit credit.  The administering authority can decide how much will be paid back to the 

employer based on:  

• the surplus amount  

• the proportion of the surplus due to the employer’s contributions 

Page 217



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023 012 
 

• any representations (like risk sharing agreements or guarantees) made by the exiting employer and any 

employer providing a guarantee or some other form of employer assistance/support 

• any other relevant factors.  

The fund’s approach to payment of exit credits is detailed within the cessation policy which is available here 

6.4 How do employers repay cessation debts?  

If there is a deficit, full payment will usually be expected in a single lump sum or:   

• spread over an agreed period, if the employer enters into a deferred spreading agreement (“DSA”) 

• if an exiting employer enters into a deferred debt agreement (“DDA”), it stays in the fund and pays 

contributions until the cessation debt is repaid. Payments are reassessed at each formal valuation.   

The options available to employers are detailed in the fund’s cessation policy, available here 

6.5 What if an employer has no active members?  

When employers leave the fund because their last active member has left, they may pay a cessation debt, 

receive an exit credit or enter a DDA/DSA. Beyond the DDA/DSA they have no further obligation to the fund and 

either:   

a) their asset share runs out before all ex-employees’ benefits have been paid. The other fund employers 

will be required to contribute to the remaining benefits. The fund actuary will portion the liabilities on a 

pro-rata basis based on liability share at the formal valuation.  

b) the last ex-employee or dependant dies before the employer’s asset share is fully run down. The fund 

actuary will apportion the remaining assets to the other fund employers based on liability share. 

6.6 Are bulk transfers allowed?  

Employers or a group of employees may leave the fund as the result of a bulk transfer.  The calculation of 

transferring assets will be agreed as part of the bulk transfer terms.   

Cases will be looked at individually, but generally:  

• the fund won’t pay bulk transfers greater in value than either the asset share of the transferring employer in 

the fund, or the value of the past service liabilities of the transferring members, whichever is lower 

• the fund won’t grant added benefits to members bringing in entitlements from another fund, unless the asset 

transfer is enough to meet the added liabilities 

• the fund may permit shortfalls on bulk transfers if the employer has a suitable covenant and commits to 

meeting the shortfall in an appropriate period, which may require increased contributions between 

valuations.  

Page 218

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/gloucestershire-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps-fund/finance-and-investments/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/gloucestershire-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps-fund/finance-and-investments/


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

7 What are the statutory reporting requirements?  

7.1 Reporting regulations  

The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 requires the Government Actuary’s Department to report on LGPS funds 

in England and Wales after every three-year valuation, in what’s usually called a section 13 report. The report 

should include confirmation that employer contributions are set at the right level to ensure the fund’s solvency 

and long-term cost efficiency.  

7.2 Solvency 

Employer contributions are set at an appropriate solvency level if the rate of contribution targets a funding level 

of 100% over an appropriate time, using appropriate assumptions compared to other funds. Either:   

(a) employers collectively can increase their contributions, or the fund can realise contingencies to target a 

100% funding level 

or 

(b) there is an appropriate plan in place if there is, or is expected to be, a reduction in employers’ ability to 

increase contributions as needed.  

7.3 Long-term cost efficiency 

Employer contributions are set at an appropriate long-term cost efficiency level if the contribution rate makes 

provision for the cost of current benefit accrual, with an appropriate adjustment for any surplus or deficit.  

To assess this, the administering authority may consider absolute and relative factors.  

Relative factors include: 

1. comparing LGPS funds with each other  

2. the implied deficit recovery period 

3. the investment return required to achieve full funding after 20 years.  

Absolute factors include: 

1. comparing funds with an objective benchmark  

2. the extent to which contributions will cover the cost of current benefit accrual and interest on any deficit 

3. how the required investment return under relative considerations compares to the estimated future return 

targeted by the investment strategy 

4. the extent to which contributions paid are in line with expected contributions, based on the rates and 

adjustment certificate  

5. how any new deficit recovery plan reconciles with, and can be a continuation of, any previous deficit 

recovery plan, allowing for fund experience.  

These metrics may be assessed by GAD on a standardised market-related basis where the fund’s actuarial 

bases don’t offer straightforward comparisons.   

 

 

Page 219



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

Appendices  
Appendix A – The regulatory framework 

A1 Why do funds need a funding strategy statement?  

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) regulations require funds to maintain and publish a funding 

strategy statement (FSS). According to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 

the purpose of the FSS is to document the processes the administering authority uses to:  

• establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy identifying how employers’ pension liabilities 

are best met going forward 

• support the regulatory framework to maintain as nearly constant employer contribution rates as 

possible 

• ensure the fund meets its solvency and long-term cost efficiency objectives    

• take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities. 

To prepare this FSS, the administering authority has used guidance by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA).   

A2 Consultation   

Both the LGPS regulations and most recent CIPFA guidance state the FSS should be prepared in consultation 

with “persons the authority considers appropriate”. This should include ‘meaningful dialogue… with council tax 

raising authorities and representatives of other participating employers’. 

The consultation process included issuing a draft version to participating employers, including the CIPFA 

guidance, and holding a consultation period no shorter than 20 business days.  

A3 How is the FSS published? 

The FSS is made available through the following routes:  

• publishing on the administering authority’s website 

• sending copies to each employer 

• including the full statement or summary in final accounts 

• sending copies to members of the local pension board 

• sending copies to independent advisers 

• making copies freely available on request.  

The FSS is published at Gloucestershire Pension Fund Website.  

A4 How often is the FSS reviewed? 

The FSS is reviewed in detail at least every three years as part of the valuation. Amendments may be made 

before then if there are regulatory or operational changes. Any amendments will be consulted on, agreed by the 

Pensions Committee and included in the Committee meeting minutes. 

Page 220

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/gloucestershire-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps-fund/finance-and-investments/


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

A5 How does the FSS fit into the overall fund documentation? 

The FSS is a summary of the fund’s approach to funding liabilities. It isn’t exhaustive – the fund publishes other 

statements like the statement of investment principles, investment strategy statement, governance strategy and 

communications strategy. The fund’s annual report and accounts also includes up-to-date fund information.  

You can see all fund documentation at Gloucestershire Pension Fund Website 

 

Page 221

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/pensions/gloucestershire-local-government-pension-scheme-lgps-fund/finance-and-investments/


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

Appendix B – Roles and responsibilities  

B1 The administering authority:  

1 operates the fund and follows all Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) regulations 

2 manages any conflicts of interest from its dual role as administering authority and a fund employer 

3 collects employer and employee contributions, investment income and other amounts due  

4 ensures cash is available to meet benefit payments when due 

5 pays all benefits and entitlements  

6 invests surplus money like contributions and income which isn’t needed to pay immediate benefits, in line 

with regulation and the investment strategy 

7 communicates with employers so they understand their obligations 

8 safeguards the fund against employer default 

9 works with the fund actuary to manage the valuation process  

10 provides information to the Government Actuary’s Department so they can carry out their statutory 

obligations  

11 consults on, prepares and maintains the funding and investment strategy statements   

12 tells the actuary about changes which could affect funding   

13 monitors the fund’s performance and funding, amending the strategy statements as necessary  

14 enables the local pension board to review the valuation process. 

 

B2 Individual employers:  

1 deduct the correct contributions from employees’ pay 

2 pay all contributions by the due date 

3 have appropriate policies in place to work within the regulatory framework 

4 make additional contributions as agreed, for example to augment scheme benefits or early retirement 

strain  

5 tell the administering authority promptly about any changes to circumstances, prospects or membership 

which could affect future funding. 

6 make any required exit payments when leaving the fund. 

 

B3 The fund actuary: 

1 prepares valuations, including setting employers’ contribution rates, agreeing assumptions, working within 

FSS and LGPS regulations and appropriately targeting fund solvency and long-term cost efficiency 

2 provides information to the Government Actuary Department so they can carry out their statutory 

obligations  

3 advises on fund employers, including giving advice about and monitoring bonds or other security  

4 prepares advice and calculations around bulk transfers and individual benefits  

Page 222



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

5 assists the administering authority to consider changes to employer contributions between formal 

valuations  

6 advises on terminating employers’ participation in the fund 

7 fully reflects actuarial professional guidance and requirements in all advice.  

 

B4 Other parties:  

1 internal and external investment advisers ensure the investment strategy statement (ISS) is consistent 

with the funding strategy statement  

2 investment managers, custodians and bankers play their part in the effective investment and dis-

investment of fund assets in line with the ISS 

3 auditors comply with standards, ensure fund compliance with requirements, monitor and advise on fraud 

detection, and sign-off annual reports and financial statements  

4 governance advisers may be asked to advise the administering authority on processes and working 

methods  

5 internal and external legal advisers ensure the fund complies with all regulations and broader local 

government requirements, including the administering authority’s own procedures 

6 the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, assisted by the Government Actuary’s 

Department and the Scheme Advisory Board, work with LGPS funds to meet Section 13 requirements. 

 

 

  

Page 223



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

Appendix C – Risks and controls  

C1 Managing risks  

The administering authority has a risk management programme to control financial, demographic, regulatory 

and governance risks.  

Details of the fund-specific risks and controls are taken to every Pension Commitee meeting and Pension Board 

meeting.  The Fund’s risk management framework is available here. 

The role of the Pensions Committee and the local pension board are defined in the Governance Policy 

Statement. 

C2 Employer covenant assessment and monitoring  

Many of the employers participating in the fund, such as admitted bodies (including TABs and CABs), have no 

local tax-raising powers. The fund assesses and monitors the long-term financial health of these employers to 

assess an appropriate level of risk for each employer’s funding strategy. 

Type of employer Assessment  
Monitoring 

Local Authorities and Police Tax-raising or government-backed, 

no individual assessment required  

n/a 

Colleges & Universities  Engagement with employers in this 

group occurs at each formal 

valuation. 

Position is reassessed at each formal 

valuation 

Academies Government-backed, covered by DfE 

guarantee in event of MAT failure 

Check that DfE guarantee continues, 

after regular scheduled DfE review  

   

Admission bodies (including 

TABs & CABs)  

Covenant assessment is 

responsibility of the awarding 

authority who guarantee the contract. 

The Fund regularly engages with 

closed employers with no guarantor.  

Position is reassessed at each formal 

valuation 

Designating employers  No individual assessment is carried 

out due to small size of liabilities and 

pooling approach to setting 

contributions.   

Position is reassessed at each formal 

valuation 

 

C3 Climate risk and TCFD reporting 

The fund has considered climate-related risks when setting the funding strategy. The fund included climate 

scenario stress testing in the contribution modelling exercise for the local authority employers at the 2022 

valuation.  The modelling results under the stress tests were slightly worse than the core results but were still 

within risk tolerance levels, particularly given the severity of the stresses applied.  The results provide assurance 

that the modelling approach does not significantly underestimate the potential impact of climate change and that 

Page 224

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=270&Year=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=739&Year=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=739&Year=0
https://hymansrobertsonlive.sharepoint.com/sites/WRK-34132-2022/FundingStrategy/Funding%20Strategy%20Statement/gloucestershire-pension-fund-risk-management-policy-v11-approved-december-2021.pdf


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

the funding strategy is resilient to climate risks.  The results of these stress tests may be used in future to assist 

with disclosures prepared in line with Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) principles. 

The same stress tests were not applied to the funding strategy modelling for smaller employers. However, given 

that the same underlying model is used for all employers and that the local authority employers make up the 

vast majority of the fund’s assets and liabilities, applying the stress tests to all employers was not deemed 

proportionate at this stage and would not be expected to result in any changes to the agreed contribution plans. 

Page 225



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

Appendix D – Actuarial assumptions   

D1 What are assumptions?  

Assumptions are used to estimate the benefits due to be paid to members. Financial assumptions determine the 

amount of benefit to be paid to each member, and the expected investment return on the assets held to meet 

those benefits.  Demographic assumptions are used to work out when benefit payments are made and for how 

long.  

The funding target is the money the fund aims to hold to meet the benefits earned to date. 

Any change in the assumptions will affect the funding target and contribution rate, but different assumptions 

don’t affect the actual benefits the fund will pay in future. 

D2 What assumptions are used to set the contribution rate?  

The fund doesn’t rely on a single set of assumptions when setting contribution rates, instead using Hymans 

Robertson’s Economic Scenario Service (ESS) to project each employer’s assets, benefits and cashflows to the 

end of the funding time horizon.  

ESS projects future benefit payments, contributions and investment returns under 5,000 possible economic 

scenarios, using variables for future inflation and investment returns for each asset class, rather than a single 

fixed value. 

For any projection, the fund actuary can assess if the funding target is satisfied at the end of the time horizon.   

D3 What financial assumptions are used?  

Future investment return and discount rate 

The fund uses a risk-based approach to generate assumptions about future investment returns over the funding 

time horizon, based on the investment strategy.  

The discount rate is the annual rate of future investment return assumed to be earned on assets after the end of 

the funding time horizon. The discount rate assumption is set as a margin above the risk-free rate.   

Assumptions for future investment returns depend on the funding objective.  

 Employer type Margin above risk-free rate 

Ongoing basis All employers except existing transferee 

admission bodies and closed community 

admission bodies 

1.8% 

Low-risk exit 

basis 

Community admission bodies closed to new 

entrants 

Consistent with a level of 

investment return with likelihood of 

success of 90% 

Contractor exit 

basis 

Transferee admission bodies Will be calculated in a consistent 

way with the method used to 

allocate assets to the employer on 

joining the fund 

 

Page 226



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

Discount rate (for funding level calculation only) 

For the purpose of calculating a funding level on an ongoing basis, a prudent estimate of investment returns is 

calculated.  This is the level of investment returns that the fund is expected to achieve with a 75% likelihood for 

the 20 years following the valuation date.  

To assess the funding level on a low-risk exit basis, the level of investment returns is calculated with reference 

to a 90% likelihood of success.  

Pension increases and CARE revaluation 

Deferment and payment increases to pensions and revaluation of CARE benefits are in line with the Consumer 

Price Index (CPI) and determined by the regulations.  

The CPI assumption is based on the median value of CPI from the ESS model.  

Salary growth 

The salary increase assumption at the latest valuation has been set to 0.3% above CPI pa plus a promotional 

salary scale. 

D4 What demographic assumptions were used?  

Demographic assumptions are best estimates of future experience. The fund uses advice from Club Vita to set 

demographic assumptions, as well as analysis and judgement based on the fund’s experience.   

Demographic assumptions vary by type of member, so each employer’s own membership profile is reflected in 

their results.  

Life expectancy 

The longevity assumptions are a bespoke set of VitaCurves produced by detailed analysis and tailored to fit the 

fund’s membership profile.    

Allowance has been made for future improvements to mortality, in line with the 2021 version of the continuous 

mortality investigation (CMI) published by the actuarial profession. The starting point has been adjusted by 

+0.25% to reflect the difference between the population-wide data used in the CMI and LGPS membership. A 

long-term rate of improvement has been applied, with a 1.5% pa minimum underpin to future improvements in 

mortality.  

The smoothing parameter used in the CMI model is 7.0. There is little evidence currently available on the long-

term effect of Covid-19 on life expectancies. To avoid an undue impact from recently mortality experience on 

long-term assumptions, no weighting has been placed on data from 2020 and 2021 in the CMI.  

Other demographic 
assumptions 

 

Retirement in normal health Members are assumed to retire at the earliest age possible with no 
pension reduction.  

Promotional salary increases Sample increases below 

Death in service Sample rates below 

Withdrawals Sample rates below 

Retirement in ill health Sample rates below 

Page 227



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

Family details A varying proportion of members are assumed to have a dependant 
partner at retirement or on earlier death. For example, at age 60 this is 
assumed to be 90% for males and 85% for females. Males are assumed 
to be 3 years older than females, and partner dependants are assumed to 
be opposite sex to members.  

Commutation 50% of maximum tax-free cash  

50:50 option 0% of members will choose the 50:50 option. 

 

D3 Rates for demographic assumptions 
Males 

Incidence per 1000 active members per year  

Age Salary scale Death before 

retirement 

Withdrawals Ill-health tier 1 Ill-health tier 2 

  FT &PT FT PT FT PT FT PT 

20 105 0.17 404.31 934.96 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

25 117 0.17 267.06 617.58 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

30 131 0.20 189.49 438.12 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

35 144 0.24 148.05 342.27 0.10 0.07 0.02 0.01 

40 150 0.41 119.20 275.48 0.16 0.12 0.03 0.02 

45 157 0.68 111.96 258.70 0.35 0.27 0.07 0.05 

50 162 1.09 92.29 213.01 0.90 0.68 0.23 0.17 

55 162 1.70 72.68 167.83 3.54 2.65 0.51 0.38 

60 162 3.06 64.78 149.52 6.23 4.67 0.44 0.33 

65 162 5.10 0.00 0.00 11.83 8.87 0.00 0.00 

 

Females 

Incidence per 1000 active members per year 

Age Salary scale Death before 

retirement 

Withdrawals Ill-health tier 1 Ill-health tier 2 

  FT &PT FT PT FT PT FT PT 

20 105 0.10 317.18 397.27 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

25 117 0.10 213.42 267.27 0.10 0.07 0.02 0.01 

30 131 0.14 178.90 224.01 0.13 0.10 0.03 0.02 

35 144 0.24 154.41 193.27 0.26 0.19 0.05 0.04 

40 150 0.38 128.51 160.80 0.39 0.29 0.08 0.06 

45 157 0.62 119.93 150.03 0.52 0.39 0.10 0.08 

50 162 0.90 101.11 126.35 0.97 0.73 0.24 0.18 

55 162 1.19 75.44 94.38 3.59 2.69 0.52 0.39 

60 162 1.52 60.80 75.96 5.71 4.28 0.54 0.40 

65 162 1.95 0.00 0.00 10.26 7.69 0.00 0.00 

 

 

 

Page 228



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

February 2023  

\\SVRSHIR07\RES_SHIREHALL$\PENSIONS\PENSIONS FINANCE\08 PENSION COMMITTEE\2022-23\MARCH 2023\AGENDA ITEM 10 - 2022 
VALUATION REPORT AND FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT - APPENDIX 2 - FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT.DOCX 

 

 

D5 What assumptions apply in a cessation valuation following an employer’s exit from the fund?   

Low-risk exit basis   

Where there is no guarantor, the low-risk exit basis will apply.  

The financial and demographic assumptions underlying the low-risk exit basis are explained below:  

• For the purpose of calculating a funding level on the low-risk exit basis, a more prudent estimate of 

investment returns is calculated.  This is the level of investment returns that the fund is expected to 

achieve with a 90% likelihood for the 20 years following the valuation date.  

• The CPI assumption is based on the median value of CPI from Hymans Robertson’s ESS model.   

• Life expectancy assumptions are those used to set contribution rates, with one adjustment.  A higher 

long-term rate of mortality improvements of 1.75% pa is assumed.   

Contractor exit basis   

Where there is a guarantor (eg in the case of contractors where the local authority guarantees the contractor’s 

admission in the fund), the contractor exit basis will apply.  

The financial and demographic assumptions underlying the contractor exit basis are equal to those set for 

calculating contributions rates.  Specifically, the discount rate is set equal to the risk-free rate at the cessation 

date, plus a margin equal to that set to allocate assets to the employer on joining the fund.  

  

 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

DATE 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Policy on Prepayments 

Effective date of policy 

Date approved 

Next review 

1 Introduction 

The purpose of this policy is to set out the administering authority’s approach to the prepayment of regular 

contributions due by participating employers.  

It should be noted that this statement is not exhaustive and individual circumstances may be taken into 

consideration where appropriate. 

1.1 Aims and objectives 

The administering authority’s aims and objectives related to this policy are as follows: 

• To provide employers with clarity around the circumstances where prepayment of contributions will be

permitted.

• To outline the key principles followed when calculating prepayment amounts.

• To outline the approach taken to assess the suitability of a prepayment as sufficient to meet the required

contributions.

1.2 Background 

It is common practice in the LGPS for employers to pre-pay regular contributions that were otherwise due to be 

paid to the fund in future.  Employer contributions include the ‘Primary Rate’ – which is expressed as a 

percentage of payroll and reflects the employer’s share of the cost of future service benefits, and the ‘Secondary 

Rate’ – which can be expressed as a percentage of payroll or a monetary amount and is an additional 

contribution designed to ensure that the total contributions payable by the Employer meet the funding objective. 

On 22 March 2022, following a request from the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board, James Goudie QC provided an 

Opinion on the legal status of prepayments.  This Opinion found that the prepayment of employee and employer 

contributions was not illegal, subject to the basis for determining the prepayment amount being reasonable, 

proportionate and prudent. Further, the Opinion set out specific requirements around the presentation of 

prepayments. 

1.3 Guidance and regulatory framework 

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) set out the way in which LGPS funds 

should determine employer contributions and contain relevant provisions regarding the payment of these, 

including the following: 

• Regulation 67 – sets out the requirement for employers to pay contributions in line with the Rates and

Adjustments (R&A) certificate and specifies that primary contributions be expressed as a percentage of

pensionable pay of active members.

• Regulation 62 - sets the requirement for an administering authority to prepare an R&A certificate.

• Regulation 9 – outlines the contribution rates payable by active members

1 April 2023
2 March 2023
31 March 2026

Page 231

https://lgpsboard.org/images/Guidance/QCJGLGPS032022.pdf


 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

DATE 

2 Statement of principles 

This statement of principles covers the prepayment of regular employer contributions to the fund. Each case will 

be treated on its own merits, but in general: 

• The administering authority will permit the prepayment of secondary employer contributions.

• Prepaying contributions expressed as a percentage of pay introduces the risk that the prepayment

amount will be insufficient to meet the scheduled contribution (as a result of differences between

expected and actual payroll).  Prepaying contributions is therefore only permissible in the case of secure,

long-term employers (e.g. local authorities).

• The prepayment of primary contributions is not permitted.

• The prepayment of employee contributions is not permitted.

• A discount will be applied where secondary employer contributions are prepaid, to reflect the investment

return that is assumed to be generated by the fund over the period of prepayment.

• The fund actuary will determine the prepayment amount, which may require assumptions to be made

about payroll over the period which the scheduled contribution is due.

• Where contributions expressed as a percentage of pay have been prepaid, the administering authority will

carry out an annual check (and additional contributions may be required by the employer) to make sure

that the actual amounts paid are sufficient to meet the contribution requirements set out in the R&A

certificate.

• Prepayment agreements will be documented by way of correspondence between the administering

authority and the employer.

• The R&A certificate will be updated on an annual basis to reflect any prepayment agreements in place.

• Employers are responsible for ensuring that any prepayment agreement is treated appropriately when

accounting for pensions costs.

• Prepayment agreements can cover any annual period of the R&A (or a consecutive number of annual

periods).

3 Policy 

3.1 Eligibility and periods covered 

The fund welcomes requests from employers to pre-pay certified employer contributions. 

Employer contributions over the period of the existing R&A certificate (and, where a draft R&A certificate is 

being prepared following the triennial valuation, the draft R&A certificate) may be pre-paid by employers.   

Prepayment of contributions due after the end of the existing (or draft) R&A certificate is not permitted, i.e. it 

would not be possible to prepay employer contributions due in the 2026/27 year until the results of the 2025 

valuation are known and a draft R&A certificate covering the 2026 to 2029 period has been prepared. 

3.2 Request and timing  

Prior to making any prepayment, employers are required to inform the fund in writing of their wish to prepay 

employer contributions and to request details of the amount required by the fund to meet the scheduled future 

contribution. 

Page 232



 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

DATE 

This request should be received by the fund within 2 months of the start of the period for which the prepayment 

is in respect of. 

The fund will then provide the employer with a note of the prepayment amount and the date by which this should 

be paid. In general, the prepayment should be made prior to the beginning of the appropriate R&A period. 

Failure to pay the prepayment amount by the specified date may lead to the need for an additional and 

immediate payment from the employer to ensure that the amount paid is sufficient to meet the certified amount 

set out in the R&A certificate. 

3.3 Calculation 

The fund actuary will determine the prepayment amount required. 

Where the prepayment is in respect of contributions expressed as a percentage of pay: 

• The fund actuary will determine the discounted value of scheduled contributions based on an estimate

of payroll over the period (using the information available and assumptions set at the previous

valuation) and the discount rate set for the purpose of the previous actuarial valuation (as specified in

the previous actuarial valuation report).

• A sufficiency check will be required at the end of the period (see section 3.4)

Where the prepayment is in respect of contributions expressed as a monetary amount: 

• The fund actuary will determine the discounted value of scheduled contributions based on the discount

rate set for the purpose of the previous actuarial valuation (as specified in the previous actuarial

valuation report).

• No sufficiency check will be required

Employers may pay more than the prepayment amount determined by the fund actuary. 

No allowance for expected outsourcing of services and/or expected academy conversions will be made in the 

fund actuary’s estimation of payroll for the prepayment period. 

3.4 Sufficiency check  

Where required, the fund actuary will carry out an annual assessment to check that sufficient contributions have 

been prepaid in respect of that period.  Specifically, this will review the prepayment calculation based on actual 

payroll of active members over the period and this may lead to a top-up payment being required from the 

employer.   

If this sufficiency check reveals that the prepayment amount was higher than that which would have been 

required based on actual payroll (i.e. if actual payroll over the period is less than was assumed), this will not 

lead to a refund of contributions to the employer. 

The sufficiency check will not compare the assumed investment return (i.e. the discount rate) with actual returns 

generated over the period. i.e. the check considers payroll only. Any shortfall arising due to actual investment 

returns being lower than that assumed will form part of the regular contribution assessment at the next valuation 

(as per the normal course of events).  

The administering authority will notify the employer of any top-up amount payable following this annual 

sufficiency check and the date by which any top-up payment should be made.  

Page 233



 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

DATE 

3.5 Documentation and auditor approval 

The fund will provide the employer with a note of the information used to determine the prepayment amount, 

including: 

• Discount rate used in the calculations

• The estimate of payroll (where applicable)

• The effective date of the calculation (and the date by which payment should be made)

• The scheduled regular payments which the prepayment amount covers.

The prepayment agreement will be reflected in the R&A certificate as follows: 

• The unadjusted employer regular contribution rate payable over the period of the certificate

• As a note to the contribution rate table, information relating to the prepayment amount and the discount

applied, for each employer where a prepayment agreement exists.

The R&A certificate will be updated on an annual basis to reflect any prepayment agreements in place. 

Employers should discuss the prepayment agreement with their auditor prior to making payment and agree the 

accounting treatment of this.  The fund will not accept any responsibility for the accounting implications of any 

prepayment agreement.  

3.6 Costs 

Employers entering into a prepayment agreement will be required to meet the cost of this, which includes (but is 

not limited to) the actuarial fees incurred by the administering authority. 

3.7 Risks 

Employers enter into prepayment agreements on the expectation that the fund will be able to generate higher 

returns than they can over the prepayment period.  Employers should be aware that future returns are not 

guaranteed, and it is possible that the returns generated on prepayment amounts may generate a lower return 

than that which can be generated by the employer.  It is also possible that negative returns will lead to the value 

of any prepayment being less than that which was scheduled to be paid.  In such circumstances, a top-up 

payment would not be required (as the sufficiency check only considers the effect of actual payroll being 

different to that assumed in the prepayment calculation), however the employer’s asset share would be lower 

than it would have been if contributions were paid as scheduled.  This would be considered by the fund actuary 

at the next triennial valuation (as per the normal course of events). 

4 Related Policies 

The fund’s approach to setting regular employer contribution rates is set out in the Funding Strategy Statement, 

specifically “Section 2 – How does the fund calculate employer contributions?”. 

Page 234



 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

DATE 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Contribution reviews policy 

Effective date of policy 

Date approved 

Next review 

1 Introduction 

The purpose of this policy is to set out the administering authority’s approach to reviewing contribution rates 

between triennial valuations.  

It should be noted that this statement is not exhaustive and individual circumstances may be taken into 

consideration where appropriate. 

1.1 Aims and objectives 

The administering authority’s aims and objectives related to this policy are as follows: 

• To provide employers with clarity around the circumstances where contribution rates may be reviewed

between valuations.

• To outline specific circumstances where contribution rates will not be reviewed.

1.2 Background 

The Fund may amend contribution rates between valuations for ‘significant change’ to the liabilities or covenant 

of an employer.  

Such reviews may be instigated by the fund or at the request of a participating employer. 

Any review may require increased contributions from the employer. 

1.3 Guidance and regulatory framework 

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) set out the way in which LGPS Funds 

should determine employer contributions, including the following; 

• Regulation 64 (4) – allows the administrating authority to review the contribution rate if it becomes likely

that an employer will cease participation in the fund, with a view to ensuring that the employer is fully

funded at the expected exit date.

• Regulation 64A - sets out specific circumstances where the administering authority may revise

contributions between valuations.

2 Statement of principles 

This Statement of Principles covers review of contributions between valuations. Each case will be treated on its 

own merits, but in general: 

• The administering authority reserve the right to review contributions in line with the provisions set out in

the LGPS Regulations.

• Employers will be consulted during the review period.

1 April 2023
2 March 2023
31 March 2026

Page 235



Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

DATE 

• Full justification for any change in contributions rates will be provided to employers.

• Advice will be taken from the fund actuary in respect of any review of contribution rates.

• Any revision to contribution rates will be reflected in the Rates & Adjustment certificate.

3 Policy 

3.1 Circumstances for review 

The Fund would consider the following circumstances as a potential trigger for review: 

• in the opinion of an administering authority there are circumstances which make it likely that an

employer (including an admission body) will become an exiting employer sooner than anticipated at the

last valuation;

• an employer is approaching exit from the scheme within the next two years and before completion of

the next valuation;

• there are changes to the benefit structure set out in the LGPS Regulations which have not been allowed

for at the last valuation;

• it appears likely to the administering authority that the amount of the liabilities arising or likely to arise for

an employer or employers has changed significantly since the last valuation;

• it appears likely to the administering authority that there has been a significant change in the ability of

an employer or employers to meet their obligations (ie a material change in employer covenant);

• it appears to the administering authority that the membership of the employer has changed materially

such as bulk transfers, significant reductions to payroll or large-scale restructuring; or

• where an employer has failed to pay contributions or has not arranged appropriate security as required

by the administering authority.

3.2 Employer requests 

The administering authority will also consider a request from any employer to review contributions where the 

employer has undertaken to meet the costs of that review and sets out the reasoning for the review (which 

would be expected to fall into one of the above categories, such as a belief that their covenant has changed 

materially or they are going through a significant restructuring impacting their membership). 

3.3 Effect of market volatility  

Except in circumstances such as an employer nearing cessation, the administering authority will not consider 

market volatility or changes to asset values as a basis for a change in contributions outside a formal valuation. 

3.4 Documentation 

Where revisions to contribution rates are necessary, the fund will provide the employer with a note of the 

information used to determine these, including: 

• Explanation of the key factors leading to the need for a review of the contribution rates, including, if

appropriate, the updated funding position.

• A note of the new contribution rates and effective date of these

• Date of next review

Page 236

http://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php#s1adau


Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

DATE 

The Rates & Adjustments certificate will be updated to reflect the revised contribution rates. 

4 Related Policies 

The fund’s approach to setting employer contribution rates is set out in the Funding Strategy Statement, 

specifically “Section 2 – How does the fund calculate employer contributions?”.

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

Cessation policy 

Effective date of policy 

Date approved 

Next review 

1 Introduction 

The purpose of this policy is to set out the administering authority’s approach to dealing with circumstances 

where a scheme employer leaves the fund and becomes an exiting employer (a cessation event). 

It should be noted that this policy is not exhaustive. Each cessation will be treated on a case-by-case basis, 

however certain principles will apply as governed by the regulatory framework (see below) and the fund’s 

discretionary policies (as described under Policies) 

This policy is one of the fund’s policies that, together with the fund’s Funding Strategy Statement (FSS), set out 

how the administering authority will run the fund. 

1.1 Aims and Objectives 

The Administering Authority’s aims and objectives related to this policy are as follows: 

• To confirm the approach for the treatment and valuation of liabilities for employers leaving the Fund.

• To provide information about how the Fund may apply its discretionary powers when managing employer

cessations.

• To outline the responsibilities of (and flexibilities for) exiting employers, the administering authority, the

actuary and, where relevant, the original ceding scheme employer (usually a Letting Authority).

1.2 Background 

As described in Section 6 of the FSS, a scheme employer may become an exiting employer when a cessation 

event is triggered e.g. when the last active member stops participating in the Fund.  On cessation from the 

Fund, the Administering Authority will instruct the Actuary to carry out a valuation of assets and liabilities for the 

Exiting Employer to determine whether a deficit or surplus exists. The Fund has full discretion over the 

repayment terms of any deficit, and the extent to which any surplus results in the payment of an exit credit. 

1.3 Guidance and regulatory framework  

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) contain relevant provisions regarding 

employers leaving the Fund (Regulation 64) and include the following: 

• Regulation 64 (1) – this regulation states that, where an employing authority ceases to be a Scheme

Employer, the Administering Authority is required to obtain an actuarial valuation of the liabilities of current

and former employees as at the termination date.  Further, it requires the Rates and Adjustments Certificate

to be amended to show the revised contributions due from the Exiting Employer

• Regulation 64 (2) – where an employing authority ceases to be a Scheme Employer, the Administering

Authority is required to obtain an actuarial valuation of the liabilities of current and former employees as at

1 April 2023
2 March 2023
31 March 2026

Page 239

https://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php#r64


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

the Exit Date.  Further, it requires the Rates and Adjustments Certificate to be amended to show the Exit 

Payment due from the Exiting Employer or the excess of assets over the liabilities in the Fund.  

 

• Regulation 64 (2ZAB) – the Administering Authority must determine the amount of an Exit Credit, which may 

be zero, taking into account the factors specified in paragraph (2ZC) and must:  

a) Notify its intention to make a determination to- 

(i) The Exiting Employer and any other body that has provided a guarantee to the Exiting Employer 

(ii) The Scheme Employer, where the Exiting Employer is a body that participated in the Scheme as 

a result of an admission agreement  

b) Pay the amount determined to that Exiting Employer within six months of the Exit Date, or such longer 

time as the Administering Authority and the Exiting Employer agree. 

 

• Regulation (2ZC) – In exercising its discretion to determine the amount of any Exit Credit, the Administering 

Authority must have regard to the following factors- 

a) The extent to which there is an excess of assets in the fund relating to that employer in paragraph 

(2)(a) 

b) The proportion of this excess of assets which has arisen because of the value of the employer’s 

contributions 

c) Any representations to the Administering Authority made by the Exiting Employer and, where that 

employer participates in the scheme by virtue of an admission agreement, any body listed in 

paragraphs (8)(a) to (d)(iii) of Part 3 to Schedule 2 of the Regulations: and 

d) Any other relevant factors 

 

• Regulation 64 (2A) & (2B)– the Administering Authority, at its discretion, may issue a suspension notice to 

suspend payment of an exit amount for up to three years, where it reasonably believes the Exiting Employer 

is to have one or more active members contributing to the Fund within the period specified in the suspension 

notice. 

 

• Regulation 64 (3) – in instances where it is not possible to obtain additional contributions from the employer 

leaving the Fund or from the bond/indemnity or guarantor, the contribution rate(s) for the appropriate Scheme 

Employer or remaining Fund employers may be amended.  

 

• Regulation 64 (4) – where it is believed a Scheme Employer may cease at some point in the future, the 

Administering Authority may obtain a certificate from the Fund actuary revising the contributions for that 

employer, with a view to ensuring that the assets are expected to be broadly equivalent to the Exit Payment 

that will be due. 

 

• Regulation 64 (5) – following the payment of an Exit Payment to the Fund, no further payments are due to the 

Fund from the Exiting Employer.  

 

• Regulation 64 (7A-7G) – the Administering Authority may enter into a written Deferred Debt Agreement, 

allowing the employer to have Deferred Employer status and to delay crystallisation of debt despite having 

no active members. 

 

• Regulation 64B (1) – the Administering Authority may set out a policy on spreading Exit Payments. 

 

In addition to the 2013 Regulations summarised above, Regulation 25A of the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 (“the Transitional Regulations”) give the 

Fund the ability to levy a cessation debt on employers who have ceased participation in the Fund (under the 

Page 240

https://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/tpregs2014/timeline.php#r25A


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

previous regulations) but for whom a cessation valuation was not carried out at the time. This policy document 

describes how the Fund expects to deal with any such cases. 

This policy also reflects statutory guidance from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 

preparing and maintaining policies relating to employer exits. Interested parties may want to refer to an 

accompanying guide that has been produced by the Scheme Advisory Board. 

   

These regulations relate to all employers in the Fund.        

2 Statement of principles  

This statement of principles covers the fund’s approach to exiting employers.  Each case will be treated on its 

own merits but in general: 

• it is the fund’s policy that the determination of any surplus or deficit on exit should aim to minimise, as far as 

is practicable, the risk that the remaining, unconnected employers in the Fund have to make contributions in 

future towards meeting the past service liabilities of current and former employees of employers leaving the 

fund;  

• the fund’s preferred approach is to request the full payment of any exit debt (an exit payment), which is 

calculated by the actuary on the appropriate basis (as per Section 5 of the FSS and Section 3.1 below).  

This would extinguish any liability to the fund by the exiting employer; 

• the fund’s key objective is to protect the interests of the fund, which is aligned to protecting the interests of 

the remaining employers. A secondary objective is to consider the circumstances of the exiting employer in 

determining arrangements for the recovery of the exit debt. 

  

Page 241

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-changes-to-the-local-valuation-cycle-and-management-of-employer-risk/outcome/guidance-on-preparing-and-maintaining-policies-on-review-of-employer-contributions-employer-exit-payments-and-deferred-debt-agreements
https://lgpsboard.org/index.php/empflexm


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

3 Policies 

On cessation, the administering authority will instruct the Fund actuary to carry out a cessation valuation to 

determine whether there is any deficit or surplus as defined in section 4.3 of the FSS. 

Where there is a deficit, payment of this amount in full would normally be sought from the exiting employer.   

The fund’s normal policy is that this cessation debt is paid in full in a single lump sum within 28 days of the 

employer being notified.   

However, the fund will consider written requests from employers to spread the payment over an agreed period, 

in the exceptional circumstance where payment of the debt in a single immediate lump sum could be shown by 

the employer to be materially detrimental to the employer’s financial situation (see 3.2 Repayment flexibility on 

exit payments below). 

In circumstances where there is a surplus, the administering authority will determine, at its sole discretion, the 

amount of exit credit (if any) to be paid to the exiting employer (see 3.3 Exit credits below).   

3.1 Approach to cessation calculations  

Cessation valuations are carried out on a case-by-case basis at the sole discretion of the fund depending on the 

exiting employer’s circumstances.  However, in general the following broad principles and assumptions may 

apply, as described in section 6.2 of the FSS and summarised below: 

Type of employer Cessation exit basis  
Responsible parties for unpaid or 
future deficit emerging 

Local Authorities Low risk basis1 Shared between other fund 

employers  

Colleges & Universities  Low risk basis Shared between other fund 

employers 

Academies Low risk basis DfE guarantee may apply, otherwise 

see 3.2 below  

Admission bodies (TABs) Ongoing basis / contractor exit basis2 Letting authority (where applicable), 

otherwise shared between other fund 

employers 

Admission bodies (CABs) Low risk basis Shared between other fund 

employers (if no guarantor exists) 

Designating employers  Ongoing basis Shared between other pooled 

employers  

1Cessation is assumed not to be generally possible, as scheduled bodies are legally obliged to participate in the LGPS.  In 

the rare event of cessation occurring (e.g. machinery of government changes), these cessation principles would apply.  

2Where a TAB has taken, in the view of the administering authority, action that has been deliberately designed to bring about 

a cessation event (e.g. stopping future accrual of LGPS benefits), then the cessation valuation will be carried out on a low-

risk basis. In other circumstances, the cessation valuation will be carried out using the same basis as was used to determine 

the initial asset value on joining the fund. 

 

Page 242



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

3.2 Cessation of academies and multi-academy trusts (MATs) 

A cessation event will occur if a current academy or MATs cease to exist as an entity or an employer in the 

Fund.  

The cessation treatment will depend on the circumstances: 

• On cessation of an academy, the MAT would be expected to retain responsibility for any active, deferred 

and pensioner liabilities in the first instance.  Otherwise a cessation payment will be sought.  

• On cessation of a MAT if all participating schools are moving to a new MAT/MATs, the assets and 

liabilities of the participating schools will also transfer and become the responsibility of the receiving 

MAT/MATs. 

• In the event that an academy school or MAT has no remaining active members, a cessation payment will 

be sought   

• In all other circumstances, and following payment of any cessation debt, section 6.5 of the FSS would 

apply.  

3.3 Repayment flexibility on exit payments 

Deferred spreading arrangement (DSA) 

The Fund will consider written requests from employers to spread an exit payment over an agreed period, in the 

exceptional circumstance where payment of the debt in a single immediate lump sum could be shown by the 

employer to be materially detrimental to the employer’s financial situation. 

In this exceptional case, the Fund’s policy is: 

• The agreed spread period is no more than ten years, but the Fund may use its discretion to extend this 

period in extreme circumstances. 

• Payments due under the DSA may be subject to an interest charge. 

• The Fund will only consider written requests within six months of the employer exiting the Fund. The exiting 

employer would be required to provide the Fund with detailed financial information to support its request. 

• The Fund would take into account the amount of any security offered and seek actuarial and legal advice in 

all cases. 

• The Fund proposes a legal document, setting out the terms of the exit payment agreement, would be 

prepared by the Fund and signed by all relevant parties prior to the payment agreement commencing. 

• Any breach of the agreed payment plan would require payment of the outstanding cessation amount 

immediately. 

• All cases will be taken to pensions committee for consideration and each case will be considered on its 

individual merit. Decisions may be made by the chair in consultation with officers if an urgent decision is 

required between committee meetings. 

Deferred debt agreement (DDA) 

The Fund’s preferred policy is for the spreading of payments, as detailed above, to be followed in the 

exceptional circumstances where an exiting employer is unable to pay the required cessation payment as a 

lump sum in full.  However, in the event that spreading of payments will create a high risk of bankruptcy for the 

exiting employer, the Fund may use it exercise its discretion to set up a deferred debt agreement as described 

in Regulation 64 (7A)).   

Page 243

https://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php#r64


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

If the fund decides to set up a deferred debt agreement then:-  

• The fund will require a legal document, signed by all relevant parties, detailing the terms of the deferred 

debt agreement .  The terms of the deferred debt agreement will be expected to include: 

o The term of the DDA: This will be no more than ten years, but the Fund may use its discretion to 

extent this period in extreme circumstances 

o The frequency and circumstances that will lead to the funding position of the exiting employer being 

re-assessed. There is an expectation that the funding position will be assessed no less than once 

between formal valuations 

o The approach to setting secondary contributions payable throughout the term of the DDA. There is 

an expectation that the secondary contributions will be no less than those in payment prior to the 

employer exit.  

• The exiting employer will be required to offer the Fund some sort of security e.g. a bond over the term of the 

deferred debt agreement in the event the employer becomes insolvent during the term of the agreement. 

•  If the financial position of the employer improves significantly, the Fund reserves the right to end the agreed 

deferred debt agreement and put in place an agreement to repay the outstanding cessation amount over an 

agreed repayment period.  Further details of the fund’s policy on spreading deficit payments are set out 

above. 

All deferred debt agreement cases will be taken to pensions committee for consideration and each case will be 

considered on its individual merit. Decisions may be made by the chair and vice chair in consultation with fund’s 

section 151 officer if an urgent decision is required between committee meetings. 

 

3.4 Exit credits 

The administering authority’s entitlement to determine whether exit credits are payable in accordance with these 

provisions shall apply to all employers ceasing their participation in the Fund after 14 May 2018.  This provision 

therefore is retrospectively effective to the same extent as provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Amendment) Regulations 2020.   

The administering authority may determine the amount of exit credit payable to be zero, however, in making a 

determination, the Administering Authority will take into account the following factors;  

a) the extent to which there is an excess of assets in the Fund relating to the employer over and above the 

liabilities specified; 

b) the proportion of the excess of assets which has arisen because of the value of the employer’s 

contributions; 

c) any representations to the Administering Authority made by the exiting employer, guarantor, ceding Scheme 

Employer (usually the Letting Authority) or by a body which owns, funds or controls the exiting employer; or 

in some cases, the Secretary of State; and  

d) any other relevant factors  

Admitted bodies 

Page 244

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/179/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/179/made


 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

a) No exit credit will be payable in respect of admissions who joined the fund before 14 May 2018 unless it is 

subject to a risk sharing arrangement as per paragraph c) below.  Prior to this date, the payment of an exit 

credit was not permitted under the Regulations and this will have been reflected in the commercial terms 

agreed between the admission body and the letting authority/awarding authority/ceding employer. This will 

also apply to any pre-14 May 2018 admission which has been extended or ‘rolled over’ beyond the initial 

expiry date and on the same terms that applied on joining the fund. 

b) No exit credit will be payable to any admission body who participates in the fund via a pass through 

arrangement.   

c) The fund will make an exit credit payment in line with any contractual or risk sharing agreements which 

specifically covers the ownership of exit credits/cessation surpluses or if the admission body and letting 

authority have agreed any alternative approach (which is consistent with the Regulations and any other 

legal obligations).  This information, which will include which party is responsible for which funding risk, must 

be presented to the Fund in a clear and unambiguous document with the agreement of both the admission 

body and the letting authority/awarding authority/ceding employer and within one month (or such longer 

time as may be agreed with the administering authority) of the admission body ceasing participation in the 

Fund. 

d) In the absence of this information or if there is any dispute from either party with regards interpretation of 

contractual or risk sharing agreements as outlined in c), the Fund will withhold payment of the exit credit 

until such disputes are resolved and the information is provided to the administering authority. 

e) Where a guarantor arrangement is in place, but no formal risk-sharing arrangement exists, the Fund will 

consider how the approach to setting contribution rates payable by the admission body during its 

participation in the Fund reflects which party is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the 

determination of the value of any exit credit payment.   

f) If the admission agreement ends early, the fund will consider the reason for the early termination, and 

whether that should have any relevance on the fund’s determination of the value of any exit credit payment.  

In these cases, the Fund will consider the differential between employers’ contributions paid (including 

investment returns earned on these monies) and the size of any cessation surplus. 

g) If an admitted body leaves on a low-risk cessation basis (because no guarantor is in place), then any exit 

credit will normally be paid in full to the employer. 

h) The decision of the Fund is final in interpreting how any arrangement described under c), e), f) and g) 

applies to the value of an exit credit payment. 

Scheduled bodies and designating bodies 

a) Employers within the town and parish councils pool will not receive an exit credit on leaving the fund. 

b) Where a guarantor arrangement is in place, but no formal risk-sharing arrangement exists, the fund will 

consider how the approach to setting contribution rates payable by the employer during its participation in 

the fund reflects which party is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the determination of 

the value of any exit credit payment. 

c) Where no formal guarantor or risk-sharing arrangement exists, the fund will consider how the approach to 

setting contribution rates payable by the employer during its participation in the fund reflects the extent to 

which it is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the determination of the value of any exit 

credit payment. 

Page 245



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

d) The decision of the fund is final in interpreting how any arrangement described under b) and c) applies to 

the value of an exit credit payment. 

e) If a scheduled body or designating body becomes an exiting employer due to a reorganisation, merger or 

take-over, then no exit credit will be paid. 

f) If a scheduled body or resolution body leaves on a low-risk cessation basis (because no guarantor is in 

place), then any exit credit will normally be paid in full to the employer. 

General 

a) The Fund will advise the exiting employer as well as the letting authority and/or other relevant scheme 

employers of its decision to make an exit credit determination under Regulation 64. 

b) Subject to any risk sharing or other arrangements and factors discussed above, when determining the 

cessation funding position the Fund will generally make an assessment based on the value of contributions 

paid by the employer during their participation, the assets allocated when they joined the Fund and the 

respective investment returns earned on both. 

c) The fund will also factor in if any contributions due or monies owed to the Fund remain unpaid by the 

employer at the cessation date.  If this is the case, the Fund’s default position will be to deduct these from 

any exit credit payment. 

d) The final decision will be made by Head of Pensions in conjunction with advice from the fund’s actuary 

and/or legal advisors where necessary, in consideration of the points held within this policy. 

e) The fund accepts that there may be some situations that are bespoke in nature and do not fall into any of 

the categories above. In these situations the Fund will discuss its approach to determining an exit credit with 

all affected parties.  The decision of the Fund in these instances is final. 

f) Where there is an exit credit payable, the Fund will advise the exiting employer of the amount due to be 

repaid and seek to make the payment within six months of the exit date or such longer time as the 

administering authority and the exiting employer may agree. In order to meet the six-month timeframe, the 

Fund requires prompt notification of an employer’s exit and all data and relevant information as requested. 

The Fund is unable to make any exit credit payment until it has received all data and information requested.  

g) The guidelines above at point e) in the ‘Admitted Bodies’ section, and at points b) and c) in the ‘Scheduled 

bodies and designating bodies’ section, make reference to the fund ‘considering the approach to setting 

contribution rates during the employer’s participation’. The different funding approaches, including the 

parameters used and how these can vary based on employer type, are covered in detail in Table 1 (section 

2.1) in the FSS. Considering the approach taken when setting contribution rates of the exiting employer may 

help the Fund to understand the extent to which the employer is responsible for funding the underlying 

liabilities on exit. For example, if contribution rates have always been based on ongoing assumptions then 

this may suggest that these are also appropriate assumptions for exit credit purposes (subject to the other 

considerations outlined within this policy). Equally, a shorter than usual funding time horizon or lower than 

usual probability of success parameter may reflect underlying commercial terms about how responsibility for 

pension risks is split between the employer and its guarantor. For the avoidance of doubt, each exiting 

employer will be considered in the round alongside the other factors mentioned above. 

Disputes  

Page 246



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

In the event of any dispute or disagreement on the amount of any exit credit paid and the process by which that 

has been considered, the appeals and adjudication provisions contained in Regulations 74-78 of the LGPS 

Regulations 2013 would apply. 

  

Page 247



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

4 Practicalities and process 

4.1 Responsibilities of ceasing employers 

An employer which is aware that its participation in the fund is likely to come to an end must: 

• advise the fund, in writing, of the likely ending of its participation (either within the terms of the admission 

agreement in respect of an admission body (typically a 3 month notice period is required) or otherwise as 

required by the regulations for all other scheme employers).  It should be noted that this includes closed 

employers where the last employee member is leaving (whether due to retirement, death or otherwise 

leaving employment). 

• provide any relevant information on the reason for leaving the fund and, where appropriate, contact 

information in the case of a take-over, merger or insolvency. 

• provide all other information and data requirements as requested by the administering authority which are 

relevant, including in particular any changes to the membership which could affect the liabilities (e.g. salary 

increases and early retirements) and an indication of what will happen to current employee members on 

cessation (e.g. will they transfer to another fund employer, will they cease to accrue benefits within the 

Fund, etc.). 

4.2 Responsibilities of Administering Authority 

The Administering Authority will: 

• gather information as required, including, but not limited to, the following: 

- details of the cessation - the reason the employer is leaving the Fund (i.e. end of contract, 

insolvency, merger, machinery of government changes, etc.) and any supporting documentation 

that may have an effect on the cessation. 

- complete membership data for the outgoing employer and identify changes since the previous 

formal valuation. 

- the likely outcome for any remaining employee members (e.g. will they be transferred to a new 

employer, or will they cease to accrue liabilities in the Fund). 

• identify the party that will be responsible for the employer’s deficit on cessation (i.e. the employer itself, an 

insurance company, a receiver, another Fund employer, guarantor, etc.). 

• commission the Fund actuary to carry out a cessation valuation under the appropriate regulation. 

• where applicable, discuss with the employer the possibility of paying adjusted contribution rates that target a 

100% funding level by the date of cessation through increased contributions in the case of a deficit on the 

cessation basis or reduced contributions in respect of a surplus. 

• where applicable, liaise with the original ceding employer or guarantor and ensure it is aware of its 

responsibilities, in particular for any residual liabilities or risk associated with the outgoing employer’s 

membership. 

• having taken actuarial advice, notify the employer and other relevant parties in writing of the payment 

required in respect of any deficit on cessation and pursue payment. 

Payment of an exit credit 

Page 248



 

 Gloucestershire Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

• If the actuary determines that there is an excess of assets over the liabilities at the cessation date, the 

administering authority will act in accordance with section 3.3 above.  If payment is required, the 

Administering Authority will advise the exiting employer of the amount due to be repaid and seek to make 

payment within six months of the exit date. However, in order to meet the six month timeframe, the 

administering authority requires prompt notification of an employers’ exit and all data requested to be 

provided in a timely manner. The administering authority is unable to make any exit credit payment until it 

has received all data requested. 

• At the time this policy was produced, the Fund has been informed by HMRC that Exit Credits are not subject 

to tax, however all exiting employers must seek their own advice on the tax and accounting treatment of any 

Exit Credit.  

 

4.3 Responsibilities of the Actuary 

Following commission of a cessation valuation by the Administering Authority, the Fund Actuary will:  

• calculate the surplus or deficit attributable to the outgoing employer on an appropriate basis, taking into 

account the principles set out in this policy. 

• provide actuarial advice to the Administering Authority on how any cessation deficit should be recovered, 

giving consideration to the circumstances of the employer and any information collected to date in respect to 

the cessation.  

• where appropriate, advise on the implications of the employer leaving on the remaining Fund employers, 

including any residual effects to be considered as part of triennial valuations.    

5 Related Policies 

The fund’s Funding Strategy Statement should be read in conjunction with this document.  In particular, exiting 

employers should familiarise themselves with: 

• Section 6: What happens when an employer leaves the Fund?  

• Appendix D – Actuarial assumptions (specifically section D5) 

 

 

 

 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 251

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 261

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 267

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 279

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 285

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Pension Committee Minutes
	6 Pension Board Minutes
	7 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Quarterly Update - Part 1
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 1 - Summary Investment Performance
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 2 - Strategic Asset Allocation
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 3 - Brunel Performance Report
	Summary
	Pension Fund performance
	Asset summary

	Overview of assets
	Strategic asset allocation
	Performance attribution
	Responsible investment
	Risk and return summary
	Brunel portfolio performance - 3 year
	Legacy manager performance - 3 year

	Portfolio overview
	Legacy assets

	CIO commentary
	Portfolios
	Listed markets
	Global High Alpha Equities
	Global Sustainable Equities
	UK Active Equities
	Emerging Markets Equities
	Diversifying Returns Fund
	Multi-Asset Credit
	Sterling Corporate Bonds
	PAB Passive Global Equities
	Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

	Private markets
	Private Equity Cycle 1
	Private Equity Cycle 2
	Private Equity Cycle 3
	Private Debt Cycle 2
	Private Debt Cycle 3
	Infrastructure Cycle 1
	Infrastructure (General) Cycle 2
	Infrastructure (Renewables) Cycle 2
	Infrastructure Cycle 3

	Property
	UK Property
	International Property


	Glossary

	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 4 - Independent Advisor Report
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 5 - Pensions Admin Summary
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 6 - Business Plan
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 7 - Governance Review Work Plan
	Agenda Item 7 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 8 - NKA

	8 Risk Register
	Agenda Item 8 - Risk Register - Appendix 1 - Assessment Key
	Agenda Item 8 - Risk Register - Appendix 2 - Risk Register

	9 Business Plan 2023/24
	Agenda Item 9 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Business Plan 2023-24 - Appendix 1

	10 2022 Valuation Report and Funding Strategy Statement
	Agenda Item 10 - 2022 Valuation Report and Funding Strategy Statement - Appendix 1 - 2022 Final Valuation Report
	Agenda Item 10 - 2022 Valuation Report and Funding Strategy Statement - Appendix 2 - Funding Strategy Statement
	Agenda Item 10 - 2022 Valuation Report and Funding Strategy Statement - Appendix 3 - Pre Payment Policy
	Agenda Item 10 - 2022 Valuation Report and Funding Strategy Statement - Appendix 4 - Contribution Reviews Policy
	Agenda Item 10 - 2022 Valuation Report and Funding Strategy Statement - Appendix 5 - Cessation Policy

	12 Exempt Pension Committee Minutes
	13 Exempt Pension Board Minutes
	14 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Quarterly Update - Part 2
	Agenda Item 14 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 2 - Appendix 1 - Responsible Investment
	Agenda Item 14 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 2 - Appendix 2 - Social Affordable Housing Portfolio Specification




